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GROUP PROFILE

About Fountain Set (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Fountain Set Group”) (Stock Code:
00420.HK)

One of the world’s largest and long-established fabric manufacturers, the Fountain Set Group produces knitted fabric and garments
through vertically integrated operations in fabric knitting, dyeing, printing, finishing and garment manufacturing, for many of the
renowned apparel retailers and brands.

As a strong believer of research and development, we collaborate with brands and suppliers to develop innovative and creative fabric
and garment products to consumers all over the world. Headquartered in Hong Kong and listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Fountain Set Group has 8 production facilities in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”),
Sri Lanka and Indonesia, with marketing and representative offices in 3 countries and a global staff force of close to 5,500 strong.

Mr. HA Chung Fong, founder and honorary chairman of the Company remains one of the substantial shareholders of the Company.

To learn more about Fountain Set (Holdings) Limited, please visit www.fshl.com
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
~EER

HONORARY CHAIRMAN
Mr. HA Chung Fong

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. LIU Xianfu (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Dr. LI Gang

Mr. YAU Hang Tat Andrew

Mr. YIN Jian (appointed on 1 September 2024)

Mr. ZHANG Zheng

Ms. ZHAO Jianli (resigned on 1 September 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Dr. YEN Gordon (Non-executive Vice Chairman)
Ms. ZHOU Jing (appointed on 1 April 2025)
Mr. TAO Yongming (resigned on 1 April 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. NG Kwok Tung
Mr. YING Wei

Mr. William LAM

Mr. WONG Kwong Chi

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. CHENG Wai Han Charmaine

REGISTERED OFFICE & PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Block A, 6/F., Eastern Sea Industrial Building
29-39 Kwai Cheong Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.fshl.com

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited

CTBC Bank Co., Ltd.

China Construction Bank

SOLICITORS

Loong & Yeung

Vivien Chan & Co.
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
SHARE REGISTRAR

Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited
Room 2103B, 21/F., 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong
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EXTENSIVE WORLDWIDE NETWORK
SRR IREKHEAR

YANCHENG 15

SHANGHAI L
SHENZHEN %1l
HONG KONG &i#
MACAO ;%P9

HO CHI MINH CITY #8788

JAKARTA ERhNiE 3
@ HEADQUARTERS 4228 v
@ PRODUCTION FACILITY 42

y @ TRADING OFFICE {5

» )‘ . !

HEADQUARTERs « @ 2 D)

HONG KONG & # CHINA F[E MACAO ;%P9

F9in St (OldiS) Limited Sales of Dyed Fabrics B i & Raw Materials Sourcing &% &
Shenzhen Faun Textiles Limited Prosperlink (Macao Commercial Offshore) Limited
FENBHGHBDERRT % CRPIBE R ERT) BRAR
Shanghai Fuhui Textiles Trading Co., Ltd.

PRODUCTION FACILITY « £ERM) +semsasssRis HO CHI MINH CITY $Z 8%

Fountain Set Limited

CHINA & - Vietham Representative Office

Knitting & Dyeing $t 4%k & HONG KONG &3 ?&ﬂﬂﬂ g‘%%;ﬁ%ﬁ’&ﬁ

Jiangyin Fuhui Textiles Limited Raw Materials Sourcing FH¥ &

IR REGBERAT Highscene Limited

Yancheng Fuhui Textiles Limited ERARAT

BE =1 “hé L INT "

BRRENARRAR ) Sales of Dyed Fabrics 27N &

Knitting, Dyeing & Printing &4 + &R ENTE Fountain Set Limited

Dongguan Shatin Lake Side Textiles EHEXERAT

Printing & Dyeing Co., Ltd. "

HE S BEAERAT Sales of Garments F{ T} EH &

i Hiway Textiles Limited

Garment Manufacturing 2 7% SR EERAD

Ningbo Young Top Garments Co., Ltd.

ERBIRBKREARAT

Sugian Young Top Garments Co., Ltd.

BRAIREXKARAT

Centralized Heat Supply Project £ FR it ZA £ 75
Dongguan Futian Oasis Heating Co., Ltd.

KRB HABRAR
JAKARTA HRfiniE

Garment Manufacturing 347X
P.T. Sandang Mutiara Cemerlang

# Chinese names are only translations of their official English names. In case of inconsistencies, the English names shall prevail.
PN ABEAREESAXLBIEX MAKE  BIUEXLERLE
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FINANCIAL AND STATISTICAL HIGHLIGHTS
M R EHEE

2024 2023
HK$Mil EEE7T  HKSMI 52 E7T
Operating Results EEXEE
Revenue =t 4,426.6 4,440.2
Financial Performance B RIA
Profit attributable to owners KABEB A
of the Company FE(S B F) 14.3 50.9
Profit margin B 0.3% 1.1%
Earnings per share (HK cents) SREF GEW)
— Basic —H&K 1.2 4.2
- Diluted —#E 1.2 4.2
Dividends 12353
Proposed final dividend per share BIREERARERE GBI
(HK cents) 1.16 3.00
Dividend payout ratio TREEEE 100.00% 71.43%
Proposed special dividend per share BIKESRENRE GBI
(HK cents) 4.34 -

At 31 December

At 31 December

12H831H R128318
2024 2023
HK$Mil BE &7  HKSMIl B & BT
Financial Position at Year End REEXRGRZBMBERNR
Net current assets MENEEFE 2,123.3 2,203.5
Total assets BEHRE 4,614.6 4,900.8
Non-current bank borrowings 3F/)|L§1J§E1ﬂt‘§ - 91.1
Total bank borrowings HIRTTEE 48.8 199.6
Net bank borrowings IRITEEFE (1,248.4) (1,181.3)
Total liabilities aEM8E 1,158.8 1,432.2
Net asset value per share (HK$) SKREERE (Br) 2.64 2.67
Capital expenditure BEARHZ 174.7 87.9
Financial Statistics B4R st
Return on equity (%) 7f i [B] 2R ZE(%) 1.0% 2.0%
Consolidated tangible net worth RE aaﬁﬁ/ﬁﬁ 3,118.7 3,189.3
Consolidated total bank debt to REBIRTTABHEREFER
consolidated tangible net worth ﬁ}% EE £ 0.0 0.1
Consolidated EBITDA to consolidated me EMITEREHA A BEERS
interest expenses A E X LA 20.9 12.5
Consolidated current assets to REanBBEERGEAEME
consolidated current liabilities B &L 3.2 2.9
Inventory turnover period (days) FEEEE (H) 74 69
Trade and bills receivables turnover EE R TR EWEIE
period (days) AEHEA () 66 66
Trade and bills payables turnover SEENERENRIE
period (days) B#EE (B) 53 58
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FINANCIAL AND STATISTICAL HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

MBERAAEE @)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MR

A summary of the financial information of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the respective published
audited consolidated financial statements, is set out as below. This summary
does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

ERBRANBARBELBYMBREEZ M
EXREE (HRBEREAMKEERGEEMT
]R) I T - WL E L SERE B GRS/
BERKRZ 2D

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS REHEmR
For the For the For the For the For the
year ended year ended year ended year ended year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
HZ20205F HZo0215E EEo008 HZo0235 #Z20245
12A31H 12A31H 12A31H 12A31H 128318
I: 355 HFE IHFE IHFE LEFE

HK$'000 T8  HK$000 FB7L HKS000 FH7T HKS000 F47T HK$000 FHT

~

Revenue e 4,943,230 6,751,277 6,053,645 4,440,235 4,426,558

Profit/(loss) before income tax ~ BRFTISH X HATRF]/

expense (&518) 122,145 337,450 (20,210) 111,128 77,060
Income tax expense g (20,554) (67,192) (72,954) (43,284) (42,483)
Profit/(loss) for the year REEERA/ (B8 101,591 270,258 (93,164) 67,844 34,577
Attributable to: L

Owners of the Company KARBEBA 85,706 241,334 (115,532) 50,903 14,262

Non-controlling interests TR ER 15,885 28,924 22,368 16,941 20,315

101,591 270,258 (93,164) 67,844 34,577




BEEE(%E)HRAT 2024FFER T

FINANCIAL SUMMARY (continued)

MHBEEBE (@)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION EEMBERRER
At At At At At
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
R12831H R12B31H R12831H R12831H 128315
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
HK$'000 T  HKS000 T4 HKS000 T 57T HKS000 57T HKS000 FHE7T
Non-current assets FRBEE 1,746,822 1,728,511 1,671,542 1,532,032 1,518,322
Current assets TEEE 3,678,889 4,019,879 3,375,223 3,368,807 3,096,296
Current liabilities REaR 1,619,636 1,771,099 1,182,174 1,165,291 972,989
Net current assets TEBEEFE 2,059,253 2,248,780 2,193,049 2,203,516 2,123,307
Total assets less current liabiitles ZEMERREEE 3,806,075 3,977,291 3,864,591 3,735,548 3,641,629
Non-current liabilities Fromas 226,286 218,193 440,824 266,882 185,856
Net assets BEE 3,579,789 3,759,098 3,423,767 3,468,666 3,455,773
Capital and reserves BAKEE
Share capital fg & 889,810 889,810 889,810 889,810 889,810
Reserves 11 2,504,762 2,670,428 2,331,257 2,378,536 2,347,779
Equity attributable to owners ARRER NELER
of the Company 3,394,572 3,560,238 3,221,067 3,268,346 3,237,589
Non-controlling interests JEE R R 185,217 198,860 202,700 200,320 218,184
Total equity R 3,579,789 3,759,098 3,423,767 3,468,666 3,455,773
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AWARDS & CERTIFICATIONS
B2 TE e 50 58

Fountain Set (Holdings) Limited
EHEE (BE) AR2E

File
number

Xig4R R
1

WRITCR (M) B

"
FLELL F T
ESGR

TR
Fountadn Set (Holdings Limitad

[
Nh-ﬂ—‘ll-’“ﬁl-m
5 ]

U e

Awards/Certifications name

1RIB/BE LA

Hong Kong ESG Award

HBESGHE

QOutstanding ESG Improvement Award
B ILESGHE S R Z5T1E

v"\
| HEHRA .

Commendation

Fountain Set (Holdings)

n Limited

Issued by
PEEEAE

The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong
BEPEREHSE
HERA
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AWARDS & CERTIFICATIONS (continued)
BRIARKTRE ()

Fountain Set Limited

EHEXARAT
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File

number Awards/Certifications name Issued by

XigMRSE 4218 sRERiE IS

8 Scope Certificate (Global Recycled Standard 4.0 (GRS 4.0))  Intertek Testing Services NA, Inc
2 KON E IR ZE(GRS 4.0 8 HE = KEEEIRFBERAR

4 Scope Certificate (Organic Content Standard (OCS) Version ~ ECOCERT GREENLIFE S.A.S.
3.0) BRI EREFERY
B2 E1Z2(OCS 3.0):8:8:55

S Scope Certificate (Global Organic Textile Standard (GOTS) ECOCERT GREENLIFE S.A.S.
Version 6.0)
SIRE A ERIEEGOTS 6.0)53F8E

6 bluesign® SYSTEM PARTNER Bluesign Technologies AG

bluesign® SYSTEMEZS
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AWARDS & CERTIFICATIONS (continued)
BRIARKTRE ()

Dongguan Shatin Lake Side Textiles Printing & Dyeing Co., Ltd.
HE B4 BENRERAT

==
i?‘:/@

File
number

XHEHRSR
7

10

11

12

HOHLS
ol
CERTIFICATION
e e
Wy K, o T oF it M . Fousmaar Bt

U — i

Awards/Certifications name

®I5 RERE

Oeko-Tex Standard 100 Certificate HKKO 041727
Oeko-TextZ#10058 EHKKO 041727

Oeko-Tex Standard 100 Certificate HKO15 215774
Oeko-TextZ 410058 EHK015 215774

Oeko-Tex Stgndard 100 Certificate HKKO 056043
Oeko-Tex1Z# 10058 Z2HKKO 056043

Oeko-Tex Standard 100 Certificate HKD 20884
Oeko-TextZ 410055 =ZHKD 20884

KOHL'S Color CERTIFICATION
ANN TAYLOR LABORATORY APPROVAL CERTIFICATE

ARITZIA Lab Accreditation Certificate
KOHL'S LAB CERTFCATON

L.L.Bean Global Quality Assurance & Testing
Laboratory Accreditation Certificate

PUMA Laboratory Accreditation Certificate
Laboratory Accreditation Certificate

1«

Issued by
NEEE AR

TESTEX AG, Swiss Textile Testing Institute
TESTEX AG, It 45 @1 E Fir

TESTEX AG, Swiss Textile Testing Institute
TESTEX AG, I+ #h @1 E Fir

TESTEX AG, Swiss Textile Testing Institute
TESTEX AG, It -#h @42 € T

TESTEX AG, Swiss Textile Testing Institute
TESTEX AG, It -#h &A% & FiT

KOHL'S
MEEERE
ANN TAYLOR
ZEKE

ARITZIA

KOHL'S

NN =YNC]
L.L.Bean Inc.

Next Retail Limited
SGS

Bureau Veritas Consumer Products Services
(Guangzhou) Co., Ltd.

BEM AR TR R B R A

UNDER ARMOUR

ZIBIF



File
number

XHEHRR
19

20

21

22
23
24
25

26

27
28

EEEE(RE)ARSE

2024 F F R

AWARDS & CERTIFICATIONS (continued)

BETE 250

BALFH LAUEES
[ —

Awards/Certifications name

815, RERTE

Certificate of Accreditation

Datacolor Certify Certificate

Certificate of Accreditation

Certification of Assessment
Assigned Colorist Certificate
Certificate of Color Accreditation Program

Certificate of Recognition
LABORATORY APPROVAL CERTIFICATE

Certificate of Color Accreditation Program for Puma
Lands’ End Certificate

Issued by
PEEEAE

Bureau Veritas Consumer Products Services
(Guangzhou) Co., Ltd.

BN T2 fiT Az R B PR A B

The Children’s Place

datacolor
=IEEE

Carter’s Global Sourcing Ltd

Bureau Veritas Consumer Products Services
(Guangzhou) Co., Lid.

JEE PN A HE 55 Tl 48208 B PR B

Abercrombie & Fitch Co.

Abercrombie & Fitch Co.

natific AG Switzerland

RALPH LAUREN
EX - EMBIK

Gap Inc.

=B

Colour Apparel Development Services Limited
Lands’ End

27

A=)

aea

11
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AWARDS & CERTIFICATIONS (continued)
ﬁlﬁ& Wb‘ﬂﬁ (ﬂﬁ)

BENELETR(BEY)

RR—

Mz Soriteons M2
1804 o Compiet I
2t It e 28 =4
& s [ s )
SR H ST -
1] s =8

File
number

Xig4ReR
29

30

31

32

33

34

35

M
L b= Lok
L]
W

r
Do 00 oL

Awards/Certifications name

1218 SRR

Hong Kong — Guangdong Cleaner Production Partner
(Manufacturing)

BEBBEREERH WEH)

Low-carbon Manufacturing Plan (Golden Label)(LCMP)
B EE (EEEH) LCMP)

Water — saving Benchmark Enterprises in Guangdong
Province

[ERABEMKETEE

Higg Facility Environmental Module ASSESSMENT-
certificate
Higg Index FEMIRIZERE 552

Higg Facility Environmental Module SELF-ASSESSMENT-

certificate
Higg Index FEMB A IRIB IR AR GRS

HIGG VFSLM VERIFICATION(2023)-ASSESSMENT-
certificate

Higg Index VFSLMtt & EF1E4HREEE

Higg Index Facility Social & Labor Module

Higg Index FSLMiE4Hz5 =

oy

R
2 o

| rta_ﬂmm

COMPLETION OF COMPLETION OF
VERIFIED MODULE SELF-ASSESSMENT

Issued by

P2 T

Department of Industry and Information Technology of
Guangdong Province

BRETENEEEE

Environment and Ecology Bureau The Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
BARTHEBMIRERERF

World Wide Fund for Nature or World Wildlife Fund
HREREESY

Department of Industry and Information Technology of
Guangdong Province, Department of Water Resources
of Guangdong Province

BERE TENESERE  ERE KR

Sustainable Apparel Coalition
BIESE e

Sustainable Apparel Coalition

A PR T R

Sustainable Apparel Coalition
EIEST e ]

Sustainable Apparel Coalition
EIEST = e ]



File
number

Xig4RaR
36

37

38

39

40

41

=M

ATSERANERENR AL Ha

T il

Awards/Certifications name

218 RERE

I K

City’s “Four — Season Love” Activity for New Employment
Groups Led by Party Building: Loving — heart Enterprises
MEES|EMIEHFROETEREE Bk

Knitted Recycled Dyed Fabric Carbon Footprint in the
Greater Bay Area — Certificate
HEBERBHANERKEN—3

Knitted Organic Dyed Fabric Carbon Footprint in the Greater
Bay Area — Certificate
HABREBRNERKET—

2%
o=

PEBMEZRRMTHRE (MO FEbE

Membership Certificate of the Digital Intelligence Innovation
Center for Fabrics and Apparel in the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
BERANEEEARGBEE TP OETEES

Certificate of OEKO-TEX STeP.
BB B SRR

BRALTENRGAEEFLHEEA

ANBEER. EA RSN Y
R AR R CERERE YA

EEEE(%E)FRYE  2024FF#K

AWARDS & CERTIFICATIONS (continued)
ilﬁ& wunﬁ (ﬁﬁ)

Issued by

bR

The Committee of Non — public Economic
Organizations and Social Organizations in Shatian
Town, Dongguan City
REMPHBEFAFFLEABN I SEBEZES

Carbon Footprint Identification and Certification Public
Service Platform in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area

BEERRAEER T EHDELAHERBE TS

Carbon Footprint Identification and Certification Public
Service Platform in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area
BHERAREERENZHAEALRBTEE

General Administration of Customs of the People’s
Republic of China

REANREMBEERERE

Guangdong Textile Association

BEREHERE

TESTEX Swiss Textile-Testing Ltd.
I E RIS

13
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AWARDS & CERTIFICATIONS (continued)

BRIA K05 (1)

Yancheng Fuhui Textiles Limited

B EESRARAS

g =™

Cartificate Cartificate

A PR A P ap—

=5 e cormcats

= B om

= — . =T R

o | - . | oo
v ki
- -_

::.:?nber Awards/Certifications name

MR  RIASDERE

42 Top 30 Chinese Knitting Industry in 2023
2023 EZ B #4817 2£3058

43 KOHL'S LAB CERTIFICATION

44 R E2024F B BB R B R =M EEEAIEEE

45 Oeko-Tex Standard 100 Certificate SHO15 208514
Oeko-Text2#1005% ESHO15 208514

46 Oeko-Tex Standard 100 Certificate SHO15 144422
Oeko-TextR#E 10058 ESHO015 144422

47 Certificate HIGG FEM SELF-ASSESSMENT

48 Certificate HIGG FEM VERIFICATION

49 Certificate HIGG FSLM SELF-ASSESSMENT

50 Certificate GOTS 6.0-Fountain Set Limited

5il Certificate OCS 3.0-Fountain Set Limited

52 Higg Index Facility Social & Labor Module

53 Certificate SC-GRS 4.0-Fountain Set Limited

- a_‘I

4 |
-
(7]

CertMcate
1 et Lot
%% = %%
nee —— nee
i = [ 1]
""!.‘. N=L{

i
E.

#

[ 34

COMPLETION OF
VERIFIED MOCULE

Issued by
PEEEAE

China Knitting Industry Association
FEHBTERS

QUALITY ASSURANCE & PRODUCT INTEGRITY

China Textile Industry Federation Testing Center
R An 4 TSR Bt S AR R0

TESTEX AG, Swiss Textile Testing Institute
TESTEX AG, i £45 44% € Ffr

TESTEX AG, Swiss Textile Testing Institute
TESTEX AG, Im - 454t EFr

Cascale

Cascale

Cascale

ECOCERT GREENLIFE S.A.S.
ECOCERT GREENLIFE S.A.S.
Sustainable Apparel Coalition
BIHFAE AR SR B B

Intertek Testing Services NA, Inc.
REBERF AR AT



File
number

Xig4ReR
54

55

56

57

58

59

60

61

62

63

Awards/Certifications name

RIA/TERTE

ERMESERES  —BHETHTaRTEE AEE
BEAMASHESE  —BRIAEHRE
ERRAERNES  — Bt EERETEREN
BERREERNES  —Ehhi

LRFNRE  —ERERHABANNEETE
LRFFRE B REBREMENHBENNNIIEZ

ISO14001 Environmental Management System Certificate
ISO14001IRIE BIEFE R 055 =

ISO 50001 Energy Management System Certificate
ISO50001 E IR R SUEE &=

2028 FEFEGRIB=2(

PREERSNE L/ BFATRE_FHE

EEEE(%E)FRYE  2024FF#K

AWARDS & CERTIFICATIONS (continued)
BRIA R0 (1)

o

Issued by
PEEEAE

China National Intellectual Property Administration
BIRAHEER
China National Intellectual Property Administration
BIRAHEER
China National Intellectual Property Administration
BIRABHEER

China National Intellectual Property Administration

BIR A3 E# D

China National Intellectual Property Administration

BIR A5 ER D

China National Intellectual Property Administration
BIXAHMEES

China Quality Mark Certification Group
FERSEREERFRAT

China Quality Mark Certification Group
FERGREERBRAT

Affairs Office of Yancheng Municipal People’s Government

By A R BUF
HEETREEARATEZES

15
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AWARDS & CERTIFICATIONS (continued)

IR s058 ()

Ocean Lanka (Private) Limited

BEEE @A) BRAA

cermpicate [l
3| e

gl - =5

- o [
A
File
number Awards/Certifications name Issued by
XHaRSR  RIAATERTE PEEEAE
64 Oeko-Tex Standard 100 Certificate 07.BH.52767 Hohenstein Textile Testing Institute
Oeko-Texi% % 10058 £07.BH.52767
65 Laboratory Certification Intertek
RIFE
66 bluesign® SYSTEM PARTNER Bluesign Technologies AG
bluesign® SYSTEMES £
67 Facility and Merchandise Authorization The Walt Disney Company
ELETEAT
68 Facility and Merchandise Authorization Marks and Spencer p.l.c.
69 Laboratory Approval Certificate Gap Inc.
BR=HERS =B
70 George Laboratory Certification Scheme George & Intertek Group
GeorgeB B =355t & Georges A fEEE
71 Certificate of Good Manufacturing Practice SGS Lanka Ltd.
RIFEERSBES HERRBAMAREERAT
72 Global Organic Textiles (GOTS) 6.0 Control Union Certifications B.V
IRAE A B R(GOTS) 6.0 MBI (B8 BRAE
73 Organic Content Standard (OCS) 3.0 Control Union Certifications B.V
Global Recycled Standard (GRS) 4.0 HERE (L8 ARAT
B EE1R%E(OCS) 3.0
£ IK[EW IR #E(GRS) 4.0
74 Higg Index Facility Social & Labor Module Sustainable Apparel Coalition

Higg Index FSLMiE4Hz5 = BIESE iyt



File
number

X ARSR
75

76

7

78

79

80

81
82
83
84

85

86

87
88
89

Awards/Certifications name

RIR/DERTE

1ISO14001:2015 Environmental Management Systems

ISO14001:201518 1B B IR % 47

ISO45001:2018 Occupational Health and Safety
Management Systems
ISO45001:2018 i = Z 2 B L BIRR AR

Marks & Spencer Premier Accreditation Scheme
B BEEmMEEE

Next Laboratory Accreditation Certification
NextEBERZEREEE

Registration Certificate for End Users of Precursor
Chemicals
SilEt2RRiKARERH

Supplier to Zero Certificate

regenagri Content Standard (version 2.1)
Environmental Protection Licence

CNC Acheivers Award

VS&CO Excellence Awards

Musketeers Awards

VS&CO Chemical Management Excellence Award 2024

Bluesign Appreciation Certificate
Manufacturing — Silver Award
CNCI Merit Award

EEEE(%E)FRYE  2024FF#K

AWARDS & CERTIFICATIONS (continued)
BRIA R0 (1)

Issued by
PEEE AR

SGS United Kingdom Ltd.
HEREBRAREERAE

SGS Société Générale de Surveillance SA
BB AR R R AR

Marks and Spencer p.l.c.
NEXT Retail Ltd.

Sri Lanka National Dangerous Drugs Control Board

HERFEXCRENETH

ZDHC
el c 2 M B AR

Control Union (UK) Limited
Board of Investment of Sri Lanka

Ceylon National Chamber of Industries

VS & CO

HEZ N R RVIRE

Lacoste

IR ET A

VS & CO

M RITBE

Bluesign Technologies AG

National Chamber of Exporters

Ceylon National Chamber of Industries
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHRS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of Fountain Set (Holdings) Limited (the
“Company” or “we” or “our”, and the “Board”, respectively), | would like to
present the audited consolidated results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group” or the “Fountain Set Group”) for the financial year ended 31
December 2024 (“2024”), and to provide you with an overview of the Group’s
strategy and business outlook.

FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS REVIEW

Excluding the one-time land resumption gain of approximately HK$259
million from the disposal of land use rights at Number 12, West District,
Xiaoshan Road, Jiangyin City (the “One-off Disposal Gain”) —pursuant to
the land resumption agreement with the Chengdong Subdistrict Office of the
Jiangyin City People’s Government in 2023—the Group has demonstrated a
noteworthy recovery. We transitioned from a substantial core business loss of
approximately HK$208 million in 2023 when excluding the One-off Disposal
Gain to achieving a core business profit of HK$14 million in 2024. The gross
profit margin was significantly improved from 7.3% in 2023 to 12.0% in 2024.
Because of this, we extend our gratitude to the leadership of our Board of
Directors and all staff members for making this achievement possible.

The financial year 2024 marked a significant turnaround in profitability for the
Group, attributable to several key factors. First, there was a notable year-on-
year increase in orders for several of our textile and apparel products, driving
revenue growth. Second, we successfully reduced primary and fixed costs
following the suspension of fabric dyeing operations at Jiangyin Fuhui Textiles
Limited, the Group’s indirect wholly-owned subsidiary. This suspension was
in accordance with the land resumption agreement dated 19 November
2023, between Jiangyin Fuhui and the Jiangyin City People’s Government
Chengdong Subdistrict Office* (T ARBIFIHEREEMEEE) . Third, our
commitment to streamlining production processes and implementing cost-
cutting measures across the Group contributed significantly to our improved
financial performance.

In 2024, the global market's operating environment remained volatile, with
significant fluctuations observed across various end-markets. Confronted
with the challenging conditions within the textile and apparel industry and
encountering numerous risks and challenges, the Group responded with
composure, focusing on maintaining operational stability. Consequently,
the Group’s revenue for the year ending 31 December 2024 amounted
to HK$4,426,558,000, nearly consistent with the previous year’s figure of
HK$4,440,235,000.

* For identification purpose only

HNERR:

RANERXBHEE &E) BRLATDESEE (9
BIETARNB MR TEEE)) BIRESE
RNEKREKRBAR (REE) X EHER)) &
F2024F 12831 HIEBEE (120244 ) K828
Brire®EE TREAEERERERREYE
ZHEE o

B 55 B £ 5 [0l B
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AT — R LT I—
BEEWRG 29 RPNEEE2RHEENE
BRoAERAE—MEBEERGENERT » M
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EENERH ERNREFEEET HIL>
HE2024F12831HIENEE  EBRAA
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The Group successfully maintained stable operations, characterized by a
consistently low debt ratio, robust cash flow, and ample working capital. As
of 31 December 2024, the Group’s cash and cash equivalent balance was
HK$1,295 million, compared to approximately HK$1,379 milion as of 31
December 2023, with a slight reduction.

These efforts underscore the Group’s commitment to financial prudence and
operational resilience amidst a challenging market landscape, ensuring stability
and continued strength in its financial position.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (“ESG”)
POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

To align with our commitment to sustainability by reducing paper usage, we
will exclusively upload the 2024 ESG report on the official websites of both
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Company. This initiative
reflects our ongoing efforts to integrate environmentally responsible practices
into our operations. Our 2024 ESG report highlights the Group’s achievements
in various ESG domains, showcasing areas where we have surpassed
expectations and identifying opportunities for improvement. Our dedication to
sustainable innovation serves as a catalyst for growth, benefiting not only our
business but also our upstream and downstream industry partners.

Since establishing the “Sustainability Development and Enhancement
Committee” (the “Committee”) in 2016, the Group has been driving a
unified vision of sustainability. This Committee, comprised of representatives
from different subsidiaries and cross-functional departments, is pivotal in
implementing our sustainability objectives and goals. It actively encourages
our business to comprehend the implications of our sustainability initiatives,
set ambitious targets, and navigate the challenges that arise in achieving these
goals.

Further illustrating our commitment to innovation and sustainability, we
launched a groundbreaking venture in 2016 with the centralised heat supply
project. This Project introduces a pioneering business model within the industry,
aimed at enhancing environmental efficiency. The Shatian Town Environmental
Industrial Park (the “Park”), one of the seven largest environmental industrial
parks in Dongguan, China, plays a crucial role in this initiative. It consolidates
industry enterprises within the Park and areas around Shatian Town
that necessitate relocation. As a key component of the industrial park’s
development, this Project aligns with Guangdong Industrial Park’s centralised
heat supply implementation plan, emphasizing sustainable industrial practices.

EEEE(%E)FRYE  2024FF#K

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)
EEHRSE (B
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (continued)
EF‘-$E¢ (II\E)

The Project’s efforts to transition from coal-fired to natural gas boilers represent
a significant step forward in environmental protection and sustainability. By
reducing emissions of nitrogen oxide, sulphur dioxide, smoke, and dust,
you're contributing to cleaner air for the community and improving the overall
ecological environment. Here’s a quick summary of achievements and future
plans:

Achievements:

1. Reduction of Coal Dependency

— By phasing out the remaining 28 coal-fired heaters to significantly cut
harmful emissions.

2. Completion of Construction Phases

—  The first phase was completed in 2018, supplying heat to local
enterprises.

- The second phase involved removing all coal-fired boilers,
constructing, and operating two natural gas boilers since 2021.

3. Adoption of Clean Energy

—  Natural gas is a cleaner alternative, efficient in burning and utilization,
which further minimizes carbon footprints.

Future Plans:
1. Continuous Investment in Technology

—  Ongoing investment in advanced technology will help in maintaining
high environmental standards.

2. Pollution Control Measures
— Installing additional equipment for pollution prevention and reduction
remains a priority.
3. Educational Initiatives

— Regular workshops and training sessions for your staff create
awareness and competence regarding environmental protection.

4. Expert Consultation
— By involving qualified advisers, you're ensuring adherence to high

standards and continuously improving your environmental measures.

These steps undoubtedly bolster green development, enhance social benefits,
and elevate community contentment. It's inspiring to see such dedicated efforts
towards sustainability and environmental responsibility.
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LOOKING FORWARD

According to the World Bank’s 2025 Global Economic Prospects Report,
global growth is expected to hold steady at 2.7 percent in 2025 to 2026.
However, the global economy appears to be settling at a low growth rate
that will be insufficient to foster sustained economic development—with the
possibility of further headwinds from heightened policy uncertainty and adverse
trade policy shifts, geopolitical tensions, persistent inflation, and climate-related
natural disasters. Against this backdrop, emerging market and developing
economies (EMDEs)—which fuel 60 percent of global growth—are set to enter
the second quarter of the twenty-first century with per capita incomes on a
trajectory that implies substantially slower catch-up toward advanced-economy
living standards than they previously experienced.

Looking ahead to 2025, uncertainties such as geopolitical conflicts, high
inflation and high interest rates that have persisted for several years will
continue to loom over the global economy. The resurgence of trade
protectionism in various countries, United States tariff policy and the Federal
Reserve’s suspension of interest rate cuts have also added concerns to the
market. Against this backdrop, although some of the Group’s end-markets will
still face downside risks in 2025, the Group remains confident in its business
performance in 2025.

All staff members of the Group are committed to aligning with the Board’s
directives and objectives, implementing the Board’s work plans, and further
developing our long-term strategic goals. Embracing our core values of
“diligence, frugality, sincerity, and integrity,” we strive to promote a culture
of “pursuing excellence and prioritizing performance,” while upholding the
behavioral principles of “professionalism, innovation, responsibility, and
challenge.”

The Group is dedicated to the business principles of “institutional management,
resource optimization, and collaborative efforts,” and is actively pursuing a
strategy of “steady progress, reform, and innovation.” We aim to expand
our market reach, secure new orders, accelerate strategic deployment, and
enhance efforts to improve product quality and competitiveness.

Our focus is on advancing technological processes and fostering innovation
in product research and development (R&D). We are committed to building
a high-quality professional talent pool, continuously enhancing operational
efficiency, and reducing operational costs. Our goal is to significantly improve
the Group’s financial performance. Facing challenges as opportunities, we are
resolute and prepared to forge ahead against all odds.

EEEE(%E)FRYE  2024FF#K

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)
EFEHRS (@

FINAL DIVIDEND AND SPECIAL DIVIDEND

After reviewing the financial report and cash flow situation of the Group,
the Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK1.16 cents per share (payout ratio: 100%) in respect of the year ended
31 December 2024. (2023: HK3.00 cents per share with a payout ratio of
71.43%). 2024 marks the 55th anniversary of the Group and to pay our
utmost gratitude to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”), the
Board has also proposed to distribute a 55th anniversary special dividend (the
“Special Dividend”) of HK4.34 cents per share in cash in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2024. Subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, 6
June 2025, it is expected that the payment of the final dividend and the special
dividend (total HK5.5 cents per share) will be made on or about Monday, 30
June 2025 whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
on Thursday, 19 June 2025. Going forward in upcoming years, the Group
expects to maintain a similar range of dividend payout ratio as our dividend
policy so as to provide rewarding investment return to the Shareholders,
subject to the dividend policy stated in latest annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group acknowledges the need and importance of corporate governance
as one of the essential elements in enhancing shareholder value. The Group
is devoted to improving its corporate governance policies in compliance with
regulatory requirements and in accordance with international recommended
practices. The Company has formed the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee” or “AC”), remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”
or “RC”) and nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee” or “NC”) all
at the Board’s level, to provide assistance, advice and recommendations on the
relevant matters that aim to ensure protection of the interests of the Group and
the Shareholders as a whole.

APPRECIATION

We extend our deepest gratitude for the exceptional guidance and counsel
provided by our esteemed Board members. We sincerely appreciate the
unwavering support from our Shareholders, valued customers, end users,
suppliers, business partners, and the entire Fountain Set Group during the
past challenging year. With our steadfast vision, dedication to customer focus,
and sustained business momentum, we are confident in achieving improved
performance in 2025.

LIU Xianfu
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
21 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s core operations encompass the production and sale of circular
knitted dyed fabrics and yarns, alongside the production and sale of garments.
The textile and apparel industry, within which the Group operates, has
recently been navigating increasingly complex and challenging internal and
external conditions. Global economic growth has been sluggish, geopolitical
risks have escalated, and this has impacted industry efficiency and supply
chain integration, resulting in an overall contraction in external demand. The
restructuring of textile and apparel supply chains for export markets has
accelerated, favoring a shift towards regional distribution. Combined with the
global economic recovery being slower than anticipated and ongoing supply
chain restructuring, downstream customers have continued destocking, albeit
at a relatively lower rate compared to the same period last year. Domestically,
consumption demand remained weak, particularly in the third and fourth
quarters of 2024, as recovery in consumer purchasing power in the textile and
apparel market continued to lag.

For the financial year 2024, our group’s profitability has significantly improved,
attributed to several key factors. First, through close collaboration between
production, supply, sales, and research, we have focused on customer needs.
With our accumulated technical research and development capabilities and fast
responsiveness, we successfully secured additional orders from some strategic
clients, leading to an increase in the total order volume for the year. Second,
we have deeply implemented refined management in production enterprises,
optimized production processes, and promoted equipment technological
upgrades and energy-saving measures, resulting in a noticeable decrease in
unit production costs throughout the year. Third, in response to changes in
internal and external situations, we proactively closed the dyeing and finishing
capacity at Jiangyin Fuhui.

In 2024, the Group experienced a positive recovery in both the US and
Japan markets, primarily driven by stronger performance from several key
clients compared to the same period in 2023. The improved business results
led these clients to actively replenish their inventories, resulting in increased
orders for the Group. However, within the China domestic market, consumer
behavior remained cautious due to the sluggish economy, which resulted in
comparatively weaker domestic sales as opposed to the export market.

The escalating tariff policies between countries introduced instability in
purchasing behaviors among brand buyers and retailers. Many buyers
expressed concerns about committing to buy large quantities from suppliers,
thereby favoring increased flexibility in purchasing. This shift resulted in a
preference for “smaller batches, diverse product varieties, high quality, and
expedited delivery”. Meanwhile, consumer demand in the apparel industry has
evolved, with a greater focus on personalization, functionality, and value for
money. Additionally, the textile and apparel sector continued to experience a
decline in factory prices, intensifying price competition.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)
EEEFRAD (B

In response to an extraordinarily severe market situation and a complex,
volatile operating environment, the Group implemented decisive measures
throughout 2024. These efforts were aimed at stabilizing operations and laying
the groundwork for overcoming challenges and achieving recovery and growth
in 2025.

Adapting to Market Changes and Expanding Customer Base

The Group took proactive steps to adapt to market changes by closely
monitoring market and customer dynamics. This involved targeted
research and development of new products, resulting in positive
outcomes and customer acclaim. The new product lines, developed by
the Group, demonstrated strong competitiveness and received positive
feedback from both internationally and domestically renowned sports
and leisure brands. Throughout 2024, the Group focused not only on
maintaining the stability of orders with existing customers but also actively
pursued market expansion and customer acquisition. Through various
channels, the Group successfully secured partnerships with over twelve
prestigious domestic and international brand customers.

Adjusting Production Capacity and Advancing Strategic Plan

The Group responded proactively to changes in the global textile and
apparel supply chain, characterized by accelerated restructuring and new
strategic plans. This involved actively adjusting production capacities
and order allocations. In light of these new market dynamics, the Group
stabilize the production capacity of Yancheng Fuhui Textiles Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary. The Group successfully completed the land
resumption agreement for the Jiangyin Fuhui living area and proactively
reduced fabric production capacity at Jiangyin Fuhui. We are also actively
in negotiation and discussion with the relevant parties in aims to complete
the remaining land resumption deal in 2025.

Refinement: Fabric Production and Procurement Excellence

In the fabric production domain, the Group instituted a comprehensive
quality control system and enhanced the tracking mechanisms for
product production. This initiative was supported by the development
of standardized operating procedures, assessment criteria, and a
robust system of rewards and penalties to rigorously manage product
quality issues. The Group’s commitment to continuous improvement in
manufacturing standards, alongside ongoing optimization of production
processes and technological advancements, garnered significant acclaim
from customers. Notably, in 2024, Ocean Lanka was recognized at
the Victoria’s Secret & Co. Partner Summit 2024 with the Raw Material
Supplier Cost Efficiency Award, as well as the NEXT brand’s Supplier
Awards 2023/2024 with an Appreciation Award.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

Centralized Procurement and Supplier Management
Improvement

To enhance procurement efficiency, the Group fortified its centralized
procurement organizational framework, developing comprehensive
procurement policies and documentation. Additionally, the expert
database for procurement specialists and supplier directories was
established and refined. Leveraging the power of information systems,
online monitoring, and approval processes were strengthened to fully
exploit the advantages of centralized procurement. Supplier management
and evaluation processes also saw enhancement with the implementation
of clear assessment criteria and improved admission and exit
mechanisms. The Group strategically removed underperforming suppliers
and minimized intermediary usage by procuring resources directly from
resource owners, effectively achieving a reduction in procurement costs.

Enhancement of Production Management and Efficiency

The Group undertook a systematic approach to upgrading and
transforming process technology equipment. By continuously optimizing
production workflows and order scheduling, we identified and addressed
hidden inefficiencies, minimized unnecessary waste, and consistently
reduced defect rates. Management processes for cotton yarn
procurement and fabric production were refined with clearly assigned
responsibilities. By effectively controlling inventory and safety stock levels,
as well as regulating raw material procurement schedules and quantities,
we aimed to alleviate inventory pressures. Prompt utilization of inventory
further diminished capital occupation. Additionally, the Group continuously
streamlined its personnel structure, reducing managerial roles while
increasing frontline staffing, thus fostering a hands-on, workshop-focused
factory environment.

Advancing R&D Innovation and Capability Building

The Group established a professional R&D management system and
framework, systematically advancing research and development initiatives.
By enhancing R&D and sampling capabilities for new fibers and functional
fabric products, customer service levels were significantly improved.
Continuous endeavors were made to enhance the performance and
functionalities of traditional pure cotton fabrics while expanding the
features of new fiber products and intensifying research and development
for new fabric innovations.

Commitment to Safety and Environmental Sustainability

The Group maintained a stable production safety record, consistently
meeting all operational standards. In response to the requirements of
prestigious clientele, we actively pursued the creation of a green and
environmentally sustainable factory. Notably, Fountain Set (Holdings)
Limited was honored with the “Hong Kong ESG Awards” organized by
The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong as well as the
Outstanding ESG Improvement Award at the Hong Kong ESG Reporting
Awards 2024 (HERA), recognizing our commitment to environmental,
social, and governance excellence.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

EREF®EDH (B

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The key operating and financial indicators of the Group for the year ended 31

A #5 ol 8

REEHE2024F12831BIFFEZ TELE

December 2024 are set out below: RMBIEREFNT
2024 2023
Statement of Profit or Loss Items EERIEE
(Al amounts in HK$ thousands unless FRYFRIGEPRINT B = RE
otherwise stated) BHUF AT
Revenue EEE 4,426,558 4,440,235
Gross profit eVl 529,411 321,989
EBITDA* ERITEREHERIF]E 273,983 328,919
Profit for the year EEERF 34,577 67,844
Profit attributable to owners of the RABVHEB NEILERA
Company 14,262 50,903
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) SREARF G 1.2 4.2
Key Financial Ratios FEMELEE
Profitability ratios BRIGETHE
Gross profit margin (%) EFZE(%) 12.0% 7.3%
EBITDA* margin (%) ERITEREHERFIEE (%) 6.2% 7.4%
Expenses as a % of revenue FIZ IS 236 HEF
Distribution and selling expenses DiE R IEEE R 2.1% 1.7%
Administrative expenses THEHR 9.2% 10.7%
Finance costs =% 0.3% 0.6%
Asset efficiency BENE
Inventory turnover period (days) EEBF&EHR(E) 74 69
Trade and bills receivables turnover EEKREREBERWFIEZE (H)
period (days) 66 66
Trade and bills payables turnover period &% &% ZHEE(T RIS FEE (H)
(days) 53 58

*EBITDA means earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.

*EBITDARRRE 73 S IR T B8 Ko B 8 A 1) 0R
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)
EREREAD T (R

At 31 December At 31 December

®12H31H R12831H
2024 2023
Asset ratios BELE
Current ratio* REh e 3.2 2.9
Net debt/EBITDA ratio FER BRITE RS EE (4.6) (3.6)
Gearing ratio BEAREGELEE
Total liabilities/Equity attributable to BEREE ANEHE AR
owners of the Company 0.4 0.4

# Current ratio is calculated by dividing current assets by current liabilities.

MBLERNAB L ARRARBEERURBARE-

Revenue =E 3

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to EEE E2024F 12331 HILFERNEERENA

approximately HK$4,426,558,000 (2023: HK$4,440,235,000). 4,426,558,00078 7T (20234 : 4,440,235,0007
JT) ©
Revenue by business segments BEEREESE
14.3%

Production and Sales of
Dyed Fabrics and Yarns

) BUE R E B KA
85.7% FY2024 - :

2024844

' Production and Sales of Garments
RS R HEE PR

For the year under review, the Group’s core business, production and HEIBEEE  EEZOEFE - NERIHERT

sales of dyed fabrics and yarns, generated revenue of approximately &b Ay 2%549%3,793,728,0007% 7T (2023

HK$3,793,728,000 (2023: HK$3,639,699,000), which accounted for 85.7%  £F : 3,639,699,000% 7T) » hEEE & XA E

(2023: 82.0%) of the Group’s total revenue. Revenue from production and sales ~ AJ85.7% (20234 : 82.0%)  HiE K IHE AL

of garments was approximately HK$632,830,000 (2023: HK$800,536,000), 7k Y= 2 E549 632,830,000 7t ( 20234 :

which accounted for 14.3% (2023: 18.0%) of the Group’s total revenue. 800,536,000/ 7T) » hEE & EEBAEMN14.3%
(20234 : 18.0%) °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)
EEEFRAD (B

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

For the year ended 31 December 2024, overall cost of sales of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$3,897,147,000 (2023: HK$4,118,246,000) and
overall gross profit margin was 12.0% (2023: 7.3%).

During the year under review, the Group’s revenue decreased by 0.3%
compared with the last year, which was basically flat. Overall cost of sales
when compared with the same period last years was significantly decreased
by approximately HK$220,000,000, representing a reduction of 5%. Though
overall revenue was flat, gross profit noticeably increased by HK$210,000,000
and gross profit margin rose by 4.7 percentage points with the effective
stringent cost control.

Distribution and Selling Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s overall distribution
and selling expenses amounted to approximately HK$92,602,000 (2023:
HK$$74,477,000), which accounted for 2.1% (2023: 1.7%) of the Group’s total
revenue.

Administrative Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s overall administrative
expenses amounted to approximately HK$407,576,000 (2023:
HK$476,389,000), which accounted for 9.2% (2023: 10.7%) of the Group’s
total revenue.

Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation
(EBITDA)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s EBITDA amounted to
approximately HK$273,983,000 (2023: HK$328,919,000) and the EBITDA
margin was 6.2% (2023: 7.4%).

Finance Costs

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s finance costs amounted
to approximately HK$13,126,000 (2023: HK$26,258,000), representing 0.3%
(2023: 0.6%) of the Group’s total revenue.

HEMBSREF

SEEEE2024F12831HIEFEE 2 B8
E AL A3,897,147,000% 75 (20234
4,118,246,00087T) » BEEFEXAH12.0%
(20234 : 7.3%) ©

REBEER  AEBNERBEXFRIMAL
TER0.3%  BEAXRFF > MBHENETREER
HAKIE T P2 218870 BKIBXI5% B ERRRE
FRFET BEHENEABHET  LEMKIE
ERT2ABBTRENREFRITEET DR

DHEKRHEER

EEEHE2024F12B31HIEEEZEEDH
K iHE B R4 292,602,000 7T (20234
74,477,000 7T) ChEEEEIEREN2.1%
(20234 1 1.7%) ©

TEREHR
EEEE2024F12B31HIEFEZEREITHE
FB#4407,576,00078 75 (20234 : 476,389,000
Brr) MEBEEFEEEEN.2% (20234F
10.7%) ©

SEMITE REHFF)B(EBITDA)

EEHE2024F 1283 1HIEFEEZBRITE
e 4 A ) B 49 273,983,000 7T ( 20234
328,919,000 7t) » BMITE KB AIH
76.2% (20234 : 7.4%) ©

R E R4S
EEEHE20224F12831HIEFEFEZREMN
R#)7513,126,0007 75 (20234 : 26,258,000

BIT) MEBEEREBEEMN0.3% (20234F !
0.6%) °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

Capital Expenditure

During the year under review, the Group invested approximately
HK$174,737,000 (2023: HK$87,871,000) in additions of property, plant and
equipment. The Group’s commitments primarily relate to the acquisition
of property, plant and equipment. As at 31 December 2024, the Group
had contracted capital commitments of approximately HK$29,538,000 (31
December 2023: HK$86,721,000) in relation to the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment.

Income Tax Expense

For the year ended 31 December 2024, income tax expense of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$42,483,000 (2023: HK$43,284,000).

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2024, profit attributable to owners of the
Company was approximately HK$14,262,000 (2023: HK$50,903,000) and the
corresponding profit margin was 0.3% (2023: 1.1%).

Inventories

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s inventories amounted to approximately
HK$784,735,000 (31 December 2023: HK$783,908,000). The inventory
turnover period was 74 days, an increase of 5 days compared with 69 days in
2028.

Trade and Bills Receivables

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s trade and bills receivables amounted to
approximately HK$802,069,000 (31 December 2023: HK$808,091,000). Trade
and bills receivables turnover period was 66 days, same as 66 days in 2023.

Trade and Bills Payables

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s trade and bills payables amounted
to approximately HK$562,544,000 (31 December 2023: HK$651,571,000).
Trade and bills payables turnover period was 53 days, a decrease of 5 days
compared with 58 days in 2023.

EREmES T (&)

BXRx

REEER  EEBEKREL174,737,0008 7T
(20234 : 87,871,000 7T) LUIE N4 2 ~ 14
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)
EEEFRAD (B

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net assets amounted to approximately
HK$3,455,773,000 (31 December 2023: HK$3,468,666,000). The key figures
of the Group’s financial position were as follows:

EENMREBER
R2024F12A31H EBEBEEFENS
3,455,773,000% 5 (2023%F128311
3,468,666,00078 1) - EB BTN EEE R
wr

At 31 December At 31 December

©12831H R12H31H

2024 2023

HK$’000TF %71 HK$ 000F 7T

Non-current assets JERBNE E 1,518,322 1,532,032

Current assets TMENEE 3,096,296 3,368,807

Total assets BEEME 4,614,618 4,900,839

Current liabilities mEnas 972,989 1,165,291

Non-current liabilities ERBIEE 185,856 266,882

Total liabilities aERE 1,158,845 1,432,173

Net assets BETE 3,455,773 3,468,666

The Group met its funding requirements in its usual course of operation B LLE Lﬁﬁ SREMERIBITHREBHAEMN

by cash flows from operations, as well as long-term and short-term bank ENHEBESEE MEABZETEHELS
borrowings. Capital expenditure was mainly financed by long-term bank fﬁhféffﬂé’*ﬁw

borrowings.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings amounted to
HK$48,795,000 (31 December 2023: HK$199,557,000). Details of the bank
borrowings of the Group are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank balances and cash, including
short-term bank deposits, amounted to HK$1,295,475,000 (31 December
2023: HK$1,378,997,000) and were mainly denominated in HKD, USD and
RMB.

=5 £

R2024%F 12831 H > "&ERBIIBIT
748,795,000 7t (2023F 125 31 El
199,557,000/ 7t) - REEMIRTEEHED
N R B M B ERERMIFE30 0

R2024F 128318 AEEMNIRITHE G RIRE
(BIEEHIRITER) &§£1,295,475,0008 70
(2023128318 : 1,378,997,0005&7T) » T &
BEE - ETR AR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the principal financial covenant figures/ratios
(according to the definitions of the Group’s principal banks) were as follows:

BEEFmADH (@)

R2024F 1283310 » TEMEAFEROHE tE=X
(REAERETEERBITNES OF

At 31 December
#12831H
2024

At 31 December
R12831H
2023

Consolidated tangible net worth RERBEREE

ﬂ

Consolidated total bank debt to FRERIETAarY
consolidated tangible net worth ReaRATEELA

Consolidated EBITDA to consolidated 4 & BRI E Ri# N AT F] %

interest expense FREMEZHEE
Consolidated current assets to BAEMBBEEY

consolidated current liabilities FaEmEaEtgl
Consolidated capital expenditure FEBEARZ

HK$3,118,670,0005 7T

HK$3,189,317,0007& 7T

0.0 0.1

20.9 12.5

3.2 2.9
HK$174,737,0007& 75 HK$87,871,0007 7T

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 the Group had complied
with all covenant ratios and undertakings.

Risk Management

The Group follows a stringent and prudent risk management policy to manage
foreign exchange and interest rate risks.

The sale and the purchase of raw materials of the Group were mainly
denominated in HKD, USD and RMB. Since the Group mainly carries out
production in China, we are exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from RMB
exposure. The Group has been closely monitoring the exchange rate fluctuation
for USD and RMB and will continue to monitor the trend of the exchange rate
and adopt appropriate measures in order to mitigate the foreign currency risk in
a cautious manner.

In addition, bank borrowings of the Group were denominated in HKD and
interests were mainly charged on a floating rate basis. The average effective
interest rate of bank borrowings of the Group was 6.24% per annum (2023:
5.99% per annum) for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the bank
borrowings were repayable within one year (2023: within two years). All bank
borrowings were unsecured for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
31 December 2023. The Group will continue to monitor the interest rates
fluctuation in the market and will adopt appropriate measures to minimise the
interest rate risk.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)
EEEFRAD (B

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had approximately 5,500 (31 December
2023: 5,800) full-time employees. The Group will continue to implement
streamlined production so as to further minimise its labour cost. The Group’s
emolument policies are formulated based on the performance of individual
employee and the salary trends in various regions, which are reviewed regularly.
The Group may, subject to the profitability, distribute a discretionary bonus to
its employees as an incentive for their contribution to the Group.

The Company also provides regular training courses and subsidies for
continuing education so as to improve the skills of its employees with respect
to production, selling and management.

STAKEHOLDERS’ ENGAGEMENT

We obtain and understand the views of our stakeholders regularly. This
communication provides valuable feedback for our business and assists us
to understand stakeholders’ needs and assess the best way to leverage
our resources and expertise to contribute to future business and community
development.

Across the supply chain, we have taken steps throughout the Year to ensure
that we operate responsibly and in the interests of our customers, workforce,
suppliers and other stakeholders.

Employees perform management, administration and human resources,
operation and finance relation functions respectively. The Group determines
the remuneration of its employees by reference to the market salary of their
individual experience and performance. The Group will continue to improve
and upgrade their management and professional skills. None of the Group’s
employees is represented by any collective bargaining agreement or labour
union. The Group has not experienced any significant problem with its
employees or disruption to its operations due to labour dispute, nor has
the Group experienced any difficulties in the recruitment and retention of
experienced staff.

1 & Rl & B R
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

OUTLOOK

According to the International Monetary Fund, global growth is projected at 3.3
percent both in 2025 and 2026, broadly unchanged from the October 2024
World Economic Outlook (WEQ) forecast with an upward revision in the United
States offsetting downward revisions elsewhere. The near-term outlook is
characterized by divergent paths, while medium-term risks to growth are tilted
to the downside. Renewed inflationary pressures could interrupt the monetary
policy pivot, with implications for fiscal sustainability and financial stability. The
policy mix should balance trade-offs and rebuild buffers.

The textile and apparel industry, in which our Group operates, faces hurdles
including the restructuring of the international textile and apparel industry and
supply chain, and heightened uncertainties in international trade dynamics with
many new tariff implementations among countries. Nevertheless, opportunities
arise from the rapid expansion of emerging markets, the steady enhancement
of the domestic economy, and the ongoing recovery trajectory in the export
market.

In 2024, the Group intensified its initiatives in international investment projects,
aimed at expanding the production capacity of knitted fabrics and mitigating
geographical risks. By strategically enhancing its global footprint in the coming
years, the Group sought to not only increase its manufacturing capabilities
but also distribute operational risks across various regions. This approach is
intended to fortify the Group’s resilience against localized economic disruptions
and position it advantageously within the global market landscape. Through
these strategic investments, the Group is focused on optimizing its supply
chain efficacy strive to continue reducing cost and increasing profits, and
reinforcing its commitment to sustainable growth in the textile industry.

Striving to achieving the strategic development goals for the
China’s 14th Five-Year Plan (the “14th FYP”) period with continued
efforts

In recent years, the global economy has been sluggish, and the global textile
and apparel industry supply chain has undergone reconstruction. The supply
chain layout is rapidly evolving towards regional distribution, while competitors
are accelerating their overseas expansion and implementing intelligent
and automated upgrades to their factories. A new competitive landscape
is emerging in the textile and apparel industry, where Fountain Set Group
operates. The current and upcoming years remain a strategic opportunities
period for Fountain Set Group, which must proactively adapt and accelerate its
transformation and upgrading.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)
EEEFRAD (B

In the future, Fountain Set Group will pursue a path of innovation,
specialization, and novelty with a focus on technological advancement. By
leveraging technological innovations, we aim to expedite a balanced domestic
and international expansion, fully integrating fabrics-to-garments production.
Our emphasis will be on fabric products and R&D innovation services, driving
high-quality development through continuous technological innovation. We
aim to solidify our leading position in the cotton knitted fabric printing and
dyeing arena while progressively improving in the synthetic fiber fabrics
sector. Our objective is to constantly enhance product strength, value, and
industry influence, offering customers high-quality, efficient products alongside
comprehensive technical R&D service solutions that foster mutual growth. Our
strategic emphasis will be on prominent international and domestic brands,
delivering innovative products that prioritize comfort, ecological sustainability,
functionality, and fashion tailored to specific needs.

We have unwavering confidence that all employees, under the guidance of
the Board, will collaborate cohesively. Our commitment to enhancing and
optimizing integrated production, supply chain, and marketing operations
will drive this forward. We are dedicated to actively exploring new markets,
fortifying technological R&D capabilities, refining operational management, and
enhancing efficiency. Key initiatives will focus on overcoming challenges related
to order fulfillment, strategic layout, cost management, and quality assurance.

Through the steadfast implementation of Fountain Set Group’s long-term
strategic plans, our mission is to deliver superior returns and benefits for
shareholders, customers, employees, and society at large.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices and procedures as it believes that an effective corporate
governance framework is fundamental to promoting and safeguarding interests
of shareholders and other stakeholders and enhancing shareholder value.
Throughout the year from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (the “Year”),
the Company has consistently adopted and complied with all the applicable
code provisions of the section headed “Part 2 — Principles of good corporate
governance, code provisions and recommended best practices” of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange” and the “Listing Rules”, respectively) as
guidelines to reinforce our corporate governance principles.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

As at 31 December 2024, the board of directors of the Company (the
“Directors” and the “Board”, respectively) comprised 11 members, namely 5
executive Directors (the “EDs”), 2 non-executive Directors (the “NEDs”) and
4 independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”). The NEDs and INEDs
represented about 55% of the Board members thereat. During the Year and up
to the date of this annual report, the Board comprises the following members:

EDs

Mr. LIU Xianfu (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Dr. LI Gang

Mr. YAU Hang Tat Andrew

Mr. YIN Jian (appointed on 1 September 2024)

Mr. ZHANG Zheng

Ms. ZHAO Jianli (resigned on 1 September 2024)

NEDs

Dr. YEN Gordon (Non-executive Vice Chairman)
Ms. ZHOU Jing (appointed on 1 April 2025)

Mr. TAO Yongming (resigned on 1 April 2025)

INEDs

Mr. NG Kwok Tung
Mr. YING Wei

Mr. William LAM

Mr. WONG Kwong Chi

The Company has complied with the requirement of Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules which the number of INEDs representing at least one-third of the Board.
The profiles of all the current Directors are set out on pages 56 to 61 of this
annual report. The relationships among the Board members (including financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationships, if any) are also
disclosed thereto.
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All Directors have entered into service contracts or letters of appointment with
the Company, subject to renewal, retirement by rotation and re-election at the
general meetings of the Company in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles”). Article 102(A) of the Articles provides that
at each annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”), one-third of
the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, then the number nearest one-third or any other number subject to
such manner of rotation as may be required by the statutes, the Listing Rules
or other codes, rules, and regulations prescribed from time to time by the
applicable regulatory authority, shall retire from office. The Directors to retire in
every year shall be those who have been the longest in office since their last
election but as between persons who became Directors on the same day those
to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree between themselves) be determined
by lot. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election. Article 93 of the
Articles also provides that any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy (who
shall hold office until the next following general meeting of the Company) or as
an addition to the Board (who shall hold office until the next following AGM)
shall then be eligible for re-election, but shall not be taken into account in
determining the Directors who are to retire by rotation at such meeting.

Pursuant to Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange will not
consider diversity to be achieved for a single gender board.

Following Ms. ZHAQO Jianli, the former executive director’s resignation on 1
September 2024, the Company has a single gender board and does not meet
the requirement under Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules since 1 September
2024.

The Board used its best endeavours to identify a suitable female candidate for
appointment as a director. Pursuant to the diversity policy of the Company,
the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration
of a number of aspects, including, but not limited to, gender, age, culture
and educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and industry and regional experience. In identifying and selecting suitable
candidates to serve as a director of the Company, the nomination committee
would consider the above criteria necessary to complement the corporate
strategy and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendations to the Board. The Board is happy to announce that Ms.
ZHOU Jing has been appointed on 1 April 2025 as a NED of the Company. The
Company has complied with Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules.
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Roles and Responsibilities of the Board and Delegation to the
Management

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group and
is responsible for promoting the success of the Group by directing and
supervising the business operations of the Group in the interests of the
Company’s shareholders (the “Shareholders”) providing insights regarding the
Group’s culture and values by formulating strategic directions and monitoring
the financial and management performance of the Group.

The overall management of the Group’s business is vested in the Board. The
Board has delegated the day-to-day management of the Group’s business
to the executive management team, and focused its attention on matters
affecting the Group’s overall strategic policies, finances and the Shareholders.
The executive management team assumes full accountability to the Board
for the operations of the Group. A formal schedule has been formulated and
will be reviewed regularly to identify specific matters that shall be reserved
to the Board and those delegated to the management. The Board has given
clear directions to the management that certain matters must be referred to
the Board for consideration and approval. The Board is the ultimate decision
making body of the Company except for matters requiring the approval of
the Shareholders in accordance with the Articles, the Listing Rules and other
applicable laws and regulations.

Board Independence

The Company recognises that board independence is critical to good
corporate governance and board effectiveness. The participation of
Independent non-executive Directors in the Board brings independent and
objective judgment on issues relating to the Group’s strategy, performance,
conflicts of interest and management process to ensure that the interests of all
Shareholders have been duly considered.

To ensure independent views and input are available to the Board, the
mechanisms described in this Corporate Governance Report are established
by the Board, and Board Committees follow the same processes, where
applicable.
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Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Four regular Board meetings at approximately quarterly intervals were held
during the Year. Each of the Directors has actively participated in each meeting
in person or via telephone or videoconferencing. Decisions were made by
majority vote at the Board meetings.

The dates of 2024 regular Board meetings had been determined in 2023 and
any amendments to this schedule were notified to all Directors at least 14 days
before the meetings. Appropriate arrangements were in place to allow the
Directors to include items in the agenda for regular Board meetings.

All Directors had access to the services of the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”) who regularly updated the Board on
governance and regulatory matters. Any Director, wishing to do so in the
furtherance of his respective duties, might take independent professional
advice (through the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”)) at the Company’s
expense. The availability of professional advice extended to three Board
committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee. Minutes of the Board meetings were taken by
the Company Secretary and, together with any supporting documents, were
available to all Directors. Draft and final versions of the minutes were sent to all
Directors for their comment and record respectively.

If a Director had a conflict of interest in a transaction or proposal to be
considered by the Board and such transaction or proposal was determined
by the Board to be material, the individual Director had to declare his interest
and was required to abstain from voting on any matter in which he or any of
his close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had a material interest and
that he would not be counted in the quorum present at the Board meeting.
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Directors’ Attendance at Board Meetings, Board Committee
Meetings and General Meeting

Details of the attendance of the Directors at meetings of the Board, the AC, the
RC and the NC and AGM during the Year are set out in the following table:
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Meetings attended/Meetings required to be attended during the Year
FEEREEZHERY, BELRZER

Name of Directors Board AC RC NC AGM
EEy EE BRZEY hzeg L4288 RKRREEXRT
EDs HITEE
Mr. LIU Xianfu R ERBAE 4/4 - - 1/1 11
Dr. LI Gang ZHIE L 4/4 - - - 11
Mr. YAU Hang Tat Andrew ERiEZE S 4/4 - - - 11
Mr. YIN Jian (Note 1) FESEA (HfaET) 1/4 - - - -
Ms. ZHAO Jianli (Note 2) HMERw I (Wat2) 3/4 - - - 11
Mr. ZHANG Zheng RIESAE 4/4 - - - 11
NEDs FEHITESE
Dr. YEN Gordon wmEWIEL 4/4 - - - 11
Mr. TAO Yongming P oK #% S A 4/4 - il - 11
INEDs BUIFHITESE
Mr. NG Kwok Tung RERRE S 4/4 4/4 il - 11
Mr. YING Wei FEESE 4/4 - 1/1 1/1 11
Mr. Wiliam LAM MER A 4/4 4/4 - 1/1 11
Mr. WONG Kwong Chi T2 idE 4/4 4/4 - - 11
Date of the meetings g HE 22/03/2024 08/01/2024 22/03/2024 31/10/2024 21/06/2024

21/06/2024 15/03/2024 Note 3 Note 4

23/08/2024 08/07/2024 Kiz3 Hiata

15/11/2024 16/08/2024
Notes: F5E -

1. Mr. YIN Jian was appointed as an ED with effect from 1 September 2024.

2. Ms. ZHAO Jianli was resigned as an ED with effect from 1 September 2024.

1.

2.

3. During the Year, apart from the meeting held on 22 March 2024, written resolutions 3.
had also been circulated and passed by all the RC members on 3 occasions, which

were dated 14 June 2024, 9 August 2024 and 8 November 2024, respectively.

4. During the Year, apart from the meeting held on 31 October 2024, written 4.
resolutions had also been circulated and passed by all the NC members on 3
occasions, which were dated 12 March 2024, 14 June 2024 and 9 August 2024,

respectively.
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Training of Directors

All Directors have been given relevant guideline materials regarding the duties
and responsibilities as a Director as well as relevant laws, rules and regulations
applicable to the Directors, the duty of disclosure of interest and the business
of the Group and induction materials will also be provided to newly appointed
Directors shortly upon their appointment as Directors.

All Directors have been updated from time to time on the latest developments
and changes in the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements
to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices.

Each of the Directors has confirmed that he had complied with code provision
C.1.4 of the CG Code on Directors’ training. Throughout the Year, each
of the Directors named below has participated in continuous professional
development by attending seminars/in-house briefing/reading materials on the
following topics to develop and refresh his knowledge and skills and provided a
record of training to the Company:

Name of Directors Topics of Training covered (Notes)

EDs

Mr. LIU Xianfu (@), (b) and (c)
Dr. LI Gang (@), (b) and (c)
Mr. YAU Hang Tat Andrew (@), (b) and (c)
Mr. YIN Jian (@), (b) and (c)
Mr. ZHANG Zheng (@), (b) and (c)
Ms. ZHAO Jianli (@), (b) and (c)
NEDs

Dr. YEN Gordon (@), (b) and (c)
Mr. TAO Yongming (@), (b) and (c)
INEDs

Mr. NG Kwok Tung (@), (b) and (c)
Mr. YING Wei (@), (b) and (c)
Mr. William LAM (@), (b) and (c)
Mr. WONG Kwong Chi (@), (b) and (c)

Notes:

(@)  corporate governance
(o)  regulatory requirements or risk management
(c) finance or business operation/management

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage in respect of
potential legal action against the Directors and officers.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
(THE “CEQ”)

Since 1 April 2023, Mr. LIU Xianfu, the Chairman and an ED, has taken up
the position of CEO of the Company, details of which were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 31 March 20283. This deviates from code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, which stipulates that the roles of the chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. However, having considered the current status of
the Group, vesting the roles of both Chairman and CEO in the same person
enables the Group to plan its overall strategy more efficiently and achieve the
budgeted target. The Board believes that the balance of power and authority
under this arrangement is adequately ensured by the Board which comprises
experienced, professional and high caliber individuals with a sufficient number
thereof being INEDs.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the existing NEDs and INEDs were appointed for a specific term. Each of the
NEDs and INEDs has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for
a term of one year, subject to renewal, retirement by rotation and re-election at
the general meetings of the Company in accordance with the Articles.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received, from each of the existing INEDs, an annual written
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Board considers that all the INEDs are independent and at least one of them
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise in accordance with Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”) as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. In response to the specific enquiries made by the Company on
all Directors, they have confirmed that they had complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the Year.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board currently has established three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee,
each with specific terms of reference. Their terms of reference have been
reviewed and approved by the Board and are updated by reference to the
CG Code from time to time. The terms of reference of each of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
have been posted on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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During the Year, these committees adhered to their principles, procedures and
arrangements set out in their respective terms of reference. The respective
committee secretaries took full minutes of the meetings of these committees
and the work of each of these committees was reported to the Board regularly.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms of
reference for the purposes of reviewing and providing supervision over the
Company’s financial reporting process, risk management and internal control
systems. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee were revised and
effective on 1 January 2019. The principal duties of the Audit Committee are to
consider the appointment and remuneration of the external auditors, to monitor
the integrity of the Group’s financial statements with a focus on the changes
in accounting policies and practices, major judgmental areas, significant audit
adjustments, going concern assumptions, and compliance with accounting
standards, the Listing Rules and other applicable legal requirements, and to
review the Group’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems.

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprises three
INEDs, namely Mr. NG Kwok Tung, Mr. William LAM and Mr. WONG Kwong
Chi, and is chaired by Mr. NG Kwok Tung.

The Audit Committee held 4 meetings during the Year and details of the
attendance are shown in the table on page 39 of this annual report. A summary
of the work of the Audit Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

° provided recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of
independent auditor, and approved the audit fee and the terms of
engagement of the independent auditor;

° reviewed and monitored the independent auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
applicable standards, and discussed with the independent auditor before
the audit commenced, the nature and scope of the audit and the reporting
obligations;

° reviewed the financial statements, interim report and annual report as well
as significant financial reporting judgments contained in them;

e reviewed the financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems;
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e discussed the risk management and internal control systems with
management to ensure that the management had performed its duty
to have effective systems. Such discussion included the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs and
budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

e to consider major investigation findings on risk management and internal
control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and for
the management’s response to these findings;

e ensured co-ordination between the internal and external auditors, and
ensured that the internal audit function was adequately resourced and had
appropriate standing within the Company, and reviewed and monitored its
effectiveness;

e reviewed the financial and accounting policies and practices; and

e reviewed the independent auditor’s management letter, any material
queries raised by the independent auditor to management regarding
the accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and
management’s response.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR FOR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge the responsibilities for preparing the financial
statements of the Company. They were not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The independent auditor’s
statement about its reporting responsibilities is set out on pages 72 to 79 of
this annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, the fees paid/payable to SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited,
the Group’s existing independent auditor in respect of audit services for
the Year amounted to approximately HK$2,641,000, the non-audit services
mainly consisted interim review of HK$350,000 and The State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council’s report of
HK$550,000, respectively.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with written terms
of reference and its principal duties are 1) to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board at least annually; 2) to identify and recommend
suitably qualified candidates as new Director(s) or to fill Board vacancies as
they arise for the approval of the Board; 3) to assess the independence of the
INEDs; and 4) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular
the Chairman and the CEO.

EEERRS @)

s HERENREAREERABEIERY
THREEEEBRTHERIBVMNA
o ARAET R BIE A A BB M BRI AE
FEHER BT ZERKRER FlRE
REMBAEEETE

s IPWNEEFENZI AEMAREE
EARGEEEENEEREERKEERE
ijDﬁénD%E}J@E TTEHP‘L )

o MERABIAMINBIZEENE LTRSS EIHE
REERAEREZINBEE R A B A EE B
BREF LERBERMA ; UIRES

ERANEEZENERIL ;

s REAMBRIGSHTHRKRED &

s BEBIUZHMBREEENEZIBERRE
R~ IB I AZ AT R & ST EC B Hﬁ%ﬁﬁ@

FEERGAEEERENEMNEKRRER
K EIRERICIfE -

EFRZHBMHEMBHREROEE

EFNEHARREARDMBHRERNEME -E
FUANBERNEFAAENAERRGERESE
BECEZERENBREARBZEHNERZ
ERERTHAMAR - BULBMERARE
R EERNEREIINAERFET2ET9R -

ER G

RAREE > RMBARBEEN BN FTEERZ
REBIUZBEAF ST (FE) AR
FraRAB ZE R A2,641,000587T » JIEIZE
R E E GRS R A350,000%8 5T B 7

FREEEEEEEEZE GRS H550,0007%
TEO
RLEET

FRBERIRLEZEG ITRASHBES
EE ETIEZRMECE) ELESERTESFS
RE NBRAN 2) MERELEERA
ITHRAESTEMMENEMESTTEHROA
BEOMEBFEHE 3 ARBUFATESEN
B R4 MEFZERE -EMEERES
THREIERTBAHZEEHE NEFE
RHEER-

43



44

Fountain Set (Holdings) Limited

Annual Report 2024

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
EEERRE (B

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee comprises an
ED, Mr. LIU Xianfu, and two INEDs, namely Mr. YING Wei and Mr. William LAM,
and is chaired by Mr. LIU Xianfu.

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the Year and details of the
attendance are shown in the table on page 39 of this annual report. A summary
of the work of the Nomination Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

made recommendations to the Board and determined the policy on
the appointment and re-appointment of Directors and assessed the
independence of the INEDs;

identify and recommend suitably qualified candidates as new Director(s) or
to fill Board vacancies as they arise for the approval of the Board;

reviewed the policy of diversity of the Board; and

reviewed the size, structure and diversity of the Board, and assessed the
balance of skills and experience of the Board as expedient with a diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the business of the
Group.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the appointment
of Directors (including an INED) in accordance with the following procedures
and process:

The Nomination Committee will, giving due consideration to the current
composition and size of the Board, develop a list of desirable skills,
perspectives and experience at the outset to focus the search effort;

The Nomination Committee may consult any source it considers
appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable candidates, such as referrals
from existing Directors, advertising, recommendations from a third party
agency firm and proposals from the Shareholders with due consideration
given to the criteria which include but are not limited to:

(@) Diversity in the aspects of, amongst others, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service;

(b) Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of available
time and relevant interest;

(c) Qualifications, including accomplishment and experience in the
relevant industries in which the Group’s business is involved;
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(d) Independence;
(e) Reputation for integrity;

()  Potential contributions that the individual can bring to the Board; and

(9) Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it considers
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such as
interviews, background checks, presentations and third party reference
checks;

The Nomination Committee will consider a broad range of candidates who
are in and outside of the Board’s circle of contacts;

Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the Nomination
Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to, if
thought fit, approve the recommendation to the Board for appointment;

The Nomination Committee will provide the relevant information of the
selected candidate to the Remuneration Committee for consideration of
the remuneration package of such selected candidate;

The Nomination Committee will thereafter make the recommendation to
the Board in relation to the proposed appointment, and where a Director is
considered, the Remuneration Committee will make the recommendation
to the Board on the policy and structure for the remuneration;

The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be interviewed by
the members of the Board, who are not members of the Nomination
Committee and the Board will thereafter deliberate and decide the
appointment as the case may be; and

All appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing of the consent
to act as Director of the relevant Director (or any other similar filings
requiring the relevant Director to acknowledge or accept the appointment
as Director, as the case may be) to be filed with the relevant regulatory
authorities, if required.
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POLICY OF DIVERSITY OF THE BOARD

The Company has adopted a policy of diversity of the Board (the “Policy”).
The criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee in considering whether
the relevant personnel are suitable as Directors include their qualifications,
experience, expertise, skills, knowledge, ethnicity, age, cultural background and
so on in view of the provisions of the Listing Rules and the particulars of the
Policy as adopted by the Board are summarised as follows:

Purposes:

1. toincrease diversity at the level of the Board;

2. to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and the quality of its
performance; and

3. to support the attainment of strategic objectives/plan and sustainable and
balanced development of the Group.

After Ms. ZHAO Jianli’s resignation on 1 September 2024, the Company has
a single-gender board and does not meet the requirements under Rule 13.92
of the Listing Rules. However, the Board is happy to announce that Ms. ZHOU
Jing has been appointed on 1 April 2025 as a NED of the Company. The
Company has complied with Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules.

The company aims to achieve board diversity by considering various
aspects such as gender, age, culture, educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge, industry experience, and regional experience.
The Nomination Committee will evaluate candidates based on these criteria
to complement the corporate strategy and achieve board diversity before
making recommendations to the Board. The Group will timely review the
gender diversity of the Company’s workforce in accordance with the business
development.

Measurable Objectives

The optimum composition of the Board will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, regional and industry experience, skills,
knowledge and other experience of the Directors. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidate(s) will bring to the
Board.
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For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the following
measurable objectives were adopted:

1. The Company should comply with the requirements on board composition
in the Listing Rules from time to time.

2. The number of INEDs should be not less than three and one-third of the
Board.

3. At least one of the INEDs must have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

4. At least one Director should be the professional or have intensive
experience of the industry on which the business of the Group is.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference and its principal duties are 1) to make recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration policy for all Directors; 2) to review
and approve the Group’s remuneration policy proposed by the CEO and
make recommendations to the Board; and 3) to review and approve the
management’s remuneration and incentive assessment indicators proposals
by reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives. The Group’s
remuneration policy is to provide a competitive level of remuneration in
accordance with current market conditions to attract and motivate the
Directors and staff for their contribution.

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee comprises a
NED Mr. TAO Yongming, and two INEDs, namely Mr. NG Kwok Tung and Mr.
YING Wei, and is chaired by Mr. YING Wei.

The Remuneration Committee has convened 1 meeting during the Year and
details of the attendance are shown in the table on page 39 of this annual
report. A summary of the work of the Remuneration Committee during the Year
is set out as follows:

e made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment and assessed
their performance;

o reviewed and approved the management’s remuneration and incentive
assessment indicators proposals by reference to the Board’s corporate
goals and objectives; and

e  ensured that no Director or any of the respective associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. The risk management and internal control
systems employed by the Group are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve the business objectives of the Group, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material and/
or financial misstatement or loss. The Board is also responsible for evaluating
and determining the risk related to the Group’s environmental, social and
governance (“‘ESG”) reporting (‘ESG Report”) and ensuring that appropriate
and effective ESG risk management is in place. Details of the ESG risk
management system will be disclosed in the Company’s ESG Report. The
Board has delegated the Audit Committee the following duties:

1. to review the Company'’s financial controls, risk management and internal
control systems;

2. 1o discuss the risk management and internal control systems with
management to ensure that the management has performed its duty
to have effective systems. This discussion should include the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs and
budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

3. where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-ordination between
the internal and external auditors, and to ensure that the internal audit
function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the
Company, and to review and monitor its effectiveness; and

4. to consider major investigation findings on risk management and internal
control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and the
management’s response to these findings.

The Company has established the Internal Audit Department (the “IAD”) and
the CEO Office to manage the internal control and risk management issues of
the Group respectively. The CEO Office reports to both the AC and the CEOQ,
while the IAD reports only to the AC.

The AC and the CEO report to the Board periodically regarding material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and other risk
issues of the Group identified by the AC and the CEO from time to time. The
Board, through the AC, reviews risk management and internal control matters
approximately once every six months. The Board and the AC are satisfied with
the effectiveness of the Company’s procedure for financial reporting.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The IAD is responsible for the internal control matters of the Group and
currently comprises 3 staff members. It is governed by an internal audit charter
and has established an internal audit approach for its internal audit function.
The IAD has prepared 13 internal audit reports during the year ended 31
December 2024. The Board has confirmed that IAD had been provided with
adequate resources and budget and comprised qualified staff with sufficient
experience and training programs to perform its internal audit function.

The missions of the IAD are:

— to evaluate and improve the Group’s risk management, control and
operation processes; and

— to assist the organisation in achieving the best practice, thus becoming
the best managed company.

The IAD is authorised to have unrestricted access to records, personnel, and
physical properties relevant to the performance of audits. Their relevance
depends on the nature and extent of the audits as well as the audit
environment, and is subject to the internal audit guideline on the handling of
sensitive information as endorsed by the AC. The IAD is authorised to directly
and regularly communicate with the senior management and all executives in
individual organisation being audited to discuss its major findings. All personnel
within the Group are required to assert full cooperation any time and in any
place with the IAD necessary to allow it to discharge its responsibilities.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has established a comprehensive risk management framework
(the “Framework”) since 2016. The Framework is to execute the basic risk
management measures in various business sectors such as production,
operation and management, with the aim to (i) develop a group-wide, open and
proactive risk management culture, and (i) safeguard the strategic development
and current business operations of the Group.

The Framework consists of the following concepts:
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The Comprehensive Risk Management Framework
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The Company has also established the guideline for the Framework (the
“Guideline”). According to the Guideline, the risk management function of the
Group is made up of the Board, the AC, the CEO, senior management, the
CEO Office, the IAD and various subsidiaries of the Company.

The Framework is a tri-layer system. The first layer is mainly made up of senior
management and heads of various functional and operational departments of
the Group, who are the key players for minimising potential risks in advance.
The second layer consists of the AC, the CEO and the CEO Office, which
is mainly responsible for the organisation, co-ordination and planning of the
corporate risk management works and monitors the progress of the risk
management works. Thus, the second layer is vital during a risk management
crisis. The third layer is formed by the AC and the IAD to review and audit
the existing operation flow such as information system, business flow and
financial disclosure. The third layer is often the key to mitigate risk factors in the
aftermath of a risk management crisis.
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The following diagram displays the relationship and interaction among the three ~ FEIFER T E2R3B 2 M BREEKRES) :
layers of the Framework:
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In 2025, the CEO Office will continue to focus on the following risk 20254 > R WA S E R+ TH A E
management issues: BEEE .

1. Continue to strengthen and deepen the risk self-assessment and internal 1. # & 058 R bR B F 5%(H & 7 2T 1E
assessment work; T1E;

2. Set reasonable assessment standards and methods for the impact of risk 2. ¥R [G4ER & 22 E T /5 58
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3. Accelerate the implementation progress of the risk management work. 3. MEREBEEI(EFNEHEE-
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During 2024, the IAD and the CEO Office had reviewed the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group and reported their findings to the
AC. The risk management and internal control systems are reviewed twice
during the Year. There was no significant defect found in respect of the risk
management or internal control system under review. The Board and the AC
are satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group.

INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

The Group has established a policy for ensuring that inside information (the
“Inside Information”) is disclosed to the public in an equal and timely manner
in accordance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The senior management of the Group is to provide timely and accurate
information, to allow the Board to make an informed decision to determine
whether the information is the Inside Information and/or whether the Company
has to disclose such information to the public. Senior management of the
Group must report to the Board and/or the CEO any information they have
which they believe to be the Inside Information and will trigger the Company
to discharge its disclosure duty. The Company Secretary will follow up
accordingly.

The Company Secretary is responsible for disclosing the Inside Information to
the public and/or is authorised to collect any information from any department
and/or employee of the Group in order to help determining whether the alleged
information is Inside Information and/or whether disclosure is required.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate Governance Duties

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties of
the Group, including (a) developing and reviewing the policies and practices
on (i) corporate governance and (i) compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements of the Company; (b) reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of the Directors and senior management;
(c) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and (d) reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the corporate
governance report. The Board has, amongst other matters, reviewed this
corporate governance report, ensuring compliance with the Listing Rules.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. CHENG Wai Han Charmaine (“Ms. CHENG”), the company secretary of the
Company, has continued to perform and discharge the duties of a company
secretary under the Listing Rules.

Ms. CHENG joined the Group in October 2003 and is currently the Deputy
General Manager (Corporate Governance Department of the Group) of
the Company. She has over 25 years of extensive working experience
specialising in company secretarial matters, credit management, investor
relations, corporate affairs and general insurance operation. Ms. CHENG is
a fellow member of each of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and The
Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators) in England. Ms. CHENG obtained a Bachelor
of Commerce degree from Mount Allison University, Canada, an Executive
Master’s degree in Business Administration (EMBA) from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong and a Master of Science degree in Professional Accounting and
Corporate Governance from the City University of Hong Kong. Ms. Cheng was
the first female president of the Alumni Association of the Chinese University of
Hong Kong Executive MBA Program and is currently a director of the Chinese
University of Hong Kong Federation of Alumni Associations. Ms. Cheng is a
member of the fundraising committee for the 2023 Chinese University of Hong
Kong Alumni Day Graduation Commemorative Class. She is also a member of
the Advisory Board of the Hong Kong Breast Cancer Foundation from 2024
to 2026 and a member of the Breast Cancer Support Center Committee
from 2024 to 2026. Ms. CHENG has fulfilled the specified qualifications and
experience under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules and she has received no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules during the Year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Board and the management of the Company endeavour to maintain
a continuing communication with the Shareholders and investors through
various channels, including the Company’s general meetings. Set out below is
a summary of how the Shareholders can convene a general meeting and put
forward proposals at such meetings.

Convening a general meeting

Pursuant to Sections 566 to 568 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”), Shareholder(s)
holding at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders having a
right to vote at general meetings may, by written request authenticated by the
Shareholder(s) making it (the “Written Request”) and sent to the Company,
require the Directors to call a meeting.

The Written Request () must state the general nature of the business to be
dealt with; and (i) may include the text of a resolution that may properly be

moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting.

* For identification purpose only
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The Directors must call a meeting within 21 days after the date on which they
become subject to the requirement of the relevant Shareholder(s) and such
meeting must be held within 28 days after the date of the notice convening the
meeting.

If the Written Request received by the Company identifies a resolution that may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting, the notice of
the meeting must include notice of the resolution. The business that may be
dealt with at the meeting includes a resolution that has been included in such
notice of meeting. If the resolution is to be proposed as a special resolution, the
Directors must include, in the notice of the meeting, the text of the resolution
and specifies the intention to propose the resolution as a special resolution.

If the Directors do not call a meeting as required by the Written Request, the
Shareholders who requested the meeting, or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves call a
general meeting.

The meeting to be called by the Shareholders must be called (i) within
3 months after the date on which the Directors become subject to the
requirement to call a meeting and (i) in the same manner, as nearly as possible,
as that in which that meeting is required to be called by the Directors.

Any reasonable expenses incurred by the Shareholders requesting the
meeting by reason of the failure of the Directors duly to call a meeting must be
reimbursed by the Company.

Procedures to put forward proposals at general meetings

Pursuant to Sections 580 and 582 of the Companies Ordinance, a Shareholder
may request the Company to circulate a statement of not more than 1,000
words with respect to a matter mentioned in any proposed resolution or other
business to be dealt with at any general meeting.

To put forward proposals at the meeting, a Written Request must be made
by () Shareholder(s) holding at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the
Shareholders who have a relevant right to vote on a proposed resolution at the
meeting; or (i) at least 50 Shareholders who have a relevant right to vote on a
proposed resolution at the meeting.

The Written Request must identify the statement to be circulated, and must
be received by the Company at least 7 days before the relevant meeting. The
expenses of circulating such statement must be paid by the Shareholder(s)
who requested the circulation of the statement unless (i) the Company resolves
otherwise or (i) the meeting to which the requests related is an AGM; and
requests sufficient to require the Company to circulate the statement are
received in time to enable the Company to send a copy of the statement at the
same time as it gives notice of the meeting.
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Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders should direct their enquiries in respect of their shareholdings or
change of address or distribution instructions to the Company’s share registrar,
Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited. Shareholders may at any time send
their enquiries to the Board via the Investor Relations Representative of the
Company whose contact details are shown under “Shareholder Information” of
this annual report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding of the
Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company endeavours to
maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through
AGM and other general meetings. The chairman of the Board, all other
members of the Board including INEDs, and the chairmen of all Board
committees (or their delegates) will make themselves available at the AGM to
meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website at
www.fshl.com, where information and updates on the Company’s business
developments and operations, financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are available for public access.

Policies relating to Shareholders

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy to ensure
that Shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately addressed. The policy
is regularly reviewed to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholder communication policy during the year and conclude that it is
effective because some minority shareholders have personally approached the
company and ask for relevant news.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the
Year.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LIU Xianfu (“Mr. LIU”)

Chairman of the Board

Chairman of the Nomination Committee

Aged 59, has been an ED since 28 August 2018 and was re-designated as
a NED on 1 November 2021. He was re-designated from a NED to an ED
and was further appointed as the Chairman of the Board and chairman of
the Nomination Committee on 1 April 2022, and appointed as the CEO on
1 April 2023. Mr. LIU has over 30 years of experience in the textile industry.
Mr. LIU graduated from Anhui University of Finance and Economics (formerly
known as Anhui Finance and Trade College*) in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) in 1987 in professional accounting with a Bachelor’s degree
of Economics. He graduated in finance and obtained a Master’s degree in
Economics from Chinese Academy of Fiscal Sciences (formerly known as The
Research Institute for Fiscal Science) in the PRC in 1990 and an Executive
Master of Business Administration degree from The University of Texas at
Arlington, United States of America (‘USA”) in 2010.

Dr. LI Gang (“Dr. LI”)
Vice President and Executive Director

Aged 46, was appointed as an ED and Vice President on 1 June 2023. Dr.
LI has 11 years of experience in the textile industry, 18 years of experience
in strategic research and planning, strategy implementation and investment
project management. Expertise in strategic development planning and more.
Dr. LI once served two Hong Kong listed companies, China Agri Qils and
Sinochem Fertilizer. He graduated from Hubei University of Technology with
a bachelor’s degree in industrial finance and accounting in 2001, a master’s
degree in economics from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law in
2004, and a master’s degree in economics from Renmin University of China in
2007.
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Mr. YAU Hang Tat Andrew (“Mr. YAU”)

Aged 56, was appointed as an ED on 28 August 2018. Mr. YAU is also
the chief marketing officer of the Group and holds directorships in certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. YAU joined the Group in 1992 and has
over 30 years of experience in the textile industry with extensive experience
in operations and strategic planning. Mr. YAU is also a director of the Hong
Kong General Chamber of Textiles Limited. Mr. YAU graduated from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in
1991 with a Higher Diploma in Textile Technology and subsequently obtained
a Master of Science degree in Textile Engineering from the University of Leeds
in England in 1992. He earned an Executive Master of Business Administration
degree and a Master of Science (MSc) degree in Finance from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 2015 and 2019, respectively.

Mr. YIN Jian (“Mr. YIN”)

Aged 46, graduated from China Agricultural University College of Economics
and Management with a Master’s degree in agricultural economics and
management. Mr. YIN previously worked at China National Cotton Group
Corporation. He has 22 years of experience in administrative management,
strategic investment, and market research, with strong abilities in strategic
planning and business decision-making.

Mr. ZHANG Zheng (“Mr. ZHANG”)

Aged 39, was appointed as an ED on 1 April 2021. Mr. ZHANG graduated
with a Bachelor Degree in Economics from Renmin University of China in
2009, and a Master’s Degree in Economics from Renmin University of China
in 2011. He obtained with the professional qualification of board secretary of
Shenzhen Stock Exchange in 2017. He has adequate knowledge in equity
financing, mergers and acquisitions and fund management. Mr. ZHANG was
the Researcher, Assistant of Fund Manager and Fund Manager of Da Cheng
Fund Management Co., Ltd. between 2011 and 2017.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Dr. YEN Gordon (“Dr. YEN”)
Non-executive Vice Chairman

Aged 55, has been a NED since 31 May 2013 and was further appointed as
the Non-executive Vice Chairman of the Board on 28 August 2018. Prior to
that, he was the Chief Financial Officer of the Group and an ED. He joined
the Group in 1999 and was then promoted to the role of ED in 2004 before
being re-designated as a NED. Dr. YEN is currently the founding managing
partner of Radiant Tech Ventures Limited, an innovation and technology venture
capital firm. Dr. YEN is registered as a responsible officer under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance for Type 9 (asset management) regulated activity. He
serves as an independent non-executive director and a member of the audit
committee and the nomination committee as well as the chairman of the
sustainability committee of Impro Precision Industries Limited, and also serves
as an independent non-executive director and a member of the nomination
committee of Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited, both companies listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Dr. YEN is
a distinguished professor at the City University of Hong Kong; chairman of the
Hong Kong Venture Investment and Business Angel Network; and a Director of
Hong Kong Venture Capital & Private Equity Association (HKVCA). He holds a
Bachelor’s degree in Manufacturing Engineering from Boston University, USA,;
a Master degree in Business Administration from McGill University, Canada
and a Doctorate in Business Administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University.

Mr. TAO Yongming (“Mr. TAO”) (He resigned on 1 April 2025)

Aged 59, was appointed as an ED and a member of the Remuneration
Committee on 28 August 2018 and re-designated from an ED to a NED, and
remain as a member of the Remuneration Committee on 1 April 2022. Mr. TAO
graduated from Renmin University of China with a Bachelor’s degree in Foreign
Trade Accounting in 1987.

Ms. ZHOU Jing (“Ms. Zhou”)

ZHOU Jing, aged 39, graduated from the Law School Beijing Normal University
with a master’s degree in litigation law. Ms. ZHOU have 15 years of legal
work experience. She has extensive experience in corporate legal affairs
management and risk resolution, is familiar with domestic and foreign laws,
regulations, and industry norms.

* For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. NG Kwok Tung (“Mr. NG”)

Chairman of the Audit Committee

Member of the Remuneration Committee

Aged 74, joined the Board in 1993 as an INED, and was then appointed as
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee. Mr. NG is a practising accountant. He holds a Bachelor of
Commerce Degree and a Licentiateship in Accountancy from McGill University,
Canada and a Diploma in Chinese Law from the University of East Asia,
Macao. Mr. NG is a member of each of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, Institute of Chartered Professional Accountants of
British Columbia, Order of Chartered Professional Accountants of Quebec,
The Canadian Institute of Chartered Professional Accountants, The Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong, The Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors and
the Society of Registered Financial Planners in Hong Kong.

Mr. YING Wei (“Mr. YING”)
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
Member of the Nomination Committee

Aged 58, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director, the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee on 1 January 2015. Mr. YING holds a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from the University of San Francisco and a Bachelor's Degree
in Economics from the Zhejiang Gongshang University (formerly known as
Hangzhou Institute of Commerce) in the PRC. He is a non-practising member
of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. For the period from
1989 to 2007, Mr. YING served as an ED and the Vice President of China
Resources Textiles (Holdings) Company Limited. Between 2007 and 2009, he
served as the Vice President of China Water Affairs Group Limited, a company
listed in Hong Kong. From July 2008 to July 2009, he held the position of an
ED and the President of China City Infrastructure Group Ltd. (formerly known
as China Botanic Development Holdings Limited), a company listed in Hong
Kong. From September 2011 to March 2022, Mr. YING was an independent
non-executive director of China Hengtian Lixin International Co., LTD. From
May 2016 to February 2021, he served as a director of Shenzhen listed Giant
Network Group Co., LTD. (formerly known as Chongging New Century Cruises
Co., LTD.). Currently, Mr. Ying is an independent non-executive director of
Zhongsheng Group Holdings Limited, a listed company in Hong Kong. Mr.
YING is also a managing partner of CDH Investments.
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Mr. William LAM (“Mr. LAM”)
Member of the Audit Committee
Member of the Nomination Committee

Aged 66, was appointed as an INED, a member of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee on 9 May 2016. Mr. LAM is a solicitor
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and the Supreme Court
of England and Wales, and a civil celebrant of marriages in Hong Kong. He
graduated from the University of Manchester, England in 1981 with a Bachelor
of Science Degree in Electronics and Electrical Engineering. His major study
included computer design, power transmission and telecommunications.
He is also a member of the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers
(M.LE.E.E)) in USA. After obtaining his Bachelor's Degree, he studied laws
at the Manchester Polytechnic (now known as Manchester Metropolitan
University), England and the College of Law in Chester, England, respectively.
Mr. LAM returned to Hong Kong in 1984 to work in family business of Tai
Sun Company (@ member of The Hong Kong-Kowloon Yarn and Fabrics
Association), and Shing Fung Finance Company Limited, both founded by his
late father Mr. LAM Muk Kwong in 1958 and 1972, respectively. In 1992, Mr.
LAM furthered his studies in laws at the University of Hong Kong and obtained
a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws (PCLL) and was admitted as a solicitor
of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in 1994 and of the Supreme Court of
England and Wales in the following year. In 1999, Mr. LAM founded William
Lam and Company, Solicitors to start his own practice in law. Mr. LAM also
serves in many areas. He is an executive committee member of the Federation
of Hong Kong Guangdong Community Organisations, the founding president
of the University of Manchester Alumni Association of Hong Kong, General
Committee of Yau Yat Chuen Garden City Club Ltd. and a member of the
InnoTech Committee of the Law Society of Hong Kong from 18 January 2005
to 30 September 2020 and was a coopted member of the Chinese Temples
Committee from 2009 to 2015. Mr. LAM are currently the legal advisor of
various organisations, such as the Chamber of the Hong Kong Computer
Industry, the Hong Kong Information Technology Joint Council, the Hong Kong
WEEE Recycling Association, the Hong Kong Society of Medical Professionals,
the Hong Kong Software Industry Association and the Hong Kong New Youth
Energy Think Tank and previously acted as the legal advisor of the Hong Kong
General Chamber of Textiles Limited.
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Mr. WONG Kwong Chi (“Mr. WONG”)
Member of the Audit Committee

Aged 783, has been an INED since 30 June 2021 and was further appointed
as a Member of the Audit Committee since 1 November 2021. Mr. WONG
was an INED from 1998 to 2012. He has extensive experience in the capital
investment market. Mr. WONG is a founding partner and a member of the
investment committee of Whiz Partners Asia Limited and he is the chairman
of the board of directors of Cornwall Medical Holding Company Limited. He
was an executive director of CDC Corporation which is a listed company in
the United States and an executive director of CDC Software Corporation
which is a public company in the United States. He was also an executive
director of China.com Inc. (now known as Sino Splendid Holdings Limited)
and an independent non-executive director of Glory Mark Hi-Tech (Holdings)
Limited and Sinoref Holdings Limited (now known as Cybernaut International
Holdings Company Limited), all of which are listed companies in Hong Kong.
Mr. WONG holds a Bachelor’'s degree of Science in Physics and a Master’s
degree in Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.
Additionally, Mr. WONG served as the former Chairman of the Hong Kong
Venture Capital and Private Equity Association, the former Vice President of
The Hong Kong Electronic Industries Association and the former Vice President
of the Hong Kong Auto Parts Industry Association. He is also a member of the
Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council and the Honorary Advisor of the Hong
Kong Critical Components Manufacturers Association.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHS

The Directors present the annual report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in the textile and garment businesses, including the production
and sale of knitted fabric and garments. Details of the principal activities of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s financial performance for the Year and the financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024 are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 80 to 176 of this annual report. No interim dividend was
declared for the six months ended 30 June 2024. The Board has resolved to
recommend the payment of a final dividend and special dividend of HK1.16
cents and HK4.34 cents per share respectively of the Company (the “Share”)
in respect of the Year (2023: HK3.00 cents per share) to the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) whose names will appear on the register of
members of the Company (the “Register of Members”) on Thursday, 19 June
2025.

Subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company to be held on Friday, 6 June 2025, it is expected that the final
dividend and special dividend will be paid on or about Monday, 30 June 2025.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were as follows:

EDs

Mr. LIU Xianfu (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Dr. LI Gang

Mr. YAU Hang Tat Andrew

Mr. YIN Jian (appointed on 1 September 2024)

Mr. ZHANG Zheng

Ms. ZHAO Jianli (resigned on 1 September 2024)

NEDs

Dr. YEN Gordon (Non-executive Vice Chairman)
Ms. ZHOU Jing (appointed on 1 April 2025)

Mr. TAO Yongming (resigned on 1 April 2025)

INEDs

Mr. NG Kwok Tung
Mr. YING Wei

Mr. William LAM

Mr. WONG Kwong Chi
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According to the Articles, Mr. YAU Hang Tat, Andrew, Dr. Gordon YEN and
Mr. WONG Kwong Chi will retire and being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming AGM. Mr. NG Kwok Tung and Mr. YING Wei
have served as INEDs for more than nine years. The Nomination Committee
of the Company believes that both Mr. NG Kwok Tung and Mr. YING Wei have
demonstrated their integrity and independence in their appointed positions
and contributions to the Board, providing independent judgment and fresh
perspectives to the company’s affairs, unaffected by their length of service. The
Board is confident that their in-depth understanding of the Group’s business
and their extensive experience and professional knowledge will continue to
make significant contributions to the Board.

The independence of INEDs has been assessed by the Company’s Nomination
Committee. The Company has also received annual confirmations regarding
their independence, as per the independence guidelines under Listing Rule
3.13. The Board confirms that all Independent Non-Executive Directors of the
Company are independent individuals.

As at 31 December 2024, no Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM had a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 56 to 61 of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”), which were required to be: (a) notified
to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), (b) recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO (the “Register”), or (c)
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules” and the “Model Code”, respectively), were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares:
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Number of Approximate %
Name of Directors Capacity Nature of Interests Shares Held Total of the Issued Shares
o WG
EENY &1 REEiE 17 R AR AR {7 B my  ERTREESHL
Dr. YEN Gordon Beneficial owner Personal interest 8,380,000 8,380,000 0.68
BEREL BHEBA BARER
Mr. YAU Hang Tat Andrew Beneficial owner Personal interest 2,508,000
miEgERs BHEBA B AR
2,888, 24
Spouse’s interests Family interest 380,000 888,000 0
kB#m RiEEm (Note) (H1&2)
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Note:  Mr. YAU Hang Tat Andrew is deemed to be interested in 380,000 Shares held by

his spouse under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which
(@) had been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
(b) were recorded in the Register, or (c) had been notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than a Director or the
chief executive of the Company)/entities had interests and short positions in
the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the register of interests of
the substantial shareholders required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO (the “Substantial Shareholders’ Register”).

Long positions in the Shares:
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Name of Number of Approximate %
Substantial Shareholders Capacity Nature of Interests Shares Held Total of the Issued Shares
81k
TERRLE &1 EutE RFERMEE my  ERORMESL
COFCO Corporation (‘COFCO”) Interest of controlled Corporate interest 485,092,000 485,092,000 39.60
TiEEEERAT ((HiE) corporations EERER (Notes 1 and 2)
EEIEENER Wizt1%2)
Chinatex Corporation Limited Interest of controlled Corporate interest 485,092,000 485,092,000 39.60
(“Chinatex’) corporations EERER (Notes 1and 2)
FEPHEBERAT (TH4)) EEIEENER Mz1ke)
Chinatex Yieldfull Investment Co., Ltd.  Beneficial owner Personal interest 409,036,000 409,036,000 33.39
(*Yieldful’) EaBEA BA R
FHREREERERAR
(B2
Mr. SUN Weiting (‘Mr. SUN”) Interest of controlled Corporate interest 211,966,000 211,966,000 17.30
BEEEE (BREE) corporations EERR (Note 3)
EHEENER r&#3)
Ms. CHEN Lingfen (“Ms. CHEN") Interest of controlled Corporate interest 211,966,000 211,966,000 17.30
BRALL (BLL)) corporations LB R (Note 3)
EH R ER Hr3)
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Shares as beneficial owner. Tin Shing is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Huafu HK Co. Limited (‘Huafu HK”). Huafu HK is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Shenzhen Huafu Import and Export Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen
Huafu”) and Shenzhen Huafu is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Huafu
Fashion. Huafu Fashion is owned as to 29.50% by Huafu Holding and
Huafu Holding is owned as to 50% by each of Mr. SUN and Ms. CHEN.
Therefore, each of Huafu HK, Shenzhen Huafu, Huafu Fashion, Huafu
Holding, Mr. SUN and Ms. CHEN is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by Tin Shing under the SFO.

Name of Number of Approximate %
Substantial Shareholders Capacity Nature of Interests Shares Held Total of the Issued Shares
s
TERRLHE &1ip Eunity RFERMEE my  BRORMESL
Huafu Holding Co., Ltd. (‘Huafu Interest of controlled Corporate interest 211,966,000 211,966,000 17.30
Holding”) corporations EEER (Note 3)
EYERARAR (EZER) EHEERN R (Wz3)
Huafu Fashion Co., Ltd. Interest of controlled Corporate interest 211,966,000 211,966,000 17.30
(‘Huafu Fashion”) corporations EEER (Note 3)
EYRERNERAH EHZBRER (Wz3)
(EEZBEH))
Mr. HA Chung Fong (‘Mr. HA") Beneficial owner Personal interest 100,176,948 100,176,948 8.18
BIERE (B54) BHEAA B A
Ms. TANG Kuen Mui ("Ms. TANG) Spouse’s interests Family interest 100,176,948 100,176,948 8.18
Wi (e L) [ Yo XD (Note 4)
(Hiet4)
* For identification purpose only < (EEEF
Notes: Wzt
Yieldfull is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Chinatex and Chinatex is a 1. REZFHERAEKRL  BLATH2E
wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO. Therefore, each of Chinatex and WEAR  MAFRATFENZERBA
COFCO is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Yieldfull under BloAlL FHRPESBRGEEER
the SFO. SPTERRD 2 e o
As at 31 December 2024, Chinatex (H.K.) Holding Limited (‘Chinatex 2. IR#EFEHKREEEAG > 112024F 12531
(H.K.)") held 76,056,000 Shares as beneficial owner. Chinatex (H.K.) is B4 (B8 ERBERAE (T4 (F
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Chinatex and Chinatex is a wholly-owned #) 1) 3 576,056,00008 8810 (EABHE
subsidiary of COFCO. Therefore, each of Chinatex and COFCO is deemed BAN) othth (FA) AR 22EWER
to be interested in the Shares held by Chinatex (H.K.) under the SFO. Bl MmArpRlATREZZEBERBRE -
> P RFREESEWRIEREE TS (B
) PRI z #eam o
Hong Kong Tin Shing Trading Limited (“Tin Shing”) held 211,966,000 3. T EHAXMEBZER AT (TXpy) FE

211,966,000 217 ((EAEmEB A) °
FRASABEZERAR (EBEH) 2
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4. Ms. TANG, spouse of Mr. HA, is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by Mr. HA under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors were
not aware of any persons (other than a Director or the chief executive of
the Company) who/entities which had any interests and short positions in
the Shares and underlying Shares, which were recorded in the Substantial
Shareholders’ Register.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the Year was the Company, or
its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate and no such arrangements subsisted as at 31 December 2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of
the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain
or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office. Such provision was
in force during the course of the Year and remained in force as of the date of
this report.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors and officers liability insurance
in respect of relevant legal actions against the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this
Directors’ Report below and note 42 to the consolidated financial statements,
no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business, to which the Company, or its holding companies, or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or
an entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted as at 31 December 2024 or at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The names of all directors who have served on the boards of the subsidiaries
of the Company during the Year or during the period from 1 January 2025 to
the date of this Directors’ Report are available on the Company’s website at
www.fshl.com.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements, there
was no contract of significance (whether for the provision of services to the
Group or not) in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any controlling shareholders (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year
or at any time during the Year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s independent auditor was engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions (as defined in the Listing Rules)
(the “Continuing Connected Transactions”) in accordance with the Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”
and by reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The independent auditor
has issued a letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the
Continuing Connected Transactions disclosed by the Group in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules. A copy of the independent auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange. The information in relation to the Continuing
Connected Transactions entered into during the Year is set out in note 42(c) to
the consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s independent auditor has confirmed that all of the Continuing
Connected Transactions (a) had been approved by the Board; (b) were in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group, where applicable; (c) had
been entered into in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing
the transactions; and (d) had not exceeded the respective cap amounts in
respect of each of the Continuing Connected Transactions.

The INEDs have also reviewed the Continuing Connected Transactions and
confirmed that the same had been entered into by the Group:

(i)  inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the Group

than terms available to or from independent third parties; and

(i) in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing such
transactions that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

Save for the transactions disclosed in note 42(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, none of the related party transactions disclosed in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted a one-off connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements for all the one-off
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions (as the case may
be) in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, the Company had not redeemed its listed securities, nor did
the Company or any of its subsidiaries purchase or sell any of such securities.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual written
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considered that all the INEDs meet the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with
the terms of the guidelines.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the employees (including key management) of the
Group was established by the management of the Group on the basis of their
merit, qualifications and competence. The Remuneration Committee will review
and approve the remuneration policy to be recommended to the Board for
approval.

The remuneration of each of the Directors is reviewed and recommended by
the Remuneration Committee to the Board for approval, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics. None of the Directors or executives, or any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), is involved in dealing with his own
remuneration.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the dividend policy, provided the Group is profitable and without
affecting the normal operations of the Group, the Company may consider to
declare and pay dividends to the Shareholders. In deciding whether to propose
a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into
account, inter alia: () the general financial condition of the Group; (i) capital
and debt level of the Group; (i) future cash requirements and availability for
business operations, business strategies and future development needs; (iv)
any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the Group’s
lenders; (v) the general market conditions; (vi) the interests of the Shareholders;
and (vii) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors or their respective associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) had any interest in any business (apart from the Group’s
business) which competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

UPDATE ON THE DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER
RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, changes in the information of
the Directors since the date of the 2024 interim report of the Company required
to be disclosed in this annual report are as follows:

—  Mr. YIN Jian was appointed as ED of the Company with effect from
1 September 2024.

- Ms. ZHAO Jianli was resigned as ED of the Company with effect from
1 September 2024.

-  Ms. ZHOU Jing was appointed as NED of the Company with effect from 1
April 2025.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts (except for the EDs’ service contracts) concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed during the Year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was more than 30% of the total revenue for the Year.

During the Year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers was less than 30% of the total purchases for the Year.

None of the Directors nor any of their close associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) owns more than 5% of the number of issued Shares) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and/or five largest suppliers during
the Year.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made no charitable and other donations (2023:
HK$10,000).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 35 to 55 of this annual
report.

EEEE(%E)HRLE  2024FF#K

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)
EEERE @

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company during the
Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

From the information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public
float of not less than 25% of the issued Shares throughout the Year and the
period thereafter up to the date of this Directors’ Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE’S REVIEW

The Company has established an audit committee of the Board (the “Audit
Committee”) for the purposes of reviewing and providing supervision over the
Company’s financial reporting process, internal controls and risk management.
The Audit Committee presently comprises three INEDs, and one of the
INEDs acts as the chairman of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee
has reviewed the audited consolidated final results as well as the systems
of internal control and risk management of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year have been
audited by SHINEWING, who will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for
re-appointment at the 2025 AGM. A resolution will be proposed to the
Shareholders at the 2025 AGM to re-appoint SHINEWING as the independent
auditor.

On behalf of the Board

LIU Xianfu
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
21 March 2025
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PARTICULARS OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
REVMZEFR

Particulars of investment properties held by the Group at 31 December 2024 are as follows:

12024128310 AEBREVENFBNT ¢

The Group’s
Location Lease Use effective interest

2 HEFH R® FERBERED

Unit A2 on 5/F,, & Unit A1 on 7/F,, Medium-term leases Warehouse and office 100%
Eastern Sea Industrial Building, FREATEE BEEKRBAE

29-39 Kwai Cheong Road, Kwai Chung,

New Territories, Hong Kong

BRI AR S 1829-395%

HETEKE

SIBA2E RTIBA1E

Office Units A3801, 03, 05, 06, 08-10 and 12, Medium-term land use rights Office 100%
Block A, United Plaza, Futian District, FRER L E AR WAE

Shenzhen, the PRC

R BRI T A E (& 0B R 8 SR FH R A PR B

B e EIBARIEE

A3801, 03, 05, 06, 0810112

Factory Nos. 3 (Phase 1), 5, 6, 9 and 11, Medium-term land Factory and office 55.5%
Factory Nos. 3 (Phase 2), 1, 2, 12 and 13 (Phase 3), use rights BERRAE
Factory Nos. 4, 14, 15, 16 and 17 (Phase 4) and FRER L R A

portion of bare land,

No 66-68, Danxia Road,

Xiangshan Industry Zone,

Ningbo, Zhejiang Province, the PRC

FEMIEEEMRUBRIXRE

3 £2 B566-685%

FR&M3 (1588) ~5~6~ 9K 1158/ =

BE& A3 (288) ~ 1~ 2~ 12135 (3HR) K= -

PR P4~ 141516517 (480) =

DU BB 53 2 1t

Portion of Dormitory No. 3, Medium-term land Dormitory 55.5%
No 66-68, Danxia Road, use rights BE

Xiangshan Industry Zone, FREA 5 A A

Ningbo, Zhejiang Province, the PRC

FEMIEEETRUBRTEXRE

£ 22 E266-6855 /R & A3 A 0B =

A pier located at west port dike of Baiqu Port, Medium-term land Pier 100%
near No. 9 Xiaoshan Road, High-tech Zone, use rights hEEE

Jiangyin, Jiangsu Province, the PRC FRHA 4 3 s PR A
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B RET R S

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
17/F, Chubb Tower, Windsor House,
311 Gloucester Road,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

TO THE MEMBERS OF FOUNTAIN SET (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Fountain Set
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”)
set out on pages 80 to 176 which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“‘HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“‘HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment of inventories
Refer to notes 4(g) and 19 to the consolidated financial statements

A degree of substandard products is typically produced during the normal
course of the Group’s production process. Moreover, inventories of the Group
will become aged and/or obsolete in the absence or cancellation of orders. The
Group maintains a sophisticated information technology system to keep track
of the aging and utilisation of inventories and materials regarded as wastage for
the estimation of net realisable value.

Based on the utilisation of inventories which became wastage and long-aged,
the Group made an accumulated provision of HK$141,827,000 as at year end
by reference to estimated net realisable values of inventories.

We identified the impairment of inventories as a key audit matter because
the estimates of net realisable values and how materials are regarded as
wastage on which this impairment entailed a significant degree of management
judgement.

Our response:

We performed audit procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of inventories which included:

— obtaining an understanding of the key procedures implemented by
management in estimating the net realisable values of inventories and
allowance for inventories and performing periodic reviews of inventory
obsolescence;

— evaluating the methodology and key assumptions adopted by
management in estimating the net realisable values and discussing them
with management;

— challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions based on our
knowledge of the business and industry;

—  checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and relevance of the input data
used by management in capturing the aging and utilisation of inventories
and estimate the net realisable values of those inventories; and

—  Testing the subsequent utilization and sales, on a sample basis, to source
documents.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
Bz HEmERE (@)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, investment
properties and right-of-use assets

Refer to notes 4(m), 13, 14 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group had property, plant and equipment, investment properties and
right-of-use assets for its production and sales of dyed fabrics and yarns
located in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Hong Kong with
carrying amount to approximately HK$890,691,000, HK$23,933,000 and
HK$154,716,000 respectively, which constituted a significant portion of total
assets as at 31 December 2024. Property, plant and equipment, investment
properties and right-of-use assets are subject to impairment assessment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable.

Management reviews the financial performance of the subsidiaries for its
production and sales of dyed fabrics at the end of each reporting period to
identify if an impairment indicator exists.

Where indicators of impairment are identified, management identifies the
relevant cash-generating units (“CGU”) to which these property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and right-of-use assets belong and estimates
the recoverable amounts of these CGUs based on the fair value less costs
of disposal and value-in-use calculation, whichever is higher. Based on the
results of the assessment conducted, management determined that due
to higher value-in-use than carrying amounts of the CGU and higher fair
value less costs of disposal than carrying amounts of land and buildings and
investment properties, there is no impairment on the Group’s property, plant
and equipment, investment properties and right-of-use assets during the year
except for the impairment loss of HK$15,430,000 for the idle equipment, plant
and machineries.

We identified the impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment,
investment properties and right-of-use assets for its production and sales
of dyed fabrics as a key audit matter due to the significance of the carrying
amounts of property, plant and equipment, investment properties and right-
of-use assets and significance of management judgements adopted in the
key assumptions used in the impairment assessment, such as annual revenue
growth rate and discount rate.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, investment
properties and right-of-use assets (continued)

Our response:

We performed audit procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment, investment properties and right-
of-use assets which included:

- meeting with management and reviewing board minutes and other papers
to understand the Group’s latest operating and relocation plans;

— assessing management’s identification of assets which are unlikely to
be deployed in economic service in the future, and evaluating their
recoverable amount;

— evaluating the management’s identification of the idle property, plant and
equipment if any production capacity during the year or afterwards and
assess the production capacity of those have been reallocated to other
factories within the same CGU during the year;

—  inspecting physically, on a sample basis, the condition of idle equipment,
plant and machineries and considering the reasonableness of relevant
impairment loss;

— assessing management’s identification of the CGUs and the allocation of
assets to the CGUs for the purpose of impairment assessment;

—  for those CGU where there was an impairment indicator, assessing the
appropriateness of the methodology used by the management and
independent valuer in determining the recoverable amount of the relevant
CGy;

— comparing the forecast operating results prepared in the prior year
with the current year's performance of the relevant CGU to assess the
accuracy of management’s historical estimation;

—  checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and relevance of the input
data to supporting evidence, such as approved budgets and considering
the reasonableness of these budgets by comparing the budgets to the
historical results and the market data;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
Bz HEmERE (@)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, investment
properties and right-of-use assets (continued)

Our response: (continued)

—  reviewing the annual revenue growth rate adopted by management and
independent valuer in the discounted cash flow projections by comparing
them with historical performance of the relevant CGU with historical
performance, industry forecasts, external economic data and financial
budget approved by the management;

—  reviewing the discount rate used in determining the recoverable amount of
the relevant CGU by applying a range of estimates to compare discount
rate developed by independent source with the discount rate adopted by
the management and independent valuer;

— evaluating the sensitivity analysis prepared by management and
independent valuer on the key assumptions and inputs of the discounted
cash flow projections to evaluate the extent of such changes to the
recoverable amount;

— involving our external independent valuer to assess the methodology and
significant assumptions including discount rates adopted by management
in its impairment assessments; and

— considering the appropriateness of the relevant disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

Based on our procedures performed, we found the key assumptions and
inputs used by management and independent valuer in the impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment, investment properties and right-
of-use assets were supportable by available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
(continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY
AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
Bz HEmERE (@)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e  obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors of the Company.

e conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the Group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
review of the audit work performed for purpose of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Mr. Lee Shun Ming.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lee Shun Ming

Practising Certificate Number PO7068

Hong Kong, 21 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FeiEmAEMEEEER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #2024 12831 H It F E

2024 2023
Notes [ff5# HK$000 F#&7x  HK$'000 FE7T
Revenue SRR 6 4,426,558 4,440,235
Cost of sales THE A (3,897,147) (4,118,246)
Gross profit EF 529,411 321,989
Other revenue HgA 9a 73,567 87,582
Other gains and losses H e & E5 18 9b (13,713) 277,529
Distribution and selling expenses D MIHEER (92,602) (74,477)
Administrative expenses THER (407,576) (476,389)
Finance costs BLE A AR 7 (13,126) (26,258)
Share of profit of an associate EE—REE=E AT 2 B F 17 1,099 1,152
Profit before income tax expense MREFERZHaZF 77,060 111,128
Income tax expense gz 8 (42,483) (43,284)
Profit for the year EEERF 9c 34,577 67,844
Profit for the year attributable to: ELEEERT :
Owners of the Company KRBJHEB A 14,262 50,903
Non-controlling interests JEPERG R 20,315 16,941
34,577 67,844
HK cents #l HK cents il
Earnings per share SREF
- Basic —HK 12 1.2 4.2
— Diluted —#s 12 1.2 4.2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)
e kEMEEKER (@

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

2024 2023
Notes Kzt HK$’000 F#Ex  HK$'000 FET
Profit for the year EEERA 9c 34,577 67,844
Other comprehensive expense, Hthz2mMAx
net of tax (8RR E)
Item that may be reclassified HEOEEHOEE
subsequently to profit or loss: EEmZIEE .
Exchange differences arising on MEBINEBEE
translation of foreign operations PE 2 =28 (10,719) (4,130)
Other comprehensive expense EEEHEME2EAY
for the year (10,719) (4,130)
Total comprehensive income for EEEZEKREEE
the year 23,858 63,714
Total comprehensive income for EheFEE2EREEE !
the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company KRBHEB A 5,994 47,279
Non-controlling interests JEIERE R 17,864 16,435
23,858 63,714
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

REMBRR

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024 °20245%12H831H

At 31 December

At 31 December

©12831H $12831H
2024 2023
Notes [fifz# HK$'000 F#&x  HK$'000 F#E7T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment properties KREYZE 13 56,692 62,609
Property, plant and equipment e ENN G YA 14 1,175,999 1,202,956
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 191,575 171,364
Other intangible assets HEmEEE 16 29,766 -
Deposit paid for purchase of plant and BEMISRREEN
equipment B E 45 28,215
Interest in an associate R—EBE R B 2w 17 26,018 24,919
Deferred tax assets RIERR TR E 18 38,227 41,969
1,518,322 1,632,032
Current assets TMENEE
Inventories 758 19 784,735 783,908
Trade and bills receivables EENREREWRIE 20 802,069 808,091
Prepayments, deposits and other BNRIE BTk
receivables HAth & U TR IE 21 210,366 370,052
Tax recoverable EEE 1,925 25,862
Restricted bank deposits ZIREIIRTTIER 22 1,726 1,897
Short-term bank deposits XGERIRITIERR 23 380,973 373,870
Bank balances and cash IRITHERKAIRE 23 914,502 1,005,127
3,096,296 3,368,807
Current liabilities mENEE
Trade and bills payables EE SN 24 562,544 651,571
Other payables and accruals HME A RIER & &R 25 268,491 289,962
Contract liabilities SHaE 26 17,150 19,712
Lease liabilities — current portion HEafE-—mRehIn 27 22,350 26,239
Amounts due to non-controlling RIEVERRAR R FIA
shareholders 28a 23,040 37,027
Amount due to an associate R—EHE AT RIE 28b 6,397 5,084
Deferred income — current portion IRIEW A — B R 29 5,470 4,699
Tax payable FE(I IR IR 18,752 21,626
Bank borrowings — due within one year ~ $E{TfEE ——F R EIEA 30 48,795 108,471
972,989 1,165,291
Net current assets REEERE 2,123,307 2,203,516
Total assets less current liabilities EEEBERRBER 3,641,629 3,735,548
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

4= A
i =

BRI (@)

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024 *20245 12831 H

At 31 December

At 31 December

#12831H ®12A831H
2024 2023
Notes [f15F HK$'000 F#E7xT  HK$'000 FET
Non-current liabilities ERBHER
Deferred income — non-current portion EIEWA —FEmENER 29 67,556 67,732
Bank borrowings — due after one year IRTTEE——FRB 2 30 - 91,086
Lease liabilities — non-current portion HEaE-—IJERESHBD 27 111,522 99,234
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEE 18 6,778 8,830
185,856 266,382
Net assets BEERE 3,455,773 3,468,666
Capital and reserves B RKEE
Share capital i 31 889,810 889,810
Reserves (i 2,347,779 2,378,536
Equity attributable to owners of the NN HER AR
Company 3,237,589 3,268,346
Non-controlling interests JEFER = 32 218,184 200,320
Total equity HERAEE 3,455,773 3,468,666

The consolidated financial statements on pages 80 to 176 were approved 580E176B R4z & M 7R KR BF2025F3821
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 March 2025 and are HHEEE@@EBERZEER > THTHESH

signed on its behalf by:

LIU Xianfu
2EE
Director

4

REE !

YAU Hang Tat, Andrew
BR{EE
Director

)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEEDEHR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #2024 12831 H It F E

Attributable to owners of the Company

TARREAES
Non-
Share  Translation Statutory Retained controlling Total
capital reserve reserves earnings Total interefts a equity
K& ERfEE T iR EEEN mE FEREE 0 EGEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS f000 HKS f000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
(note)
i)
At 1 January 2023 20231810 889,810 (63,477 114,361 2,270,373 3,221,067 202,700 3,423,767
Exchange differences arising BEBNEREL Y
on translation of foreign operations ERER - (3,624) - - (3,624) (506) (4,130)
Profit for the year =EERT - - - 50,903 50,903 16,941 67,844
Total comprehensive (expense)fincome  EEE2E ([@%) /
for the year WaiEE - (3,624) - 50,903 47,279 16,435 63,714
Dividend recognised as distribution EREZADRZKE - - - - - (18,815) (18,815)
Transfer from retained earnings HAGRFARE AT GE
to statutory reserves - - 3,077 (3,077) - - -
At 31 December 2023 1?2023E12H31H 889,810 (67,101) 117,438 2,318,199 3,208,346 200,320 3,468,666
Exchange differences arising on BREBNERELE L
translation of foreign operations EREE - (8,268) - - (8,268) (2,451) (10,719)
Profit for the year TEERN - - - 14,262 14,262 20,315 34,517
Total comprehensive (expense)fincome  REE2E %)/
for the year WmiEE - (8,268) - 14,262 5,994 17,864 23,858
Dividend recognised as distribution EEDADRZKE - - - (36,751) (36,751) - (36,751)
Transfer from retained earnings HEERABERE
to statutory reserves ETRE - - 4,808 (4,808) = = =
At 31 December 2024 120245128318 889,810 (65,369) 122,246 2,290,902 3,237,589 218,184 3,455,773

Note:In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the People’s Republic of

Mzt RBAERA R E AR SEME (THREL) SERRER

China (the “PRC”) and Articles of Association of the company incorporated in the
PRC now comprising the Group, i.e. the PRC Operational Entity, it is required
to appropriate 10% of the annual net profits of the PRC Operational Entity, after
offsetting any prior years’ losses as determined under the PRC accounting
standards, to the statutory reserve fund before distributing any net profit. When
the balance of the statutory reserve fund reaches 50% of the registered capital
of the PRC Operational Entity, any further appropriation is at the discretion of
shareholders. The statutory reserve fund can be used to offset prior years’ losses,
if any, and may be capitalised as capital, provided that the remaining balance of the
statutory reserve fund after such issue is no less than 25% of registered capital.

In accordance with the Article 377 of the Commercial Code of Macau Special
Administrative Region, the subsidiary registered under private limited liability
company by quotas in Macau are required to transfer part of their profits of each
accounting period of not less than 25% to statutory reserves, until the amount
reaches half of the respective share capital.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HEHERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & F£2024F12831H It FE

2024 2023
HK$'000 F#&7x  HK$'000 FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES SERE
Profit before income tax expense PRETIEMZ HAI B A 77,060 111,128
Adjustments for: R
Amortisation of deferred income IEIEUT A 2 5 (5,325) (5,208)
Amortisation of other intangible assets HthmP & E 2 i 763 3,015
Depreciation of investment properties KREMEZINE 5,148 5,308
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE 28,867 28,314
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ #38 R B EZ ITE 153,903 171,837
Impairment of property, plant and equipment ME R NREZRE 15,430 -
Finance costs RRE A A 13,126 26,258
Interest income FEUA (27,931) (30,442)
Loss on written-off of investment properties MiHREYEZ K5I8 - 3,552
Gain on disposal/written off of property, plant HE MiEmE - HERRE
and equipment W (2,577) (9,600)
Gain on compensation of land resumption TRz fEEW S - (259,011)
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment loss EEKRERRERWEIEZREERK
recognised on trade and bills receivables, net B, (B0) ERRE 6,115 (13,275)
Gain on lease modification BEER 2 Wi (10,431) (777)
Share of profit of an associate B —EEE A B 2B (1,099) (1,152
Operating profit before working capital EEETEHFIZEERY
changes 253,049 29,949
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEZ gm R (4,973) 143,956
(Increase)/decrease in trade and bills receivables = # KRk ZEEEWHRIEZ (80 R (12,072) 127,726
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and FE{T 3R IE ~ 12 % K At EWZIE >
other receivables L () 30,329 (27,547)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and bills payables &R ZEENHIEZ (R /&0 (77,742) 165,429
Decrease in other payables and accruals HtEI B ESTER
P (21,276) (83,628)
Decrease in contract liabilities s8R (2,562) (1,504)
Increase in amount due to an associate R—REE A B RIBZIG N 413 3,555
Increase/(decrease) in deferred income EIEW A Z 1800 GRy 2L 6,321 (3,748)
Cash generated from operations EEFEZHE 171,487 354,188
Hong Kong profits tax refunded/(paid) BRE (BN FEFER 19,453 (35,619)
Overseas tax paid BEINRIE (39,239) (24,811)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES &iEIEBFBMNIREEE 151,701 293,758

2024 % 85
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

RERERER @

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

2024 2023
Notes M7+ HK$000 F#&7x  HK$'000 FET
NET CASH FROM OPERATING CEEBMRENRERE
ACTIVITIES 151,701 293,758
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KREIEB
Interest received BWFHIE 28,358 30,393
Proceeds from disposal of HEWMZE HER
property, plant and equipment RBFREFAIE 30,711 9,943
Proceeds from land resumption T PR IRRIE 128,930 56,727
Deposit paid for purchase of BEYE KB
property, plant and equipment RENETEE - (10,891)
Purchases of property, plant and BB HBRRE
equipment (164,996) (87,871)
Purchase of other intangible assets BEHMEREE (12,100) -
Decrease in restricted bank deposits ZRREERITEROR D 171 3,560
NET CASH FROM INVESTING KREEBMENREEE
ACTIVITIES 11,074 1,861
FINANCING ACTIVITIES FEIEE
New bank borrowings raised MEEZIRTEER 38 45,639 252,796
Repayment of bank borrowings BRIRTTEE 38 (196,619) (489,962)
Repayment of principal portion of EEREERE
the lease liabilities KD 38 (27,703) (26,888)
Repayment of interest portion of BEREaE
the lease liabilities FEED 38 (6,135) (7,000)
Repayment of amount due to non- BRI R ANIE
controlling shareholders 38 (13,987) -
Interest paid BAFHE 38 (6,966) (20,034)
Dividends paid BRE (36,751) -
Dividends paid to non-controlling BT E FIEERAEE
shareholders - (18,815)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING AMEBEIEERAN
ACTIVITIES REFEE (242,522) (309,903)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
HARERER @
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & E20244 128318 L £

2024 2023
HK$°000 T %71 HK$'000 F BT

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES
ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

HekERREEEH
R E (79,747) (14,284)

REFERBRBNRE R

LRREIER/ 1,378,997 1,393,679
Eﬁiﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬂz%ﬁiﬁﬁ
IHEWHE (8,775) (398)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT

REEERERNEER

THE END OF THE YEAR ERIELIER 1,295,475 1,378,997
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF RERERREBEBEEN

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS: o
Short-term bank deposits FEHRIRITERR 380,973 373,870
Bank balances and cash IRITHEFRRIRE 914,502 1,005,127

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated
statement of cash flows

GERSENERANES R
ZRIFELEH 1,295,475 1,378,997
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG MR AR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #2024 12831 H It F E

1. GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in Hong Kong. Its
issued shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and the principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information to
the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 35.

The directors of the Company consider its immediate parent is Chinatex
Yieldfull Investments Co., Ltd., a company incorporated in Hong Kong, and
ultimate parent is COFCO Corporation, a company established in the PRC
and a state-owned enterprise under the direct supervision and administration
of, and is beneficially owned by, the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council of the PRC.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

(a) Adoption of amendments to HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) which are effective for the Group’s financial
year beginning 1 January 2024
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
the related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Expect as described below, the application of the amendments to HKFRSs
in the current year has had no material effect on the Group’s financial
performance and position for the current and prior periods and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(a) Adoption of amendments to HKFRSs (continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”); and
Amendments to HKAS 1-Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the“2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current, including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify
that a liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an equity
instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 2022
Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from a
loan arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply on or before
the reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current or non-
current. Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that are
subject to the entity complying with future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period.

Upon adoption of the amendments, the Group has reassessed the terms and
conditions of its loan arrangements. The application of the amendments has no
material impact on the classification of the Group’s liabilities.
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A MBRERMEE (B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective

The following new and amendments to HKFRSs have been issued, but are
not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s
current intention is to apply these changes on the date they become effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements®

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:
Disclosures®

Amendments to HKAS 21
Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards
Amendments to HKFRS 10

Lack of Exchangeability!

Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments?

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards — Volume 112

Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent
HKFRS 7 Electricity?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except as described below,
the application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.

HKFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosure Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures in financial
statements and will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements to present specified categories and
defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes to the financial
statements and improve aggregation and disaggregation of information to
be disclosed in the financial statements. Minor amendments to HKAS 7
“Statement of Cash Flows” and HKAS 33 “Earnings per Share” are also made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosure Financial Statements
(continued)

HKFRS 18, and the consequential amendments to other HKFRS Accounting
Standards, will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted.

The application of the HKFRS 18 is not expected to have material impact on
the financial position of the Group. The directors of the Company are in the
process of making an assessment of the impact of HKFRS 18, but is not yet in
a position to state whether the adoption would have a material impact on the
presentation and disclosures of consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments

The amendments include requirements on classification of financial assets
with environmental, social or governance (ESG) targets and similar features;
settlement of financial liabilities through electronic payment systems; and
disclosures regarding investments in equity instruments designed at fair value
through other comprehensive income and financial instruments with contingent
feature.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026. Early adoption is permitted, with an option to early adopt the
amendments for contingent feature only. The directors are currently assessing
the impact of these amendments.
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A MBRERMEE (B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRSs”) and
the provisions of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost basis at the end of each reporting period.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in HKS, which is the same
as the functional currency of the Company.

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(a) Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of
the Company and entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”). Inter-company transactions and balances between group
companies together with unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in
which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
from the dates of acquisition or up to the dates of disposal, as appropriate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those used by other
members of the Group.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests
that represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary is the amount of
those interests at initial recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s share
of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed
to such non-controlling interests even if this results in those non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(b) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to exercise control.
The Company controls an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: (i) power over the investee, (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee, and (ji)) the ability to use its power over
the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s returns. Control is reassessed
whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any
of these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries
are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

(c) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and
that is neither a subsidiary nor a joint arrangement. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee but not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using the equity method whereby they are
initially recognised at cost and thereafter, their carrying amount are adjusted for
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition change in the associates’ net assets
except that losses in excess of the Group’s interest in the associate are not
recognised unless there is an obligation to make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the Group and its
associates are recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests
in the associate. The investor’s share in the associate’s profits and losses
resulting from these transactions is eliminated against the carrying value of the
associate. Where unrealised losses provide evidence of impairment of the asset
transferred, they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of the Group’s share of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised
and included in the carrying amount of the associate. Where there is objective
evidence that the investment in an associate has been impaired, the carrying
amount of the investment is tested for impairment in the same way as other
non-financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A MBRERMEE (B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(d) Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held either to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation or for both, but not held for sale in the ordinary course
of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly
attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any. Depreciation is charged so
as to write off the cost of investment properties net of expected residual value
over the estimated useful live using straight-line method. The useful life, residual
value and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property
when there is a change in use, as supported by observable evidence, any
difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item at the
date of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in properties revaluation reserve. The properties revaluation reserve in
respect of that item will be transferred directly to retained earnings when it is
recognised.

(e) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes (other than
construction in progress and freehold land) are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and the
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties which
includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the buildings elements in proportion
to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the allocation of the
relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the
entire properties are classified as property plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as
a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction in progress and
freehold land) are depreciated so as to write off their cost net of expected
residual value over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
useful lives, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The useful lives are as
follows:

Freehold land Nil
Leasehold land and buildings Shorter of 20-50 years or period of
the lease term

Furniture, fixtures and equipment  3-10 years
Plant and machinery 5-10 years
Motor vehicles 3 /s -5 years
Construction in progress Nil

Freehold land is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment losses. Costs
include any costs directly attributable to bring the asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management, including cost of testing whether the related assets are
functioning properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Sale proceeds of items
that are produced while bringing an item of property, plant and equipment to
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management (such as samples produced when testing
whether the asset is functioning properly), and the related costs of producing
those items are recognised in the profit or loss. No depreciation is provided
for in respect of construction in progress until it is completed and ready for its
intended use.

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if its carrying
amount is higher than the asset’s estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sale proceeds and its carrying amount, and is
recognised in profit or loss on disposal.

(f) Leasing
The Group as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the consolidated statement of
financial position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting
policy choices exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases which
are short-term leases and/or (i) leases for which the underlying asset is of low
value. The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at the commencement date
have a lease term of less than 12 months. The lease payments associated with
those leases have been expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and would comprise:

()  the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability (see below for
the accounting policy to account for lease liability);

(i)  any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any
lease incentives received;

(i) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(f) Leasing (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use asset (continued)

(iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and
removing the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.

The Group measures the right-of-use assets applying a cost model. Under
the cost model, the Group measures the right-of-use assets at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liability.

The Group has leased a number of properties under tenancy agreements which
the Group exercises its judgement and determines that it is a separate class of
assets apart from the leasehold land and buildings which is held for own use.
As a result, the right-of-use assets arising from the properties under tenancy
agreements are carried at depreciated cost.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the lease payments that
are not paid at the date of commencement of the lease. The lease payments
are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be
readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses
the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right to use the underlying asset during the
lease term that are not paid at the commencement date of the lease are
considered to be lease payments:

(i)  fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable;

(i) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

@iy amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees;

(iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain
to exercise that option; and

(v payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects
the lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability
by:

()  increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability;
(i) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; and

(i) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modification, or to reflect revised in-substance fixed lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A MBRERMEE (B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(f) Leasing (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liability (continued)

When the Group revises its estimate of the term of any lease (because, for
example, it re-assesses the probability of a lessee extension or termination
option being exercised), it adjusts the carrying amount of the lease liability to
reflect the payments to make over the revised term, which are discounted
using a revised discount rate. The carrying value of lease liabilities is similarly
revised when the variable element of future lease payments dependent on a
rate or index is revised, except the discount rate remains unchanged. In both
cases, an equivalent adjustment is made to the carrying value of the right-of-
use asset, with the revised carrying amount being amortised over the remaining
(revised) lease term. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is adjusted
to zero, any further reduction is recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms of a lease with the lessor,
if the renegotiation results in one or more additional assets being leased for
an amount commensurate with the standalone price for the additional rights-
of-use obtained, the modification is accounted for as a separate lease, in all
other cases, where the renegotiated increases the scope of the lease (whether
that is an extension to the lease term, or one or more additional assets being
leased), the lease liability is remeasured using the discount rate applicable on
the modification date, with the right-of-use asset being adjusted by the same
amount. The lease liability is then further adjusted to ensure its carrying amount
reflects the amount of the renegotiated payments over the renegotiated term,
with the modified lease payments discounted at the rate applicable on the
modification date and the right-of-use asset is adjusted by the same amount.

The Group as a lessor

The Group has leased out its investment properties to a number of tenants.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Any changes in the scope of the consideration for a lease that was not part
of the original terms and conditions of the lease are accounted for as lease
modifications. The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification, recognising the
remaining lease payments as income on a either a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the remaining lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(g) Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition. Cost is calculated using the first-in first-out method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make
the sale.

(h) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(i) Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost.
Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over their useful lives as

follows. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any

accumulated impairment losses. The amortisation expense is recognised in

profit or loss and included in administrative expenses.

Software Shorter of 5-10 years or period of the
contract term

(i) Impairment

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for impairment when there is an
indication that an asset may be impaired. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication that they may be
impaired. Intangible assets are tested for impairment by comparing their
carrying amounts with their recoverable amounts (see note 4(m)).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the
asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount; however,
the carrying amount should not be increased above the lower of its recoverable
amount and the carrying amount that would have resulted had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. All reversals are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A MBRERMEE (B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

() Financial instruments
(i) Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing
component) is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable
to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing
component is initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the
trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety
when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Financial assets at amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate
method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gains or losses on derecognition is
recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit loss (“ECL”) on trade
and bills receivables, other receivables and other financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The ECLs are measured on either of the following bases: (1)
12-month ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are
ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit
risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are
measured as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due
to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted at an approximation
to the assets’ original effective interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)
(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for trade and bills
receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and has calculated ECLs
based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For other financial assets of the Group, the ECLs are based on the 12-month
ECLs. However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed
credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly if it is more than 30 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that demonstrate otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the debt instrument has a
low risk of default, ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and ii) adverse changes in economic
and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk when the asset has
external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally
understood definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an
internal rating of performing’. Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A MBRERMEE (B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

() Financial instruments (continued)
(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-impaired when: (1) the
borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or
(2) the financial asset is more than 365 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information demonstrate that aware lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of
a significant increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual or a
collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics,
such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-impaired when:

e  significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

e abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation; or

e the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial
difficulties.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through
a loss allowance account.

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating
that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is calculated based on
the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of
the financial asset. Interest income on non credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)
(iii) Financial liabilities
The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the purpose for which

the liabilities were incurred. Financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and bills payables, other
payables, amounts due to non-controlling shareholders/an associate and bank
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method. The related interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.

(iv) Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of
a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the
expected life of the financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter
period.

(v) Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

(vi) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the
future cash flows in relation to the financial asset expire or when the financial
asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for derecognition
in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the
relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position, bank balances and cash
comprise cash (i.e. cash on hand and demand deposits) and cash equivalents.
Cash equivalents are short-term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather for investment or other purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A MBRERMEE (B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(i) Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to third party contractual
restriction are included as part of cash unless the restrictions result in a bank
balance no longer meeting the definition of cash. Contractual restriction
affecting use of bank balances are disclosed in note 22.

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise short-term bank deposits, bank balances and cash which
are not restricted as to use.

(k) Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that
the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over
the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for
which the grants are intended to compensate. Government grants related to
depreciable assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss over the useful
lives of the related assets.

Governments grants related to income that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

() Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the
Group has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
which it is probable will result in an outflow of economic benefits that can be
reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required,
or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(m) Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts
of the following assets to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exist or may have decreased:

° investment properties;

o property, plant and equipment;
o right-of-use assets;

e  other intangible assets; and

e  interest in an associate.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating unit, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows expected to
be derived from the asset, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset or cash generating unit for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use) of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, to
the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase under that HKFRS.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A MBRERMEE (B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(n) Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods
or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction
of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract,
control of the goods or services may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods or services is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the
customer;

e creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at
a point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods or services.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services
to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at the present
value of the amounts receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue
recognised under that contract includes the interest expense accreted on
the contract liability under the effective interest method. For contracts where
the period between the payment and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS
i[5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(n) Revenue recognition (continued)
(i) Production and sales of dyed fabrics, yarns and garments

Customers obtain control of the products when the goods are delivered to and
have been accepted. Revenue is thus recognised upon when the customers
accepted the products. There is generally only one performance obligation.
Invoices are usually payable within 60 days.

Some of the Group’s contracts with customers from the sale of product
provides customers a right of return (a right to exchange another product).
These rights of return do not allow the returned goods to be refund in
cash. The right of return gives rise to variable consideration. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until the
associated uncertainty is subsequently resolved. The application of the
constraint on variable consideration increases the amount of revenue that will
be deferred.

(i) Other revenue

Rental income under operating lease is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be
measured reliably.

(o) Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange
for goods that the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS
9. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods to a
customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A MBRERMEE (B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(o) Contract assets and contract liabilities (continued)

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue before
being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under the payment terms set
out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for ECL in accordance with
the policy set out in note 4(i)(ii) and are reclassified to receivables when the right
to the consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. A contract liability would
also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases,
a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

(p) Capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets which require a substantial period of time to
be ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. Income earned on temporary investments of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on those assets is deducted from borrowing costs
capitalised. All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

(q) Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities adjusted for
items that are non-assessable or disallowable for income tax purposes and is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and the corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except for goodwill
and recognised assets and liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profits, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates
appropriate to the expected manner in which the carrying amount of the asset
or liability is realised or settled and that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(q) Income taxes (continued)

An exception to the general requirement on determining the appropriate tax
rate used in measuring deferred tax amount is when an investment property
is carried at fair value under HKAS 40 “Investment Property”. Unless the
presumption is rebutted, the deferred tax amounts on these investment
properties are measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale of these
investment properties at their carrying amounts at the reporting date. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all
the economic benefits embodied in the property over time, rather than through
sale.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising
on investments in subsidiaries and an associate, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group
intends to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which
the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-
of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they relate to
items recognised in other comprehensive income in which case the taxes are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or when they relate to items
recognised directly in equity in which case the taxes are also recognised
directly in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A MBRERMEE (B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(r) Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies other than the
currency of the primary economic environment in which they operate (the
“functional currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the transactions
occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the
rates ruling at the end of reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the
translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period
except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income, in which case, the exchange differences are also recognised in other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars)
at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the rates approximating to
those ruling when the transactions took place are used. All assets and
liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the rate ruling at the end
of reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as translation
reserve (attributed to minority interests as appropriate). Exchange differences
recognised in profit or loss of group entities’ separate financial statements
on the translation of long-term monetary items forming part of the Group’s
net investment in the foreign operation concerned are reclassified to other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as translation reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange differences
recognised in the translation reserve relating to that operation up to the date of
disposal are reclassified to profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination
benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the
end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related
service. Short term employee benefits are recognised in the year when the
employees render the related service.

(i) Defined contribution retirement plan

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss when the services are rendered by the employees.

(iij) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of when the Group can no
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

(t)
(@)

(b)

Related parties

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group
if that person:

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel of the Group or the
Company’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply:

The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which the other
entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the
employees of the Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in
(@).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity
or is a member of key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides
key management personnel services to the Group or the Group’s
parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A MBRERMEE (B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(t) Related parties (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may
be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(i)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and
(i) dependent of that person or that person‘s spouse or domestic partner.

(u) Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value, except for the Group’s leasing transactions,
net realisable value of inventories and value in use of property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and right-of-use assets for the purpose of
impairment assessment, the Group takes into account the characteristics of
the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would
use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances
and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising
the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs, Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value measurements into
three levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines whether transfer
occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities which
are measured at fair value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair
value measurement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are as follows:

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment, investment
properties and right-of-use assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for
property, plant and equipment, investment properties and right-of-use assets
at the end of each reporting period. Property, plant and equipment, investment
properties and right-of-use assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value
in use. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management estimate
the expected future cash flows from the asset or CGU and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The
fair value less costs of disposal were assessed with reference to the market
prices of similar assets after considering the conditions of these assets.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and right-of-use assets are approximately
HK$1,175,999,000, HK$56,692,000 and HK$191,575,000 respectively (2023:
HK$1,202,956,000, HK$62,609,000 and HK$171,364,000 respectively).
No impairment loss in respect of property, plant and equipment, investment
properties and right-of-use assets for the CGU of its production and sales of
dyed fabrics located in the PRC and Hong Kong have been recognised (2023:
nil) in profit or loss except for the impairment loss of HK$15,430,000 (2023: nil)
for the idle equipment, plant and machinery.

Estimated useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant
and equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant
and equipment, the Group has to consider various factors, such as technical or
commercial obsolescence arising from changes or improvements in production,
or from a change in the market demand for the product or service output of the
asset expected usage of the asset, expected physical wear and tear, the care
and maintenance of the asset, and legal or similar limits on the use of the asset.
The estimation of the useful life of the asset is based on the experience of the
Group with similar assets that are used in a similar way. Additional depreciation
is made if the estimated useful lives and/or the residual values of items of
property, plant and equipment are different from previous estimation. Useful
lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year end date based on
changes in circumstances.

As at 31 December 2024, there is no revision of the estimated useful lives and
residual values of the items of property, plant and equipment with carrying
amount of approximately HK$1,175,999,000 (2023: HK$1,202,956,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A MBRERMEE (B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Estimated impairment of trade and bills receivables

The Group recognises lifetime ECLs for trade and bills receivables, using
a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date. The amount of the impairment loss
based on ECL model is measured as the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition. Where the future cash flows are
less than expected, or being revised downward due to changes in facts and
circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.

The economic downturn and uncertainties that have arisen as a result of
resurgence of the pandemic and soaring global inflation have made these
estimates more judgemental, which the Group has taken into account in its
determination of applicable ECLs attributable to trade and bills receivables
arising from sales to customers on credit term, including the incorporation of
forward-looking information to supplement historical credit loss rate. Further
information on the impairment assessment on trade and bills receivables is
provided in note 37(b).

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of trade and bills receivables
is approximately HK$802,069,000 (2023: HK$808,091,000), net of allowance
for ECL of approximately HK$40,191,000 (2023: HK$35,139,000). During the
year, an impairment loss of approximately HK$6,115,000 (2023: a reversal of
impairment loss of HK$13,275,000) was recognised in profit or loss.

Estimated impairment of deposits and other receivables

The Group use ECL model to assess the impairment of deposits and other
receivables. The application of ECL model requires significant judgements
and estimates, and requires consideration for all reasonable and proofed
information, including forward-looking information. When making these
judgements and estimates, the Group infers expected changes in debtor’s
credit risk based on historical repayment data combined with economic
policies, macroeconomic indicators, industrial risks and other factors. Different
estimates may affect the accrual of provision for impairment. The accrued
provision for impairment may not be equal to the actual amount of impairment
losses in the future.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of deposits and other
receivables is approximately HK$118,104,000 (2023: HK$248,473,000), net
of allowance for ECL of nil (2023: nil). During the year, no impairment loss was
recognised in profit of loss (2023: nil).

5. fAstFHEEMHNEERIR (B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Estimated allowance for inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The
Group regularly reviews its inventory levels in order to identify slow-moving
and obsolete inventories. The Group makes allowance for slow-moving and
obsolete items through management'’s estimation of the net realisable value
for such obsolete and slow-moving items based primarily on the latest invoice
prices and current market conditions, including the consideration of potential
impacts on the subsequent sales orders and demand of its products resulting
from soaring global inflation and uncertainties in the global economy. When the
Group identifies items of inventories which have a market price that is lower
than its carrying amount, the Group estimates the amount of write-down of
inventories as allowance for inventories. If the market price of inventories of
the Group becomes lower than its carrying amount subsequently, an additional
allowance may be required.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of inventories of approximately
HK$784,735,000 (2023: HK$783,908,000), net of accumulated provision of
approximately HK$141,827,000 (2023: HK$174,981,000).

Income taxes

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences and tax
losses can be utilised. In cases where the actual future profits generated are
less than expected, a material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a reversal
takes place.

As at 31 December 2024, a deferred tax asset of approximately
HK$38,227,000 (2023: HK$41,969,000) in relation to the deductible temporary
differences and tax losses were recognised in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position.

5. fAFFFHEEMHNEERIR (B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A MBRERMEE (B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors, i.e. the chief operating decision makers, regularly
review the operating results and financial information based on distinct
geographical areas of location of customers, including Hong Kong (place of
domicile of the Company), the PRC, Taiwan, Korea, Sri Lanka, America, Europe
and Others, i.e. representing other geographical locations mainly Bangladesh,
Vietnam, Singapore and Macau. All of these geographical areas are operating

segments except “Others” which is an aggregation of operating segments.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and profit from the
production and sales of dyed fabrics, yarns and garments and results by

reportable segments for the year.

6. EXERSEEN

PITES BNXEEEARRE) REZRMEM
EFrENMEUEERERCEXERMBE
k> BEER (RREFMEM) FE- 8% 8
CHTEBEREMN BONREMME BIEH
fth st s (i & > =275 & MNALE ~ B ~ F7 I m K
HPY) cFrBRSMIBAEREE NS mHith
e B RGRe 2 EE -

UTHRTEEARRFERBRERBEERT
MR NARIZ ] IR D4R D 2 E B R A A
R RRIEFTEZ 4T

2024 2024% Hong Kong The PRC Taiwan Korea Sri Lanka America Europe Others Segmenttotal  Eliminations  Consolidated
&E e A% #H LEL 3 £l Bl HifishE HBAE Hif &4
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKS$000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HK$000
AT 7 5 T AT 7 5 AT AT 75 T

Revenue HEE
External sales HMEE 676,679 1,626,542 154,331 215,136 885,001 127,301 36,470 705,008 4,426,558 - 4,426,558
Inter-segment sales /ot DEBYE ) 1,801,408 657,309 - - 221,676 - - 18,360 2698748 (2,698,74) -
Total segment revenue PEEEBOE 2,478,082 2,283,851 154,331 215,136 1,106,677 127,391 36,470 723,368 7,125,306 (2,698,748) 4,426,558

Results £+ |

Segment proft HERH 56,355 126,377 12,928 18,011 70,975 1,194 3,014 58,615 347,469
Interest income FIEMA 27,931
Unallocated income RAERA 11,762
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment loss 72 &38R E Bk (175,244)
Other unallocated expenses EfhxAELH (122,831)
Finance costs HERK (18,126)
Share of proft of an associate b —HEBENF 2B 1,099
Profit efore income tax expense BHERI AR 77,060
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

iR e MBS IRRMEE (B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and profit from the
production and sales of dyed fabrics, yarns and garments and results by
reportable segments for the year. (continued)

6. EXFRIEEHN (&
UTAFEEREFERANERBEEH-
4R R IZ ] IR AR S 2 BEBR BT
REBFEZ Ao ()

2023 2023 Hong Kong The PRC Taiwan Korea Sri Lanka America Europe Others ~ Segmenttotal ~ Eliminations  Consolidated
&4 e = #H HERRS M Bl Rt PNELE Faf &4
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000
i AT FET AT A FAT AT AT AT FAT AT

Revenue EEE
External seles HiE 864027 1,776,404 18,784 206,839 739,165 203,007 66,827 606,182 4440235 - 444023
Intersegment sdles ot NERUE ) 1925,160 732,043 - - 174,061 - - 91 201808 (918068 -
Total segment revenue NEEERNE 2,580,187 2,509,347 158,784 205,839 913,216 223,007 066,827 692,09 7,368,303 (2,918,008) 4440235

Results E= ]

Segment prof DERA 2912 80,689 5394 7138 56,619 11,231 2,307 26,602 212,892
Interest income FEHA 30,442
Unallocated income AARMA 267,906
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment loss 178~ &8 R E % (180,160)
Other unallocated expenses AftRpEZH (194,846)
Finance costs BENK (26,258)
Share of proft of an associate Ef—EHEAD 2 BA 1152
Profit before income tax expense BAERS AR 111,128
Note: Inter-segment sales are charged at price by reference to the prevailing market rates. A5 . DIBERIIHE Z BRI BER 2 HIHEEM

The Group’s assets, liabilities and capital expenditure are predominately
attributable to geographical regions. Therefore, no analysis by geographical
regions is presented.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the
Group’s accounting policies described in note 4. Segment profit represents
the profit earned by each segment without allocation of central administration
costs and other expenses (including non-production related employee benefits
expenses, directors’ emoluments, bank charges, etc.), depreciation and
amortisation of investment properties, property, plant and equipment and other
intangible assets, interest income, impairment loss and gain/loss on disposal/
written-off of property, plant and equipment and investment properties, finance
costs, share of profit of an associate, etc. This is the measure reported to the
chief operating decision makers for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment. No analysis on segment assets and liabilities is
disclosed as it is not presented to the chief operating decision makers.

EE-

FEEZEE BRREFAZDEZREN
I 1 - AL BB 2SRRI DA

FIRRD B Gt REW 4Tt 2 A EE
GETERER - DEEANES D BRI AE
Fo BRI ESF ARRITERARAMER (8
BEFLEEAFAZEERNMAS -EFME IR
TERS REME -ME - KERRBRE
thEFEEZITEREHE MEWRAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
RAEMBRRMEE (8

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Other segment information

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit:

6. EXFRIEEHN (B)
HthEE N
EQEENERNZSHE:

Hong Kong The PRC Taiwan Korea Sri Lanka America Europe Others Consolidated
E HE aE 2  HEWE EM Bl EfhE =e
HKS000  HKS000  HK$O00  HKSOOO — HK$OOO — HKSOOO  HKSO00  HKS000  HK$000
FET FAET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
2024 2024
Impairment loss (reversed)/recognised on  EEREHENFEZ AERE
trade and bills receivables, net (E1%) /HeRRE (510) 374 14 (77) 5,949 (310) 43 632 6,115
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREEZINE 505 25,268 - - 736 - - 2,358 28,867
2023 2003
Impairment loss (reversed)/recognised on  EERZHEENFTBEZ AERE
trade and bills receivables, net (@) /HR3E (2,447) (6,584) 887) (119) (2,066) (39) (23 (753) (13,275)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBEZINE 542 24,097 - - 766 - - 2,909 28,314
Geographical information Hh 15k B A
The following is an analysis of geographical location of the Group’s non-current R IREHALR » ZEE Z IR B E (i) &
assets (note) at the end of the reporting period: BUBZ DA
At 31 December At 31 December
©$12831H 128318
2024 2023
HK$000 F#57z  HK$'000 FE7T
The PRC FE 1,310,513 1,321,327
Hong Kong 58 9,817 10,433
Sri Lanka HrEE< 159,121 155,249
Others Hihihla 644 3,054
1,480,095 1,490,063
Note:Non-current assets excluded deferred tax assets. Bzt FERBEE N EIRIEIERIBEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by products and
timing of revenue recognition are as follows:

6. HEXBEROMEEN (B
EEEAT

REmMREESBAREEDNZEREREA
25

2024 2023
HK$’000 F#&x  HK$'000 FET
Revenue from contracts with customers EHEIFEREZERF15588EE A
within the scope of HKFRS 15: EFRERWA :
Production and sales of dyed fabrics S MIHE B R4
and yarns 3,793,728 3,639,699
Production and sales of garments B3 M HE K 632,830 800,536
4,426,558 4,440,235
Timing of revenue recognition: DU A RYBFRS
At a point in time £ R G 4,426,558 4,440,235

The following table provides information about trade and bills receivables and
contract liabilities from contracts with customers.

TEREHAMEERREBEREUARRES
FERNEGHNEaRER -

At 31 December At 31 December

128318 12831H

2024 2023

HK$’000 F#Ex  HK$'000 FET

Trade and bills receivables (note 20) SRR EWRIE (IaE20) 802,069 808,091

Contract liabilities (note 26) G aE (Hitoe) 17,150 19,712
Information about major customers FREXERRZEN

No revenue from individual customer contributed over 10% of the total revenue
of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations for contracts with the customers

Sales of goods were made in a short period of time and the performance
obligation was mostly satisfied in one year or less at the end of each year,
thus the Group applied the expedient of not to disclose the transaction price
allocated to unsatisfied performance obligation.

B E2024F12831H K%2023F12831HEF
E - REENEL ZIWAGARERZEIEEE
HEBE10% o

PEEXEFEAMBEROBEENXZER

Bl EERBRTN BOEERRE—F
SR (MEEFRE) KET Bt 7EERA
TRBOEERABBETENEENRZEHH
BETE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
RAEMBRRMEE (8

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MERA
2024 2023
HK$’000 F#x  HK$'000 F&7T
Finance costs on: RAE RS
Bank borrowings BITEE 6,991 19,258
Lease liabilities HESRA 6,135 7,000
13,126 26,258
8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 8. FrfgMizii
2024 2023
HK$’000 F3#z  HK$'000 TE7T
Current tax: BEERIE
Hong Kong 58 1,758 562
The PRC HE 18,719 15,046
Other jurisdictions HthazM& 19,412 19,418
39,889 35,026
Under provision in prior years: BEFERETRE .
Hong Kong 58 183 (12)
The PRC H (1,016) (22)
Other jurisdictions Hihaith& 1,795 1,461
962 1,427
40,851 36,453
Deferred tax (note 18): IRIERRIE (M15£18) -
Hong Kong 58 (2,506) 230
The PRC == 5,691 11,777
Other jurisdictions Hhaaa (1,553) (5,176)
1,632 6,831
42,483 43,284
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Under the Hong Kong two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first
HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits of one subsidiary of the Company, which is
a qualifying corporation, is taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits
at 16.5%. The profits of other group entities not entitled to the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at 16.5%.

Under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries
is 25% for both years.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Sri Lanka, the tax rate of Sri
Lanka subsidiary is 30% for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the
respective jurisdictions.

Details of the deferred tax are set out in note 18.
Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before income

tax expense per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

8. FrfeMixi (@
BEEBMERMRS FRE—BHEER
1R 2 B A E2,000,0007% 7T A& SR 10 2 F)
ME#B8.25%  MEF THIERRBAIREKAS
16.5% - AT EM SR MAF BV EHMERERE
Z BN S BRI ER16.5%R 1

RIEPEZERERE ((BEMRERE) ki
XML EHER > PR B AR R MEF
EZREHAE25% -

REFERFEBZZRRER HEBFW
BABRMEFEZIREIGR30%

HthB A MEZREEUNERES B A EES
S R i

ARAEEIR B Z S IR HCHIEE18°

EEERGEHREREME2EKRERNAER
X HEFRPRSIRSZ MR B AR IR T ¢

2024 2023
HK$'000 F#E7xT  HK$'000 FET
Profit before income tax expense PRAF1SIR S AT & A 77,060 111,128
Tax at domestic rates applicable to profits or R B RIFEM B BRI BLE
losses in the jurisdiction concerned EMREHENRIE 21,708 37,128
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for ERTEINRNREEE
tax purpose 18,255 17,681
Tax effect of income not taxable for WA B BRI
tax purpose (6,419) (70,921)
Under provision in prior years BEFERETE 962 1,427
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised MIBBEREERNREE 24,535 56,068
Tax effect of other deferred tax HARERIBRIGHEZNREEE
not recognised - 1,615
Utilisation of tax losses previously BiBERWEENIRIBE R
not recognised (14,595) (700)
Utilisation of other deferred tax previously BB F RN EMIEERIE
not recognised (1,463) -
Deferred tax (reversed) provided on MBINT B AT TEHRIEHM
withholding tax on overseas subsidiaries IRIEFRIA (Bx[0]) BE4E (428) 1,061
Income tax on concessionary rate BEBREFENMER (72) (72)
Others Hh = )
Income tax expense PRSIz 42,483 43,284

2024 R 121
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A MBRERMEE (B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

9. OTHER REVENUE, OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES AND

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

(@) An analysis of the Group’s other revenue is as follows:

9. HfttlgA - HthimREGHEUKRE

FEERF

(@ AFEEHMBAZZFAT

2024 2023
HK$'000 F#&7x  HK$'000 F#ET
Amortisation of deferred income (note i) IR A 2 8 8H (H1aEi) 5,325 5,206
Compensation income AEWA 13,308 23,059
Government grants (note i) BT % B (i &) 1,960 4,076
Interest income ISV ON 27,931 30,442
Net rental income from investment properties 18 &#)% > F S W ARE (#15240)
(note 40) 11,042 13,702
Others Hh 14,001 11,097
73,567 87,582
(b) An analysis of the Group’s other gains and losses is as follows: o) TEBEMWGENEBEZHUT !
2024 2023
HK$’000 F % T HK$'000 F &7
Net exchange losses EREEFE (1,678) (1,543)
Gain on disposal of property, HEYIZE  #28 MR E 2 W
plant and equipment 2,577 9,600
Loss on written-off of investment properties ~ #S§ R EY £~ B8 (17:2£13)
(note 13) - (8,552)
Gain on compensation of land resumption TRz wEWE (W)
(note iv) - 259,011
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 42 ~ 14 88 R 55 18 7 BB (K151 14)
(note 14) (15,430) -
Impairment loss (recognised)/reversed EERTHREWRTIEYZ
on trade and bills receivables, net REEK () #EFE (6,115) 13,275
Gain on lease modification BB Z W 10,431 777
Others Hith (3,498) (39)
(13,713) 277,529
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31

9.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (continued)

(c)

An analysis of the Group’s loss for the year is as follows:

(©)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831HILFE

Hlg A~ Hfthi s RIEGHR UK 2
FERFA (&

FEBRFEBBZOMNT :

2024 2023
HK$’000 F#E7x  HK$'000 T &1
Profit for the year has been arrived at EFERNBINRA
after charging:
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hithim & E 2 8y (Wati16)

(note 16)’ 763 3,015
Auditors’ remuneration TZ B0 EM 2 F B 2,641 2,645
Cost of sales (note i) HE RS (B 22ii) 3,897,147 4,118,246
Depreciation of investment properties KREYEZINE (W5E13)

(note 13) 5,148 5,308
Depreciation of property, YIZE BB RGREZITE Bfat14)

plant and equipment (hote 14) 153,903 171,837
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 15) fEREEEZITE (Hfat15) 28,867 28,314
Employee costs (including directors’ EEMZA (BIEM 10PN ESIHD)

emoluments set out in note 10) 681,457 691,167
Research and development costs BREE A AR 41,761 56,659
Redundancy costs TLERAR AR - 70,100
'Included in administrative expenses "BEETEERN

Notes:

U

Amortisation of deferred income mainly represents i) grants received from the PRC

local government authority as subsidies to the Group for acquiring property, plant
and equipment for business development and energy saving scheme implemented
by the PRC local government, and ii) rental income received in advance for the

leasing of three investment properties.

(i)

Cost of sales includes HK$1,215,140,000 (2023: HK$1,308,542,000) of staff costs,

(i)

depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment, depreciation of
right-of-use assets, subcontracting fee and other manufacturing overheads. Staff
costs, depreciation of property, plant and equipment and depreciation of right-of-
use assets are also included in the respective total amounts disclosed above for

each of these types of expenses.

A YT A 2 3 £ 3 B2 451 WCER R B R B 2 BT
WEETFTAERREBEAYE - BILREBZ
MR ZEHAETAREFERKETPEE
FF 81T B BABE 5 8] il JE B = B IR B EE M AU
BITEE U ©

PHERMABIET,215,140,0005 75 (20234 :
1,308,542,000/87T) 2 E THZA ¥ % i#85 &
REINERRE FREEERE NMIERAKR
HBEERH BT W HSRRET
ELRGEHREENENSBELE EXFIFE
LABRAS ~ ARIAEEER o
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9.

OTHER REVENUE, OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES AND
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i)

(iv)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, government grants mainly included grants
of HK$1,896,000 (2023: HK$4,076,000) received from the PRC local government
authority as subsidies to the Group for incentive of foreign trade and steady growth
of business and there were no restrictions with the use of such government grants.

On 19 November 2023, the local government of Jiangyin City People’s Government
Chengdong Subdistrict Office (the “Local Government”) and Jiangyin Fuhui Textiles
Limited (“Jiangyin Fuhui”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a land resumption agreement in respect of the land use rights owned
by Jiangyin Fuhui (the “Government Acquired Land”) together with all buildings,
structures (the “Land Buildings”) and attachments threat located in Jiangyin City,
the PRC (the “Land Resumption Agreement”). Pursuant to the Land Resumption
Agreement, Jiangyin Fuhui shall surrender the land use rights to the Local
Government for an aggregate compensation of approximately RMB259 million
(equivalent to HK$284 million). Jiangyin Fuhui returned the Government Acquired
Land together with the Land Buildings to the Local Government on 25 December
2023 and thus, the corresponding right-of-use assets and property, plant and
equipment amounting to approximately HK$6,466,000 and HK$17,973,000
respectively, were disposed during the year ended 31 December 2023. Details of
relevant receivables are disclosed in Note 21.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Jiangyin Fuhui has engaged an
independent third party qualified investigator and issued the soil pollution
investigation report with respect the land pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and
regulations, after demolition of housing structure with satisfactory result.

9.

HAUWA ~ Efth il RS R A K =2
FERF (@)

Miat (%)

(i

(iv)

BE2024F12B31HILEEE BAHELTIES
EUWHER B PR EMBFEEE N EREER
BB B R IR E L & 2 A51,896,00078 7T
(20234 : 4,076,000/ 7T) * M=% F BT
165 P £ PR A

2023118198 I AR BUF B EEE
WER ((EHBF) BIREESHBERAT
(GCIzwEE) GABNMEEEERBAR)
TP EEES B0 AP BT B2 7 AY L 3 {55 A 42
(TEF WA L)) BRI ES MR EEEY
WY GBI HEEY)) REBYET i
B HE (LSRR  RiE LU
F IR REBR I MERER G E BT
FESBEENA AR 259,000,000t FEER
284,000,000 7T) oL P2 4R E 20234 12825H
B T tER L R EY R EEHE
T RIER 8 E2023F 12831 HIEFEBHE
HENEREEERYE KB RRE ©BED
BI49 46,466,000 7T /% 17,973,00058 7T ° A RE
W R BISEIB R MY 5E21 4R BB ©

BE2024F 12BN A ILEFE  RERRERIG
WEF<L ARENERE SIEREEREM
BB ERZERANEIHZRBUST =S SER
AERBHA LR SHEERS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
iR E MBS RRMTEE (R)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

10. INFORMATION REGARDING DIRECTORS’ AND 10. EEREEMEER
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEf=E

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to Section 383 of the Hong IRIEEHEATERI (55622%) F383K KA T (I
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) and the Companies (Disclosure of BEEHEBR) A ($622G%=) (JRA) #HE
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) (the Regulation) HIZEEMEW T :

are as follows:

Non-executive
Executive directors directors Independent non-executive directors
Y7ES FRTES BUFHTES
YAU WONG
LU ZHAO YIN HangTat, ZHANG LI YEN TAO | NG Kwok Wiliam  Kwong
2024 2024 Xianfu Jianli Jian  Andrew Zheng Gang | Gordon Yongming Tung YING Wei LAM Chi Total
fEE HER FE  HiEE RIE Z0 | EE% Mk | EEE e HER  ERT afE
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$000 | HK$000 HK$S000 | HKS000 HKS000 HK$S000 HK$000 HKS000
FEr TEr TEr FEn FEr  FEn| TEr  TEm| FEm  TEr  TEn  FEm  FE%
(notej)  (notev) (note vi) (note i)
W) (Wav) (W) (Wiatii)
Fees ik - - - - - - 200 - 250 200 200 200 1,050
Other emoluments Hiti&
Salaries and other benefits* HEREMBEN 3,012 - - 2,567 - 1,837 - - - - - - 7,416
Discretionary bonuses” HiEsEs - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Retirement benefits scheme RIRAF B
contribution 18 - - 165 - 18 - - - - - - 201
3,030 - - 2,732 - 1,855 200 - 250 200 200 200 8,667
Non-executive
Executive directors directors Independent non-executive directors
HiTES FHiTES BiFRTES
YAU WONG
L SUN ZHAO ZHAO  HengTat,  ZHANG u YEN TAO | NG Kwok YING  Wiliam Kwong
2023 2023%F Xianfu Fuj Yao Jianii - Andrew Zheng Gang Gordon  Yongming Tung Wei LAM Chi Total
B8R BEl BE BERE DEER RE 2| EE#E BAsE| AER B WER IR fafE
HK$000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000 — HK$O00  HK$000 | HKS000  HKSO00 | HKSO0D  HKS0O0  HKS000 — HK$O00  HKS000
FEn TEr FEr TEr  FEr TErn TEx| TEr TEn| FEvr  TEn  FEr  TEr FErn
fnote))  (notedi)  (noteiy)  (note) (note i)
M) (wati) (k) (W) (&)
Fees ik - - - - - - - 200 - 250 200 200 200 1,050
Other emoluments Hitile
Salaries and other benefits®  Fr & REMBR 2,699 903 - - 2,567 1,072 - - - - - - 7,241
Discretionary bonuses” BiEss - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Retirement benefits scheme  BARERISH B/
contribution 8 6 - - 166 10 - - - - - - 189
2,707 909 - - 2,732 - 1,082 200 - 250 200 200 200 8,480
#  Other benefits include performance-based salary and double pay. O HEHMER IR E R o

*

The basis of the discretionary bonus is based on the profitability of the Group. * NBERENEREERAEBEEFED -
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10. INFORMATION REGARDING DIRECTORS’ AND

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Notes:

U

(Vi)

Mr. LIU, Xianfu, was re-designated from a non-executive director as an executive
director and appointed as the Chairman of the board of directors (the ‘Board”) on 1
April 2022 and he is appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company with
effective from 1 April 2023 and an authorized representative of the Company with
effective from 18 January 2024.

Mr. LI Gang is appointed as an executive director and the vice president of the
Company with effective from 1 June 2023.

Mr. SUN Fuji was resigned as an executive director and the chief executive officer of
the Company with effective from 1 April 2023.

Mr. ZHAO Yao was resigned as an executive director with effective from 1
December 2023.

Ms. ZHAO Jianli was appointed as an executive director with effective from 1
December 2023 and was resigned as an executive director with effective from 1
September 2024.

Mr. YIN Jian was appointed as an executive director with effective from 1
September 2024.

During the years 2024 and 2023, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any director as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, four directors (2023: four directors)
waived their whole-year emoluments.

(b) Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid employees included one (2023: two) directors, whose
emoluments are set out in note 10(a) above. Emoluments of the remaining four
(2023: three) employees are as follows:

10. EXREEME=EH (B

(@) EFM=E (&)
Hiat -

0

(i)

)

(vi)

B BRAEN2022F48 1 HEEHIFFANITESSR
ERATES TEZEREFE(EFE)E
% ME2023F4R1HIEEEZEREFRBITH
BE> B2024F1B18HEEEZER T RBRE
&

T ek B2023F6 B 1HREZERRTATH
TEEFRERE-

BB KREB2023F4F1HEERERATH
TEERITBHEE

FEIR A F2023F 128 1 HEEE BHERITES -

HMEELZ TH2023F 128 1HRESZEANITE
= W H2024F 981 BRI ERITES

FERELH2024FORTHEESZERRITE
%O

R2024F K2023% » AEE L EEEANEES
BN UWIEAMBAEE P IA K E B R
RSN ok B B A E o

B E2024F12831HILFEE - 41 EZE (2023
FAMIBER BERSEZEME-

(b) EBEM=
EEMErsHESSE1 (20234 @ 21) &
FoHMSFHBEHIN LA EE10(a) o R T4

(20234 : 311) BEMMEWT :

2024 2023

HK$000 &5t  HK$'000 FET

Salaries and other benefits HEREMEF 9,733 7,795
Discretionary bonuses FI5 1% 1,345 =
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BIKEFIEHEIHER 382 146
11,460 7,941
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

10. INFORMATION REGARDING DIRECTORS’ AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (continued)

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

10. EEREEMEEH (&

(b) EEME (/&)
REZBE T FLUTAER]

2024 2023
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7% E2,000,0007 7T = 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 775 %£2,500,00074 7T - -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 775 23,000,000/ 7T 3 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 775 23,500,000/ 7T 1 1

(c) Senior management’s emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior management were
within the following bands:

(c) SREEREM=

ENHENSREEEMREZMENFUTAE
Ll

2024 2023
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 775 %23,000,0007 75 1 2
11. DIVIDENDS 11. B8
2024 2023
HK$'000 F#5c  HK$'000 F&E7T
Dividend attributable to the previous F—EBHEEELZERE
financial year, approved and recognised AEEEHERBRADIK
as distribution during the year:
2023 final dividend of HK3.00 cents 2023F K AR E &% A3.0078 1
(2022 final dividend of nil) per share (2022F KR EAD) 36,751 -

The final dividend of HK1.16 cents in respect of the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: HKB.00 cents) per share, amounting to approximately
HK$14,262,000 (2023: HK$36,751,000), and the special dividend of HK4.34
cents in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 per share, amounting
to approximately HK$53,114,000 (2023: nil), have been recommended by
the Board and will be subject to the approval of the shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 of HK 10.40
cents per share, payable on 31 May 2018 and remaining unclaimed on 20
July 2024, were forfeited and reverted to the Company. Details are refer to
announcement on 21 June 2024.

EEGERRMNEE2024F12B31HILEFEZ
REARR BERR1. 167851 (20234 : 3.00%81) * &
F4914,262,000 71 ( 20234 : 36,751,0007 7T)
P REZE2024F 12831 EEEZFRIRES
f&4.34781 > & F£4953,114,0007 75 ( 20234 :
&) WAFTRENASAREREREBERS L
HER AAESE -

HECOI7TF12B31HIEFEZRPREESR
10.407 1l > 785220185831 H IR & 22024
F7H20H Z R TR B Z R EHR T LU
W AN BIFNE o s515:8 2 M HH 52024456
J=PAN S A/N- R
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. EREF
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to AT A AEILESRERREBERFHIRE
owners of the Company is based on the following data: TR -
2024 2023
HK$'000 F&x  HK$'000 F#&7T
Earnings &7
Earnings for the year attributable to owners ~ ETESREAREERFFFIAZ
of the Company for the purpose of KABIEBANEBGERFERT
computation of basic and diluted earnings
per share 14,262 50,903
2024 2023
Number of shares P& H
Weighted average number of ordinary shares FistBEESRER R ERAIRE
for the purpose of computation of basic and BB N E
diluted earnings per share 1,225,026,960 1,225,026,960

(a) Basic earnings per share (a) SRELEN

The computation of basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December  E;E2024F 12831 HILFE 2 REARZF T,
2024 is based on the earnings attributable to owners of the Company IZERKATEE AEIEZERF]14,262,0005 7T
of HK$14,262,000 (2023: HK$50,903,000) and the weighted average of (20234 : 50,903,0005&7T) & 1,225,026,9608%
1,225,026,960 ordinary shares (2023: 1,225,026,960 ordinary shares) during 8% (20234 : 1,225,026,9608% & /%) AUN

the year. B E -

(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) EREERF

The Company had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares outstanding for the  #ZE2024& 12831 H K%20235F12831H L&

years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.
B o

B ARRUECSRT ABECHRERZES T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMBRERMAEE (8

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. IREWME

HK$'000 F &
Cost D7
At 1 January 2023 52202351 81H 105,722
Currency realignment SN E ZER (1,118)
Written-off bk = (4,179)
At 31 December 2023 1R2023FE12831H 100,425
Currency realignment SRR ZER (1,429
At 31 December 2024 12024128 31H 98,996
Depreciation e
At 1 January 2023 12023FE1 8 1H 33,497
Currency realignment NI E T RE (362)
Provided for the year EEEREE 5,308
Written-off i) 627)
At 31 December 2023 12023F12831H 37,816
Currency realignment SN IR E R (660)
Provided for the year BEERE 5,148
At 31 December 2024 12024F12H31H 42,304
Carrying values EREE
At 31 December 2024 12024F12H31H 56,692
At 31 December 2023 12023F12831H 62,609

The Group’s investment properties consisted of leased properties and leased AEEMNKREYECIEHEYELTHEEREHE.
pier. The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 December ZAEEIEEYEF2024F12H31HNATE
2024 was HK$253,385,000 (2023: HK$254,142,000). The fair value of leased B #253,385,0007 7T ( 20234 : 254,142,000
properties was HK$230,816,000 (2023: HK$230,748,000) and the fair value  7E7T)  FH E ¥ AYA FE(E A230,816,0007 7T
of leased pier was HK$22,569,000 (2023: HK$23,394,000) which have been (20234 : 230,748,000/ 70) XA EHEEHA
arrived at based on a valuation carried out by RHL Appraisal Limited, an  FE{E%22,569,0007% 75 (20234 : 23,394,000

independent property valuer.

B o ThHRBUYFEGERXFITHERBA
RABETHMHESESH-

The valuation of leased properties was determined by direct comparison fEE¥ ¥R ELIZREZBLE R RIGE LR
method and term and reversion analysis of investment approach. MEEF DI EETE o
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Direct comparison method is based on the principle of substitution, where
comparison is made based on prices realised on actual sales of comparable
properties. Comparable properties of similar size, scale, nature, character
and location are analysed and carefully weighed against all the respective
advantages and disadvantages of each property in order to arrive at a fair
comparison of market value.

Term and reversion analysis of investment approach estimates the capital value
of a property by capitalised rental income on a fully leased basis having regard
to the current passing rental income from existing tenancy and the potential
reversionary rental income at market level.

The valuation of leased pier was determined by Depreciated Replacement Cost
approach, which is based on an estimate of the market value for the existing
use of the land, plus the current cost of replacement of the improvements less
allowance for physical deterioration and all relevant forms of obsolescence and
optimisation. The key input of Depreciated Replacement Cost approach is the
building construction cost per square metre. A significant increase/decrease in
building construction cost per metre used would result in a significant increase/
decrease in the fair value of the leased pier.

The valuation of leased properties takes into account the characteristics of the
investment properties, which include the location, size, shape, view, floor level,
year of completion and other factors collectively, to arrive at the unit market
price. The key input of direct comparison method is the unit market price. A
significant increase/decrease in the market price would result in a significant
increase/decrease in the fair value of the leased properties.

Significant unobservable inputs were used in the valuation of investment
properties. The fair value of investment properties is a level 3 recurring fair value
measurement under the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS
13, Fair value measurement. There has been no change from the valuation
technique used in the prior year. The fair value measurement is based on the
above properties’ highest and best use, which does not differ from their actual
use.

The above investment properties are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of 20 to 50 years or period of the lease term.

All of the investment properties of the Group are held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation.

13. REME (B

ERLEBUEUBEARIAEE MR
LB EBRBEBRZERELH K/ ]
BB BE R RE 2 A LB X Th 1%
REMEZ AN EETONRFEEGE KU
ERATHELR

REMBMESEDMEDEE BRIRABEAN
EHESWANDIZKFERBEEERESUA
WERL Z2REEEERSHEHSBRABERC
hst—EYENERBEE

HEBENGENRTEEENLEZET &
FAEDRBLMHIRE BRB T EFL G
MEERMEEEENRAREBEERERAER
FRERBEANREREBIESE - NEEEN
FENFTEBABBEAS T RBNBRERE -
BYHARNBERAKE EF TR EHRE
ElEZ ATEERELA TEe

HEMEGLER ST RREMEZERE S
BEME-RIT-ER 2B BE - BRFED K
HMRARER  UEHEMTHER BRIEREZ

2WMABBEREATIBER HHEERKIE
A THRRBERHEEMEZ ATFEBEREL
7t/ Fiko

ERTHBRRGASHFENARKRENEZ
HE-REVEZATEERETEBMBRSEE
RISB13SR AT EES EPMRENISRAFEE
BRETZEIMEEELRTEESE - NBRE
FERBAZAERNHEZS A FEEFE
RN EIMEZRSREERBRKRE K
ST BRABILEER -

LR EYEUB R EL20E0F N HEFH
UUBIEE D) -

AEBERBRBEYEDFIFRIET B A E
B
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. M E IS RR1E

Leasehold Furniture,
Freehold land and fixtures and Plant and Motor Construction
land buildings  equipment  machinery vehicles in progress Total
KAKEN HEM i
I DHAEEY KERRE BEERES BE  AEIR MM
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FAET FAET TET TET TET TET FET
Cost &
At 1 January 2023 120231 B1H 2,450 1,042,702 1,013,367 2,271,829 18,686 12,288 4,361,322
Currency realignment MEREER 5 (527) (3.271) (285) (34) 42) (4,154
Additions Eim - 19 13,204 14,295 - 60,353 87,871
Transfer from construction in progress ARRTRIRE - - 21,247 17,008 - (38,255 -
Disposals/written-off (rote HE /M (i) - (51,690) (79,071) (60,612) (2,415) - (193,788)
At 31 December 2023 120235128311 2,455 990,504 965,476 2,242,235 16,237 34,344 4,251,251
Currency realignment MEBREER (15) (1,647) (5,598) (3,689) (81) (81) (11,111)
Additions )l - 2,248 8,659 9,873 - 153,957 174,737
Transfer from construction in progress BEETRIE - 3,328 31,844 78,607 - (113,779) -
Disposals/written-off (ote i} HE /M (Hiati) - (595) (13598 (139,846) (1,655) (4527)  (160,221)
At 31 December 2024 120245128311 2,440 993,838 936,783 2,187,180 14,501 69,914 4,254,656
Depreciation and impairment ERAE
At 1 January 2023 20231 B1H - 655,472 729,950 1,652,021 16,232 - 3,053,675
Currency realignment SMNEREER - (376) (1,555) (96) (25) - (2,052)
Depreciation provided for the year REEHRTE - 37,994 41,528 91,561 754 - 171,837
Eliminated on disposals/ HE /MEr T ()
written-off (ote j) - (40,638) (71,699) (60,572) (2,256) - (175,165)
At 31 December 2023 12023E12A318 - 652,452 698,224 1,682,914 14,705 - 3,048,295
Currency realignment SMNEREER - (937) (3,262) (2,629) (72) - (6,900)
Depreciation provided for the year REEHRNE - 33,553 40,442 79,436 472 - 153,903
Impairment provided for the year REEHEAHE - - 3,157 12,273 - - 15,430
Eliminated on disposals/ HE /MsaEre (1ati)
written-off (note ij - (438) (13,069) (117,043) (1,521) - (132,071)
At 31 December 2024 12024128318 - 684,630 725,492 1,654,951 13,584 3,078,657
Carrying values REfE
At 31 December 2024 120245125318 2,440 309,208 261,291 532,229 917 69,914 1,175,999
At 31 December 2023 12023128318 2,455 338,052 267,252 559,321 1,632 34,344 1,202,956
The cost of above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated, after i 2 MBS BB HEIER 2 AT AR E

taking into account of their estimated residual values, on a straight-line basis.

Z s RIGRBERUBEGIENE-

2024 F#K 131
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14.
Note:

U

(i)

)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Property, plant and equipments of approximately HK$17,973,000 represented
buildings located in the Jiangyin City, the PRC and was disposed due to the Land
Resumption Agreement entered into by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2023. Further details of the Land Resumption Agreement are set out in
note 9(b) and note 9(iv).

Property, plant and equipments of approximately HK$22,435,000 represented plant
and machinery located in the Jiangyin City, the PRC and was disposed upon the
further reduction of the fabric production capacity at the fabric mill operated by
Jiangyin Fuhui since February 2024.

During the year, due to further reduction in production capacity of the fabric
mill operated by Jiangyin Fuhui announced on 5 February 2024 and uncertain
economic environment, the Group carried out a review of the recoverable amount
of the related property, plant and equipment, investment properties and right-of-use
assets under the CGU. The unexpected performance of the manufacturing plants
can be attributed to the pronounced slowdown of global economic and industry
growth. These assets are used in the Group’s production and sales of dyed fabrics
and yarns.

The Group has engaged an independent professional valuer, Pretium Advisory
Services Limited, to review the VIU of the CGU. The valuation method of
discounted cash flow was adopted for the calculation of the VIU using the income
approach.

For the production and sales of dyed fabrics and yarns in the PRC and Hong Kong,
the assessment assumes that, due to the recovery of global economic and industry
growth and demand of dyed fabrics and yarns is forecasted with steady growth
under the streamlined production lines. Management determined budgeted gross
margins based on past performance, existing sales contracts, and expectations
for market development. A five-year forecast is considered appropriate. Cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated by using the estimated terminal growth
rate of 3% as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 3%). The estimated average annual
revenue growth rate of 5.0% (2023: 8.1%) is similar to the average growth rate
for the industry. Other key assumptions for the VIU calculation include cost of raw
materials such as cotton and yarns. Cash outflows include capital and maintenance
expenditure including the purchase of plant and machinery and other equipment.
The discount rate used of 9.8% (2023: 10%) is pre-tax and reflects the specific
risks related to the relevant CGU.

The Group estimated the VIU of the CGU and also estimated the fair value less
costs of disposal of the land and buildings and investment properties which is
based on recent market prices of assets with similar age and obsolescence. Details
of valuation please refer to note 13. The assessment results show that recoverable
amounts of the CGU are higher than the carrying amounts of the CGU as at 31
December 2024 and consequently no impairment is recognised (2023: nil) except
for the impairment loss of HK$15,430,000 (2023: nil) for the idle equipment and
plant and machinery which have become idle upon the further reduction of the
fabric production capacity at the fabric mill operated by Jiangyin Fuhui since
February 2024 and are not expected to use in the future.

14. YE B RERE @)
Bt

0

(i)

(il

DEE BES R R (U P B IRE AV IR EY)) 49
717,973,000 7T » 30 (K 7= & B 70 8 £ 2023412
B31HIEFEF Iz T B BZEMBEEE
B Rt B R E — D s IR H I M sEo(0) &
IV

W B R B (R PEDIE TR RR 5 Kot
23) #97322,435,0008 7T > W KVL 2 1@ FE B§2024
FoRREE—D BRI TREEMKLE -

RARFE AR IRRER2024F2850E
E—D BB E R TRRE e AR EIRIE N BER
FEBHFECELEUTNNAMYE HE KR
RE-REMELUREHEEEN WO
ETRS -HERERRRNBERITBERAN 2

KEBERITEERBERE - ZSEEANE
ERNERIHERR A

AEE B LB EFE M ERMPretium Advisory
Services Limited& RIREEL BN EREE.
A EEREER HEBWAE I IRAALIR
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MRPERE BN ERBERH RS F
ERBZEREREERTERENME T3
BEEZLNBERT Bh RO ERBETEE
STHE - BEEREBTES BEHEGOR
HHEERNBEHECEEEMN X  AFHATE
AR LBEE AERENERESRENER
F20245E12831H Z 5t R EE3% (2023
£ 13%) HE [t FHEEEEEEES.0%
(2023%F : 8.1%) HITEF LI ERRIT -5t E
FREENEMETEBRISBERME KA 1
MR IR MHBIEE AR RAFEST L BIFHE
B E R B R o ML IR K 50.8%
(2023£F 1 10%) » BRAILIRE K BR T /HREE
B EEBMUNETERR-

rERGEHRESELEEMNNERBE  MEst
NEEERLHMEBERYURREYENERE
BA HMEREBELUREAEERENE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

15. FAEEEE

Land and

buildings Equipment Machinery Total
Tt R ) B 123 HE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FEr FET FAET
At 1 January 2023 F2023F181H 193,179 46 1,309 194,534
Currency realignment SMEIAE E 5 (140) - 3 (137)
Additions )l 2,202 540 - 2,742
Disposals (note j) HE (Hrat) (6,466) - - (6,466)
Depreciation TE (28,033) (127 (154) (28,314)
Effect of modification (note i) BT 2 28 (W52 9,005 - - 9,005
At 31 December 2023 122023 12831H 169,747 459 1,158 171,364
Currency realignment SMEIAE Z 5 (338) - ) (346)
Additions )l 7,794 - - 7,794
Depreciation e (28,606) (108) (153) (28,867)
Effect of modification (note i) BET 272 (i) 41,630 - - 41,630
At 31 December 2024 122024F12831H 190,227 351 997 191,575

Note: Vo2

(0

(i)

Right-of-use assets of approximately HK$6,466,000 represented land use right
located in the Jiangyin City, the PRC was disposed due to the Land Resumption
Agreement entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023.
Further details of the Land Resumption Agreement are set out in note 9(b) and note
A(iv).

Additions of right-of-use assets of approximately HK$41,630,000 (2023:
HK$9,809,000) and lease liabilities of HK$31,199,000 (2023: HK$9,809,000) were
recognised due to modification to lease terms while right-of-use assets of nil (2023:
HK$804,000) and lease liabilities of nil (2023: HK$1,581,000) were derecognised
due to early termination of leases during the year ended 31 December 2024. The
lease modifications were resulted in a gain on lease modification of HK$10,431,000
(2023: HK$777,000).

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of underlying

M

(i)

EAEEE (IR PESIREHR L ERE) 4
#6,466,00078 7T » M [K] Z< 2 [ A & 22023412
AR LEEET I T MBIRIREMEHE -
A R LU 5 5 BV — 5 52 (B EURA MY 5E0(b) Ky
B EE9(1v) ©

HE2024F12831HEEE  REEKRARZ
EegmEE D18 N A& E 441,630,000
# 7T (20234 9,809,000 7T) RIEE&E
31,199,000 75 (20234 : 9,809,000 T) »
MARARIETEEMRILEERERAEEEAS
(20234 : 804,000 7T) RFAE&EAZ (2023
£ 11,581,000 70)  AEEMEEREEZIR
510,431,000 75 (20234 : 777,00058 7T) ©

RIEMEERE D2 ERAREEREFED

2024 €% 133

assets is as follows: WU
At 31 December At 31 December
®12831H 128318
2024 2023
HK$’000 F#E7x  HK$'000 FET
Ownership interests in leasehold land and REETHRERY) 2 FERER >
buildings, carried at depreciated cost with BITERASERGFE THERS !
remaining lease term of:
- 30 years or more - 30F U £ 64,995 67,088
— between 10 and 30 years - 10FEK30FE 2 [ 8,396 8,744
Other properties leased for own use, HEFBERZEMYE
carried at depreciated cost AT EE R AR SE 116,836 93,915
Plant, machinery and equipment, R ~ 128 Ko sR B RITEE R AT B
carried at depreciated cost 1,348 1,617
191,575 171,364
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A MBRERMEE (B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16. HithiBR B &

Software
/g
HK$'000 F#ET
Cost s
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 72023F181H ~2023F 128318 &
20241818 31,267
Additions B 30,529
31 December 2024 20245F12831H 61,796
Amortisation Y
At 1 January 2023 12023%F181H 28,252
Provided for the year EEERE 3,015
At 31 December 2023 120235 12831H 31,267
Provided for the year EEERE 763
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12831H 32,030
Carrying values REE
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12831H 29,766

At 31 December 2023

2023F12H31H

17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

17. R—RBE AR 2 xS

At 31 December

At 31 December

®12831H ®12831H

2024 2023

HK$000 &t  HK$'000 F:E7T

Unlisted investment, at cost JEEMRE » LU ARE 16,204 16,204
Share of post-acquisition profits FEHU B R RA 9,814 8,715
26,018 24,919
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

Particulars of the associate of the Group at 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023 are as follows:

17. R—HEE QB 2= (@)

REFBE AT F2024F 128318 K2023F12
B3R ZHBUWT :

Percentage
Form of of ownership
business Place of Place of operation and interests/voting
Name structure incorporation principal activities rights/profit share
PG R S
23110 %va SR
%t EREEEN P EEMEMREERET BB
REMBEKBERAR Corporation The PRC Construction and managing of 30%
sewage treatment plant in the
PRC
EE R RAAERRE & EIE5 KRR

The primary business of BRFEMBEKIEBRAR is engaged in construction
and managing of sewage treatment plant in Dongguan of Guangdong
Province.

The above associate is accounted for using the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements.

Summarised financial information of an associate that is not individually
material:

REMBAKBZERASDNEZERNNERS
REmRRREIES KGR

LB ERB U AN G M BERES
fRo

ERFBEE 2 ME AT ZHHER T

2024 2023
HK$’000 F#Ex  HK$'000 FET
The Group’s share of profit from continuing ~ ZNEBEE(EIFEKE X 2 BF)
operations 1,099 1,152
The Group’s share of other comprehensive ~ AEBEE(EE 2 EE
income - -
The Group’s share of total comprehensive AEEFELE2EBEAEE
income 1,099 1,152
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A MBRERMEE (B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

18. DEFERRED TAX

The major deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised by the Group and
movements thereon during the current and prior reporting periods are as
follows:

18. IEIEFIE

AERRARSHBRBERESABEEDNE
BIRIERIEGE, EE REZFHNT !

Accelerated

Right-of-use Lease tax Tax

assets liabilities depreciation losses Others Total
ERAEEE HEaE RARERE RIERE Hith M
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET

(note)

Hizt)
At 1 January 2023 7202381818 97,430 (36,014) 31,007 (567) (61,964) (40,108)
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss ~ FA4B2£EEAHIRS /(5T A) (2,789) 3,830 (2,521) 183 8,128 6,831
Currency realignment SMEMBEEE (67) (88) 59 - 234 138
At 31 December 2023 F22023512831H 24,574 (32,272) 28,545 (384) (58,602) (33,139
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss ~ FA 1B EERII,/ (BT A) 5,668 2,330) (1,680) 6 (32) 1,632
Currency realignment NS EERR 312 350 (384) - (220) 58
At 31 December 2024 #20245128318 30,554 (34,252) 06,481 (378) (53,854) (31,449)
Note: The amount represents mainly deferred tax assets arising from unrealised profit on A3t . BREREETEAGEENRBIREA W2 14

inventories, provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment, provision for
ECL on trade and bills receivables, and other receivables, provision for inventories,
unrealised gain on transfer of plant and equipment between subsidiaries and
deferred tax liabilities arising from withholding tax charged on two PRC/overseas
subsidiaries.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately
HK$220 million (81 December 2023: HK$473 million) available for offset
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
approximately HK$2 million (31 December 2023: HK$2 million) of such losses,
which represent tax losses incurred by certain of the Company’s subsidiaries as
it is considered by the management that future taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the remaining HK$218 million (31 December 2023:
HK$471 million) tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had unused tax losses not recognised
of approximately HK$199 million (31 December 2023: HK$363 million) arose
in PRC to carry forward to set off against future taxable profit which will expire
within 1 to 5 years from each of the financial year end date. Remaining unused
tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

BRREHABERE  EERTREBERIE
MR EMEWRIENTRREEREEE 7
ERE - WBAD BB RRAEBENR
SRWHFTEENIELERBEEE  URHEW
BB BN B A B U TR AR FT EE £
BUEER IR & &

R2024F12831H » KEE A AEIK#H KR 2K
BAINARERRIEREEA%220,000,000% 7T
(2023128318 : 473,000,000 70) © MLt
TEE5$8H492,000,00078 7T (20235128311
2,000,000/ 7T) EREA—HRERBEE >
AR ABETHBARMELENRIBEIE
REEBEZBRARKNERRBF RO E
It IR IBEES 18 - BR T M IEAE518218,000,00078 75
(2023F12831H : 471,000,0007 7T) A< EE
AR RN B IRMAERRAIEILRIBE
EE o R2024F 128331 H  REBNTEEED
IR 38 B R AR FE SR MR TE A5 18497 199,000,00078 7T
(2023128318 : 363,000,000 7T) » L&
HBIRHEBENSEM BREEAR BRI ZESFERE
HAR R R ER IR B A o BR T A EANIRIEE
1B O] R B 7T o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

18. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

In addition, at 31 December 2024, the Group had other deductible temporary
differences of approximately HK$24 million (2023: HK$30 million) mainly consist
of unrealised gain on transfer of plant and equipment between subsidiaries,
unrealised profit on inventories, allowance for ECL on trade and bills
receivables, and other receivables, and provision for inventories. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary
differences as it is not certain that taxable profits will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

According to the EIT Law, starting from 1 January 2008, 10% withholding
income tax will be imposed on dividends relating to profits earned in the
calendar year 2008 onwards to foreign investors for the companies established
in the PRC. For investors incorporated in Hong Kong and holds at least
25% of the equity interest in the PRC company, reduced rate of 5% will be
applied. Deferred tax has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to retained profits
of the wholly-owned PRC subsidiaries amounting to HK$379,703,000 (2023:
HK$438,098,000) as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group provided the deferred tax in full in respect
of the withholding tax attributable to the undistributed profits after 1 January
2008 of a partially-owned PRC subsidiary amounting to HK$41,063,000 (2023:
HK$48,775,000).

For the purposes of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial
position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The
following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances for reporting purposes:

18. IRIEMIA (&)

tE4h > 122024F 12831 H » AEBEE fh 5] 30
B EREAY 424,000,000 75 (20234 ¢
30,000,000 7T) » TEGEHB AT Z B3
R ERBNRERN G - FENREREBH
EEREERREWEIEM R EMEWRIEN B
EEFEBBURGEERE B RAAERTESR
MRBRE ORI IR SR EE kB
BRRZ AN ERERARIERIBEE

RIFEEERERE H2008FE181HE i
Bl AL 3L A B M IMNE EE R E 20088
ERNBEENEBANEBNIREBEMI0%
BN - NEBEMBRILERFETHAR
BB UEHEMNREE  BEAZE MR ES%
R AERA] IR TR ERERHD 2R
MR EERAEN T B R EE -
AMEEFENBAREEFERAIZ R AE4E
379,703,00058 7T (20234 : 438,098,000 7T)
A RERAELRERIEREE

R2024F 128318 AEEEM—BEIEEEZ
H R B /B A B FR2008E1 B1H B 2 A DR & F
41,063,000 7T (20234 : 48,775,000/ 7T) Z
FBINNEHETIREILIR B

MR EM BN RN 2IIMES B TELERE
EEREEDHEF - UTEMERMSHIEL
MIBHERR DT

At 31 December At 31 December

®12831H 128318

2024 2023

HK$°000 T %77 HK$'000 F BT
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIBE = (38,227) (41,969)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEE 6,778 8,830
(31,449) (33,139)

20248 137
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A MBRERMEE (B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

19. INVENTORIES

19. 78

At 31 December

At 31 December

®12831H 128318

2024 2023

HK$’000 35z  HK$'000 T&7T

Spare parts B 24,879 29,129
Raw materials Rkt 217,545 228,013
Work-in-progress FER 307,211 266,623
Finished goods SRk 235,100 260,143
784,735 783,908

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

20. EERFHERWRIA

At 31 December

At 31 December

128318 »128318

2024 2023

HK$’000 F#5c  HK$'000 FE7T

Trade receivables S EWRIE 744,337 720,569
Bills receivables EREWREIE 97,923 122,661

Less: allowance for ECL B FEREEREEE (40,191) (35,139)
802,069 808,091

The Group normally allows a credit period ranging from 30 days to 60 days to
its trade customers.

The Group’s bills receivables were all aged within two months and were neither
past due nor impaired. The expected credit losses for bills receivables are
assessed to be minimal.

AEBREBSRMHENFIOREOREERTHE

EEP-

AEEZ ZHRBWRIRRE T WEAR A KR IE
BEIOAE RERWIENTEREEBE

LB FE M
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables based on the
invoice dates, which approximates the respective revenue recognition dates, as
at the end of the reporting period:

20. EXRFHEBURRIE (8

EERRBERUEIEREZAH (BEARKA
BEEE) RREHRIRE DTN T

At 31 December At 31 December

128318 128318

2024 2023

HK$000 T#5;c  HK$'000 T&7T

Within 1 month EENEEN 338,956 384,120
1 to 2 months 1222 254,840 267,879
2 to 3 months 2E3{EH 103,191 98,811
Over 3 months EB L 145,273 92,420
842,260 843,230

Less: allowance for ECL B TEHRE E RS IERE (40,191) (35,139
802,069 808,091

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines its credit limits. Credit sales are made to
customers with satisfactory trustworthy credit history. Credit limits attributed to
customers are reviewed regularly.

The Group does not hold any collateral over the trade and bills receivables.

No interest is charged on the overdue trade receivables.

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount
equal to lifetime ECL. The expected credit losses on trade receivables are
estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default experience of
the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of the
industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current
as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date. The Group
has assessed bills receivables whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. The Group considers that there is no
significant increase in credit risk of bills receivables since initial recognition
and the Group provided impairment based on 12-month ECL. The Group
recognised impairment loss on trade and bills receivables based on the
accounting policy stated in note 4(i)(ii).

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade
debtors and bills receivables are set out in note 37(b).

AERRBEREAMERA SFEZEES
FREEEEAFRTHEERE - SEHER
ERTEECHRRENER TR EERETE
HAF LU S o

AEBTEMREXERREBIGRER B ERFE
e

B EBUCRIBER SRS o

FEBBRENERANRREEBENTETE
EEBUCRIERE IR H - B XBUGREN AR
EEHRRESEZEHANBEENCREREE
BAERMM BRI DB EERETER
TRBENREHMEBANFTERR - EHA
PR ETENERCEIRIE RHNIFA RIAHY
BRIEH AT EETHE - AEBEFERER
BWRRZ EEREBEVIRERURESEES
B0 - AL B B YRR LR - RIREUGRK
BZEERRILEREIRIN MAEEER12
BRRHEEHERAERE AERRE
By EEAG) (NPT E I B St R IE R E X R RIBE
WRRIERY R EIR K °

BRAEBRGEERRKMEBEBWERRNER
EWARENEERMNE T BHNKEE
37(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A MBRERMEE (B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Transferred financial assets that are derecognised in their entirety

At 31 December 2024, the Group endorsed certain bills receivable accepted by
banks in the PRC (the “Derecognised Bills”) to certain of its suppliers in order
to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers with a carrying amount in
aggregate of HK$44,802,000 (2023: HK$43,795,000). The Derecognised Bills
had a maturity of within one year (2023: within one to six months) from the end
of the reporting period. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable Instruments
in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills have a right of recourse
against the Group if the relevant banks in the PRC default (the “Continuing
Involvement”). In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills.
Accordingly, it has derecognised the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised
Bills and the associated trade payables. The maximum exposure to loss
from the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills and the
undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these Derecognised Bills is equal to
their carrying amounts. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the fair
values of the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills are not
significant.

21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

20. EXRRREUTRIE (8)
EWEIERENCHRSHEE

R2024F 12831 KEBHEETHER
BEETENRETEMANE TZHEKRRIE
(MERIEBRBEE)) UEEEEES RS
44,802,00078 7¢ (20234 : 43,795,000 7T) Y
R ZERERNEXBARIEB RREHL
BIFEREENERAS1ER (202345 © 1E6
@A) - RIFFEEE L MEMTENERITE
AR IIEIERFEASAERRERRE
(TFEZ2H)) - ARBEZFDA AEEESE
BERKRIEEIZHENEBAI DR LR
BIL BECHESIRIEERZR A AE S X2E
IHRENE2BEEE AEERFESHEA L
BREERABLRZERIEERZHENARNIR
ReRamEmEmNRAEAENERTE &
NEEERA AEBZFES K LBRIAR
BHNAFEBEILAEK

21. EARIE RE R HMEWTRIR

At 31 December At 31 December

128318 ®12831H

2024 2023

HK$'000 &z  HK$'000 F&7T

Value-add tax recoverable AJ UL el (E R 7,834 9,201

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables %5 ~ T8 {7 7018 K E fth FE U 1B 105,741 132,153
Receivables from compensation of land TR E W ERIE (B 5E)

resumption (note) 96,791 228,698

Less: allowance for ECL B TEHREEEERE - -

210,366 370,052

The Group has assessed deposits and other receivables whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The
Group considers that there is no significant increase in credit risk of these
amounts since initial recognition and the Group provided impairment based
on 12-month ECL. As at 31 December 2024, deposits and other receivables
with gross amount of HK$118,104,000 (2023: HK$248,473,000) are without
significant increase in credit risk on which 12-month ECL of nil (2023: nil) were
recognised.

AEBEILREREMERREBEZZER
SEVERIUE R TEEL N - AEFTA
BEREBUKR  ZEREZEERRKILE
BERN MmAEBRBI2EEEHEES
BEH R B E R o FP2024F 128310 8% A
118,104,000 7T (20234 : 248,473,000 7T)
e REMEREIENEE R EHEY
MEER12E BB EEREAS (20234 !

) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Note:

The amount refers to the compensation receivable from the Local Government in
Jiangyin Fuhui. Compensation receivable of HK$128,930,000 was received from the
Local Government during the year ended 31 December 2024 and all of the remaining
compensation of HK$96,791,000 has been received on 2 January 2025. The Group
has assessed receivables from compensation of land resumption whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The Group considered
that no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition and
the Group provided impairment based on 12-month ECL. As at 31 December 2024,
such receivables with gross amount of HK$96,791,000 (2023: HK$228,698,000) are
without significant increase in credit risk on which 12-month ECL of nil (2023: nil) were
recognised.

22. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2024, restricted bank deposits of HK$1,726,000 (2023:
HK$1,897,000) mainly represented guaranteed deposits placed in the banks
in the Sri Lanka (2023: placed in the banks in the PRC and Sri Lanka) as
securities for the bank overdraft (2023: securities for the bills payables and
bank overdraft).

23. SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

Short-term bank deposits and bank balances, for the purpose of meeting the
Group’s short term cash commitment, carry market interest rates ranging from
0.01% to 5.30% (2023: 0.01% to 6.61%) per annum.

24. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

21. FAMTRRIE - R E R E Mt B TRIE

(&)

ez -

ZAIEISIREEERWEM BTN FE- - ZE2024
F12831HIEEE > B & #h BUF W E B R
128,930,000 75 » BB 72025F 1828 WEFR & &
BR 1 1896,791,00078 7T o 2 £ B B 5T FE UK £ 3t B U
HEZEERABBNEREIALURESTEEL Mo AE
ERA ZEREZEERBE VIR S
EZm - mAEEREI12ERSEREEHERER
B - 112024128310 » 48287/96,791,00078 7T
(20234 : 228,698,000 7T) WAEMEWHIEZEE
AP EEEEN B ERERER12ESEHES
E548 (20234 : ) o

22. ZRHIRITEMR

7220245128318 » Z R FIIR1TE 1,726,000
7t (20234 : 1,897,000/ 70) EBIEFMNHT
B FR1T (2023 : ERN B A HT 2 IR
17) 1ERIBITEZIRIF (20235  (FAZBREN
MIERIRITE IR B ERETEMRC

23. FEHRIRTT R R IRITAS R e IR &

TR AERZEPIREREMS » WEIRTT
FRBARTTAE RT3 N F0.01%E5.30% (2023
F 1 0.01%E6.61%) 2 HIBEFRHE o

24. EERFEHEEARIE

At 31 December At 31 December

®12831H 128318

2024 2023

HK$000 T#5;cr  HK$'000 F&7T

Trade payables EERENNRIE 494,187 533,243
Bills payables ERRENIE 68,357 118,328
562,544 651,571
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24. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (continued)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade and bills payables based on the
invoice dates, as at the end of the reporting period:

24. EXRFRELRIE (8
BERBEEAREREEAMRRERRN
PRESDITIT :

At 31 December At 31 December

#12H31H 128318

2024 2023

HK$000 T3t  HK$'000 FE7T

Within 1 month ENEER 346,916 430,215
1 to 2 months 122 H 122,921 135,777
2 to 3 months 2ZE3EH 40,917 30,212
Over 3 months 3@ LU E 51,790 55,367
562,544 651,571

All the bills payables of the Group were not yet due at the end of the reporting
period.

As at 31 December 2023, bills payables of HK$1,103,000 (2024: nil) were
secured by the Group’s restricted bank deposits of HK$221,000 (2024: nil).

The credit period on purchase of goods ranges from 30 days to 120 days.

REBEEHE 2EB A RBEEBARIESR
Z|HR -

R2023FE12831H » ZE E(TFIET,103,00078
70 (20244 © ) [hHAEE 2 ZRFBITER

221,000 75 (20244 : i) fEA iR

BENEERNFI0KREI20K

25. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25, HithERIEREER
At 31 December At 31 December
®12831H R12831H
2024 2023
HK$’000 F#T HK$'000 FE7T
Other payables Hth g wIa 155,281 109,551
Accruals FEstE R 113,210 180,411
268,491 289,962

26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The Group has recognised the following revenue-related contract liabilities:

26. S EE

FEBERSRUTRABBENER:

At 31 December

At 31 December

¥12831H ®12831H

2024 2023

HK$’000 F T HK$'000 F&7T

Contract liabilities =¥ o)=L 17,150 19,712




EEEE(RE)HReE  2024#E% 143
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26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

26. GHEE @

Movements in contract liabilities EHEENED
2024 2023
HK$'000 F#;r  HK$'000 FET
At 1 January ®1B1H 19,712 21,216
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of ~EENEREV T ABLHEEN
recognising revenue during the year that WAMERSHNEERLD
was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (19,641) (21,109)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of R EZEFANENREMERN
advanced consideration received from HHBEEM
customers 17,150 19,712
Currency realignment SN IR E E R (71) (107)
At 31 December (note 6) ®128318 (#1at6) 17,150 19,712

Contract liabilities included advances received to deliver dyed fabrics, yarns
and garments. In general, the Group receives certain percentage of the
contract sum as advance payment from the customers upon signing the sales
contracts.

27. LEASE LIABILITIES

Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee)

The Group leases a number of properties in the jurisdictions from which it
operates. The Group leases various factories, staff quarters, offices premises,
warehouse and machinery and equipment. Rental contracts are typically made
for fixed periods from 2 to 50 years for land and buildings and 2 years for
machinery. All rental contracts comprise only fixed payments over the lease
terms.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease
components based on their relative stand-alone prices.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

EHNEREEERINER W RMKTWERTE
B —RMEs AEEREZEHESNE
BEEWERENEENE TEDEEATARR
o

27. HE&E
MEEBZME (FREEN)

FEFRRNHEEZREMEHESEYE K
EEHEZEIR BEIES - MAEYE -2
BB LRt 25 Fe 5k ffs o TH & & 49 — AR IR B € F #A2
E50F (EMKRBREYME) K2 (Fii%a3Mm
B FIAEEESNEE N EERFY
EffmRe

BHNRESHEERIFEEMERE D AEER
BHERIFAEMEMRED 2 EHEBERL &
BNZANBREEEERIFEEHEME D -

HERLZEREEETERS BESZ2ED
BRI AR - HE HE A SRl R 2255 78
EBENSRFEERZIER-
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27. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee) (continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease.
If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases
in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:
e where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual
lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing

conditions since third party financing was received;

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted
for credit risk of lessee; and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency and

27. HE&FE (@)
HEEEIHE (FAEEAN) (@)

HERBENDERBAERS ZAXREH - MEX
HEBEZNE (Z!K$IZ$H‘EL”%‘§ZDJ&) » A
EAABEAZIEEERFE > BME HAB AR
BB RBRBEACURR B R EGHE
ABRREGERREEBENEEGZEEMEZE
TR A Z R

PHETEBEMAE  KER

o HEREEBR TERER ABALHREEZ
B=FRMEFAER > TAFHFAEURIR
BRRFFE =D MELERMERTZ 2 ;

. EARME HEREBAZGERRS
EEARHE ; &

s HHEMFHRFERAE NFH Hx 8%

security. ogii ik
Land and
Lease liabilities HeEa’ buildings Equipment Total
TR B EY R WwE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAET
At 1 January 2023 12023%F181H 142,953 49 143,002
Additions =N 2,202 540 2,742
Interest expense FMEZH 6,990 10 7,000
Lease payments HEHIE (83,759) (135) (33,888)
Effect on modification (note i) Bz 82 (B5#i) 8,228 - 8,228
Currency realignment SN B = RE (1,611) - (1,611)
At 31 December 2023 12023 12H31H 125,009 464 125,473
Additions 1 hn 7,794 - 7,794
Interest expense MEZH 6,124 11 6,135
Lease payments HEHIE (83,723) (115) (33,838)
Effect on modification (note j) Bz w2 (Bati) 31,199 - 31,199
Currency realignment SN IR ZER (2,891) - (2,891)
At 31 December 2024 12024F12831H 133,512 360 133,872
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27. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 27. HE&RF (@
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee) (continued) HEXHZ2ME (EAEEAN) (B
Note: HiaE -

()  Additions of right-of-use assets of approximately HK$41,630,000 (2023: (i

BE2024F12A31HIEFE REERRZ

HK9,809,000) and lease liabilities of HK$31,199,000 (2023: HK9,809,000) were By mmERIEINEREEEL41,630,000
recognised due to modification to lease terms while right-of-use assets of nil (2023: Bt (20234 : 9,809,000 7T REE&E
HK$804,000) and lease liabilities of nil (2023: HK$1,581,000) were derecognised 31,199,0007 7t (20234 : 9,809,000 7T) »
due to early termination of leases during the year ended 31 December 2024. The MEARAZILTAEMRITRBEEAREEAS
lease modifications are resulted in a gain on lease modification of HK$10,431,000 (20234 : 804,000787T) RHEE&EAZ (2023
(2023: HK$777,000). £ 11,581,000 7T) © A B 1S E £ A S ESK

#%10,431,0003% 75 (20234 : 777,000 7T) ©

1= =45

The analysis of the present value of future lease payments is as follows: FRIEMEMBZRBEDTUWT -

At 31 December

At 31 December

®12831H 128318
2024 2023
HK$’000 F % HK$'000 F &1
Current liabilities mENaE 22,350 26,239
Non-current liabilities EREEE 111,522 99,234
133,872 125,473
2024 2023
HK$'000 F#E7x  HK$'000 &
Short-term leases expenses FEHRMEES W 1,341 2,213
Aggregate undiscounted commitments RALIRAZHATA B R E 485
for short-term leases 33 38
Total cash outflows for leases which includes FAEIR&ME44%E (OHEINHEE
payments of principal and interest portion BENAES R EZS) &
of lease liabilities and short-term leases EHARE Y X
expenses 35,179 36,101

28. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING

28. RIEERRR —HBE QBN

SHAREHOLDERS/AN ASSOCIATE I8
(a) Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders (a) RIEEERAGERRIE
The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. BERTIEAEER REREERER
(b) Amount due to an associate (b) T—EHERTIFRIE
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable with agreed 30 to 180 75 BEIFRIE HE IR 2 B RZBI30E 180K B E

B2
days credit period. EEHEER

s
= °
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29. DEFERRED INCOME 29, IREWA
At 31 December At 31 December
®12831H ®12831H

2024 2023
HK$’000 F & T HK$'000 T BT

Arising from government grants (notes i and i) FREUF R BEFR E A (B 521 Rziii) 53,048 51,992
Arising from rental income (note i) TR & AR E £ (B EEi) 19,978 20,439
73,026 72,431

Current Vit 5,470 4,699

Non-current JERE 67,556 67,732

73,026 72,431

Notes: BiaE -

) In 2008, the Group received a government subsidy of HK$72,912,000 for the i)  F20084 > A& E B W —EEF 572,912,000
purchase of certain assets, which had been deferred to recognise as income over B ARBEETEE M SIEMAERK
the useful lives of the relevant assets upon the fulfilment of the relevant conditions. HEEREHMEEERFRRIAWA - AEER
The Group has no unfulfilled conditions attaching to the government grants. i 4 52 55 AT 488 B P B A5 B SRS R IR 1 o

i) In 2021, the Group received the rental income of HK$33,941,000 for the leasing of i)  HR2021FE  ZEBEBWHBE ZREEYEMNAE
three investment properties, which had been deferred to recognise as income over F U A33,941,000/8 75 EZFERROE 105 KL
the rental periods of 9 to 10 years. HRAUA

i) In 2022, the Group received a government subsidy of HK$832,000 for the i)  F*20224F > Z< £ & B Ug —IEE 7 4 §5832,00058
purchase of machinery, which had been deferred to recognise as income over the o AREEKSS MR ERERR G R
useful lives of the relevant assets upon the fulfillment of the relevant conditions. The EHEECRFHRIAWRA - AERTEZ
Group has no unfulfiled conditions attaching to the government grants. S5 I 48 i PIT B 855 B9 SRS AR AR 1 o
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30. BANK BORROWINGS

30. RITIRE

At 31 December At 31 December

128318 128318
2024 2023
HK$’000 F#E7T  HK$'000 &1
Unsecured borrowings: mITIMEE
Bank loans IRITER 48,795 154,435
Import bills loans EOREBEER - 45,122
48,795 199,557
Repayable as follows: BN THHABER .
On demand or within one year (note) EEREBEIIEAN W) 48,795 108,471
More than one year, but not exceeding 1FE L L ERBE2E
two years - 91,086
More than two year, but not exceeding 2FE L F{BRBESE
five years = -
48,795 199,557
Less: Amounts repayable on demand or BIARBBEREREERSR
due within one year shown under 1FEANEIHBRERE
current liabilities
— bank borrowings due within —1FREHANIRITEES
one year (48,795) (108,471)
Amounts due after one year 1EREIHAEEE - 91,086

Note: As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the current liabilities include all bank loans that
are scheduled to repay within one year.

The bank borrowings with carrying amount of HK$48,795,000 (2023:
HK$199,557,000), including bank loans (2023: bank loans and import bills
loans), of the Group are variable rate borrowings which carry interest at the
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (‘HIBOR”) plus a spread, ranging from
1.00% to 1.70% (2023: 0.70% to 2.15%) or Secured Overnight Financing Rate
(“SOFR”) plus a spread, ranging from 1.05% to 2.23% (2023: 0.70% to 1.80%)
per annum. The average effective interest rates of the bank borrowings of the
Group is 6.24% (20283: 5.99%) per annum. As at 31 December 2024, no bank
borrowings carry interest at fixed rates (2023: nil).

Pursuant to the Group’s banking facilities letters, the Group was required to
maintain a number of covenant ratios. During the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023, the Group had complied with all covenant ratios.

Kiz# . KR2024F K2023F12831H BB EEE
FrE B ERIEEEZRITER

AEERMEESLS,795,0008 75 (20234F
199,557,000/ 7t) WIRTTEE (BFERITERN
(2023F (RITBERKREOZRER) A7
EEE BEBRTBEERE (FBRITEE
FEL) M EBZENF1.00%E1.70% (20234 :
0.70%FE2.15%) A EERBRMEFNX (5
ERBRHBENE]) MEEENTF1.05%F
2.23% (20234 : 0.70%E1.80%) Z FEF| =5t
BoARERRTEEZ FHEBRENZEA6.24%
(20234 1 5.99%) °[A2024FE12831H » &
HEEEMNZETENIRITEE (20234 © ) o

RIEAEENRTRERG  NERBHETH
BIZRAIEE R o R EL E2024F & 2023F 12831 H
FFE - AEBEETHRERALLX-
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30. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s borrowings with the carrying amount
of HK$48,795,000 (2023: HK$154,435,000) are subject to the fulfilment of
covenants relating to the consolidated tangible net worth of the Group not
less than HK$2,500,000,000 and the consolidated total bank borrowings to
the consolidated tangible net worth not exceed 105% at any time throughout
the loan term. If the Group were to breach the covenants the drawn down
facilities would become payable on demand. The Group regularity monitors its
compliance with these covenants. Further details of the Group’s management
of liquidity risk are set out in note 37. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, none
of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities had been breached.

As at 31 December 2024, as the Group complied with the covenants that were
required to be met on or before 31 December 2024.

31. SHARE CAPITAL

At 31 December

30. IRITEE (B

1R20245F12831H » A% E AR 1B 448,795,000
T (20234 : 154,435,000 7T) RUE A
T AREEAR/DF2,500,000,00078 A 47 &
EREARMNEZE BAEREERBR FE
IRITEEMBERRSER FENLEEREBE
105% o M AR EEE & 3eE > FTiR NI BB A
JEEKEE AEBTHENEETZELE
HER - BAEEESERNES KN E—
H e IBEEH M EES7 0 120244 202312531
H #EEC iR E RN LEEE R

20245128310 » KEBE B ZSF 2024512
B31HE ZAIERBITHIREE -

31. ig7s

At 31 December

128318 128318
2024 2023
No. of shares HK$000  No. of shares HK$'000
Vg0t 4= F#ET B1HEH FET
Ordinary shares, issued and TERG BETAREE
fully paid
At beginning and at end RER R FEHL
of the year 1,225,026,960 889,810 1,225,026,960 889,810

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622), the ordinary shares of the Company do not have a par value.

32. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Ocean Lanka (Private) Limited, a 60% (2023: 60%) owned subsidiary of the
Company, has material non-controlling interests (“NCI”). The NCI of all other
subsidiaries that are not 100% owned by the Group are considered not to be
material.

IRIEB B R ERA (55622F) F£1351F > XA HE
NEERL EREEE

32. JFEEMREm

FAB R —ERBAREEEFE FA) ARA
SIEA60% (20234 : 60%) AR B ATELEN
1 (TR MR ) o WIFe AL EBEH100%
HEZAERMEARZIFERESRDA
TRER



32. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

Summarised financial information in relation to the NCI of Ocean Lanka (Private)

EEEE(RE)ARSE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

32. JFERRER ()
REBENBHEZ A BREEEE A B

Limited, before intra-group eliminations, is presented below: RABIIEERERNBEMBER 25T !
2024 2023
HK$'000 F#&7x  HK$'000 F#&T
For the year ended 31 December HE12A31HILLEE
Revenue I=E 5 928,303 817,443
Profit for the year BEERF 47,853 34,741
Other comprehensive expense Hth2ms (3,047) (910)
Total comprehensive income iﬁuﬁ 5 A8 R 44,806 33,831
Profit allocated to NCI DEEEIFFEREHNET 19,141 13,896
Other comprehensive (expense)/income DEEZIFERERNEMERT (B
allocated to NCI Wz (1,219) 365
For the year ended 31 December HE12A31HILLEE
Cash flows (used in)/from operating activites “3EIEH (FrA) /FriEMIRERE (28,791) 98,633
Cash flows used in investing activities KREBEEMANRERE (19,916) (20,721)
Cash flows used in financing activities nE,éfl,E BrrANIRERE (275) (47,328)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash EXEHHIRENERRSTBEENTZE
and cash equivalents (1,015) 253
Net cash (outflows)/inflows RBe Ofd) /THRAFEE (49,997) 30,837

At 31 December

At 31 December

#12831H R12831H

2024 2023

HK$'000 F#5c  HK$'000 F&E7T

Current assets MENEE 496,525 443,500
Non-current assets JERENEE 176,251 155,249
Current liabilities MEAEE (136,652) (121,662)
Non-current liabilities EREEE (45,035) (30,802)
Net assets BHEFE 491,089 446,285
Accumulated non-controlling interests RETIEERE SR 196,436 178,514

2024 % 149



150

Fountain Set (Holdings) Limited  Annual Report 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A MBRERMEE (B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

33. RESERVES 33. (#fE
The Group wE
The Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior HREBEXRFEERBETEEMNHERESLEHEY
years are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. RiFamEFH R
The Company b /N
Retained
earnings
BEREF
HK$'000 F#&7T
As 1 January 2023 22023FE1B1H 1,030,269
Profit for the year EEERF 5,262
As 31 December 2023 72023F12H31H 1,035,531
Loss for the year =FEBIE (33,496)
Dividend recognised as distribution BEERADIRZKE (36,751)

At 31 December 2024

2024F12531H 965,284
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34. HOLDING COMPANY’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

34. ZERAB ZMBKRERR

POSITION
At 31 December At 31 December
®12831H 12831H
2024 2023
Notes [z HK$'000 F#5x  HK$'000 F&T
Non-current assets ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment MENEBRRE 865 761
Right-of-use assets FREEE 351 581
Investments in subsidiaries B ABKE i 7,650 7,650
8,866 8,992
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other SEANE =R
receivables Hh WA 1,460 2,142
Amounts due from subsidiaries M B AB TR FRIA i 2,234,315 2,552,794
Bank balances and cash IRITEFRAIRE 81,266 158,525
2,317,041 2,713,461
Current liabilities mENAaE
Other payables and accruals HMEMRIER
FEStE 8,814 9,051
Lease liabilities — current portion HEaE-— RS 107 207
Amounts due to subsidiaries NI ENIES 8] i 461,640 787,475
470,561 796,753
Net current assets REBEERE 1,846,480 1,916,708
Total assets less current liabilities BEELERTHER 1,855,346 1,925,700
Non-current liabilities ERENEE
Lease liabilities — non-current portion HEaBs-IFEREHD 252 359
Net assets BEFE 1,855,094 1,925,341
Capital and reserves B K iEE
Share capital f& A 31 889,810 889,810
Reserves Egi] 33 965,284 1,035,531
Total equity HESAEE 1,855,094 1,925,341

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and authorised
for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 March 2025 and are signed on its

behalf by:

LIV Xianfu

FNEE
Director

EFE

S
g

YAU Hang Tat, Andrew

ERiEE
Director

EF

NEHBRARBN2025FE3A21HEBES
BRRZESR LR T EERREE !
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34. HOLDING COMPANY’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION (continued)

Notes:
()  As at 31 December 2024, investment in subsidiaries are carried at cost of

approximately HK$7,650,000 (2023 HK$7,650,000) less accumulated impairment
loss of nil (2023: nil).

(i)  The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand. The directors of the Company do not expect repayments from
subsidiaries within next twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

35. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023 are as follows:

34. ZERAB ZMBRRER (B

=2

() 7R2024F12B31H MBABKERNEANS
7,650,0003 7T (20234F : 7,650,000 7T) i R &t
FEBAE (2023F : B) Fl){E o

(i) PMBASMRRIERHERDRIEREL
W RRREERERE -AARDNEZHRAWE L
BN ER BREMEERRTZERRER

35. fIBARKE
2024512831 H KR2023F 12831 B AAT E
BB ATIRIEBNT ¢

Place/country of
incorporation/ Issued and fully Proportion of issued share
registration and paid share capital/ capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
BETR
EMML Bk BRMRE  FRIMBERTRE/
WEAE % g BXRE BiRAmtE TEXEH
Directly Indirectly
B# Rtk
% %
Dongguan Shatin Lake Side Textiles The PRC HK$307,500,000 - 95 Khnitting, dyeing, printing and sales
Printing & Dyeing Co., Ltd. (note b) of dyed fabrics
RRDHBRSHENEERAT (Web) HE 307,500,000 7 SR EEEHIHE RS
Fountain Set Limited Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 100 - Trading of dyed fabrics and yarns
RHBXERAT BE 3,000,000%7% BhEREYE
Highscene Limited Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 100 - Trading of yarns, dyestuffs and
chemicals
ERBRAT 5& 3,000,000/ 7 RO RBERES
Hiway Textiles Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Trading of garments
BREGBERAT 2 2ET RRES
Jiangyin Fuhui Textiles Limited (mote g) The PRC United States Dollar (‘USD’) = 100 Knitting, dyeing and sales of dyed
110,000,000 fabrics and yarns
IRBREGAERAT (Taa) HE 110,000,000% 7t (T%£7t)) HEFENHERTRED
Lake Side Printing Factory Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 - Investment holding
ERIEBRERAR X 2BT RERR
Ningbo Young Top Garments Co., Ltd. (ofe g/ The PRC USD10,000,000 - 555 Production and sales of garments
BREBRKRBERAE (Hia) "hE 10,000,000%7% RERBENK
Ocean Lanka (Private) Limited Democratic Socialist Sri Lanka Rupeg (‘LKR’) - 60  Khnitting, dyeing, printing and sales
Republic of Sri Lanka 985,000,000 of dyed fabrics
BER R @A) BRAR HEFFRINETSR 985,000,000 e EMEREERR

HME HEFREL (L)
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35. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

35. B ARKRE (&)

Place/country of
incorporation/ Issued and fully Proportion of issued share
registration and paid share capital/ capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
B&TR
ML B2k BRMRES/  FRFAMSEETRE/
WEAEAE BEmEN EX BikE BiRAmE TEER
Directly Indirectly
H# fitE
% %
Oceanstar Textiles International Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Trading of garments
BEHEERERAT &8 BT RRES
Ocean Yarn Dyeing Factory Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 - Investment holding
BEROBBERAT BE BT RERR
Prosperlink (Macao Commercial Offshore) Limited ~ Macao Macau Pataca 100,000 - 100 Trading of yarns, dyestuffs and
chemicals
B (EPIRREERE) ARAT il 100,0002F9 % RO REBLHES
Shanghai Fuhui Textiles Trading Co., Ltd. (rotea) ~ The PRC Renminbi (‘RMB’) 5,000,000 - 100 Trading of dyed fabrics
TEREGBERERAT (Wia) il AR (TAR)) 5,000,007 BHES
FNENGHERERAR (ote a) (Hta) The PRC RMB35,000,000 - 100 Trading of dyed fabrics
H AR #35,000,0007C BhES
FNENGEARBRAR hotea) (i7ta) The PRC RMB35,000,000 - 100 Trading of dyed fabrics
o B 35,000,00078 BHER
Sugian Young Top Garments Co., Ltd. (note g) The PRC USD800,000 - 555 Production and sales of garments
BEARNKTBERAT (H&a) e 800,000% T RERBENK
RREEENERABRAT ot g) (ita) The PRC RMB90,000,000 - 100 Heating supply
f AE#90,000,0007C Bt
Yancheng Fuhui Textiles Limited (note a) The PRC USD149,000,000 - 100 Knitting, dyeing and sales of dyed
fabrics and yarns
ERREGBBRAR (Ha) e 149,000,000 7 s FefHEaTRELY

Notes:

a. Companies are established as wholly foreign owned enterprise in the PRC.
b.  Companies are established as cooperative joint ventures in the PRC.

The above table includes the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, principally affected the results of the Group for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the assets and liabilities of the Group
at the end of the reporting period. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive
length.

Mt -

a. RABEMSINEBERERINAT -
b. RPBIUSELENSIFIINMIIAIAT

NERRBNMBABRDENREATDESTRR
HNAERRFEXEEEEFENEBNLE
ERREHRNEEREREEZRL DMK -
ARABEERAHINEMNBLARNFBES S
RRBER IR



154

Fountain Set (Holdings) Limited  Annual Report 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A MBRERMEE (B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 &, E£2024F 12831 H It F E

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able
to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall
strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include the
borrowings disclosed in note 30, and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on an on-going
basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with the share capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group may balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues
and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debts and the redemption of
existing debts.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total liabilities divided
by total capital. Total liabilities is calculated as current liabilities and non-current
liabilities. Capital includes equity attributable to owners of the Company. The
gearing ratio at the end of reporting period was as follows:

36. EAE R EE

AEEEREAZEN AN EREAEERRE
BRUFESE FAREENEEHEERZ

BNREFE SFNEFDNERALR - AEH

BURES RS R F —2 o

AEENEARBUEES (EREEMNES0
PRRBERIEE) R ABHEAE AEGED (815
BETRE KRR o

K’&ﬂ%%ﬂzﬁ%iﬂ—ﬂaﬁﬁﬁixﬁ B
& — CRRBEFEBERNAAARE
E%E%ﬁﬂl&%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@ﬂé%%b@ REEE
B BIRE R B~ BT IR KRB B R0 UKk 3
THEFRELDREEFUTFHHERZREE AR
o

rEECHEAGELEXR (RIS EAEZERUE
BX) BEHER - BEQENDRABEREKLIF
MBEEFE - EXBELRBER ABILE
moMBEMRNEABRLERNT !

At 31 December At 31 December

2024 2023
$12831H R12H31H

2024 2023

HK$’000 F#x  HK$'000 TE7T

Total liabilities =L EREL 1,158,845 1,432,173
Equity attributable to owners of the Company Z~AF#A A (G 3,237,589 3,268,346
Gearing ratio BEARBBIEE 35.8% 43.8%
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

37. €M TH
(a) ERIRER

At 31 December

At 31 December

¥12831H P12831H
2024 2023
HK$°000 T %77 HK$'000 T 7T
Financial assets ETRMEE
Financial assets measured at amortised cost Z# S ATENEHEE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BEREAERRSER) 2,217,374 2,437,458
Financial liabilities ETHaRE
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost Zi#$H At EMN SR EE 779,589 978,285

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The major financial instruments of the Group include trade and bills receivables,
deposits, other receivables, restricted and short-term bank deposits, bank
balances and cash, trade and bills payables, other payables, amounts due
to non-controlling shareholders, amount due to an associate and bank
borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on
a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
() Currency risk

Certain entities in the Group have foreign currency transactions, which expose
the Group to foreign currency risk.

The Group manages and monitors foreign exchange exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner. To
mitigate the risk of foreign currency, the Group manages the foreign currency
receivables, payables, bank balances and bank borrowings by performing
regular review. The Group will continue to assess if the use of the foreign
currency hedging strategy as appropriate in order to mitigate the foreign
currency risk.

(b) MAFEREERBRKRER

AEENTESH T AGFEEXARERBIR
BB E s HEWRIE R IRGIRIEHAIRITF
PORTEGRRRS EERRBERORIEH
A FRIE ~ RIFIE R IR R BIRRIE ~ R — R B
AENMERBTEE - RFEMITAZHE
EREENETRE - BZETRTEARN
REpaEmEER (E8ARKMNERER) E
BRBAREES AR - T X &5 AMUWFE
BRZERBENBRR EREEEKEEZER
B > DURE 1R B2 BRf A 8 S50 SR ENEE B $E T o

15

() EEER

FEBEERGEIERR  URERRFENA
R ERERE B o AR EINE AR AERE
8 E B 5T AB IR SN 2 FEGRRIE ~ FE AT RRIE
IRITHEBRAIRTTIEE A EEREENERES
EREEINESE PRSI EINE R o
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)

37. M T A (@)
(b) MBERAREEREREE @)
45 AR (1)

) EERE (&

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of foreign currency R IREHIR > EEEBRABE AN E RSN
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities of the Group that are  HEHEMNEEEEREBEEMNEEEN T !
considered significant by the management are as follows:
Monetary assets and monetary liabilities: EEERERARE
Assets Liabilities
BE &
At 31 December At 31 December At 31 December At 31 December
K12831H K12831H ®12831H R12831H
2024 2023 2024 2023
HK$'000 F#E7T  HK$000 FE7x  HK$000 F&ET  HK$000 F4E7T
usb E7T 975,930 818,019 116,715 158,000
RMB AR 390,915 583,677 455,441 404,816
Canadian Dollar (‘CAD’) oo (Tnszy) 34 515 - -
LKR Bt 28,636 61,361 - -
HK$ BT 5,527 1,014 13,606 13,961
Indonesian Rupiah (“IDR”) g (MenfEf&El) 198 117 - 1,810
Sensitivity analysis BREDWT

The Group is mainly exposed to the risk of fluctuation of USD, RMB, CAD, LKR
and HK$ when such currencies are different from the functional currency of the
relevant group entities.

The following table detail the sensitivity of the Group to a 5% increase and
decrease in the above foreign currencies against the functional currency of
the corresponding group entity, except for HK$ against USD since HK$ is
pegged to USD. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items at the year end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.
On this basis, there will be an increase/(a decrease) in pre-tax profit for the
year (2023: an increase/(a decrease) in pre-tax profit) where foreign currencies
strengthen against the functional currencies of the corresponding group entity
by 5%, and vice versa. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2023.

AEETEIRET ARE M ELERE
T (BERFEREERERERNIIEERT
[EHF) BB ED R KR o

TREFMEIAEREN EMIMNERERERE
RRINAEE A ES R ES%HSRE > AR AT
BAEITHNE > UL B TR ETIRIN 5% B MAE
EEEAERNI2MIMERRKREENESHIE
RO ES BT AR ANERELL R
BREDMERLRBRFEREREHF UINES
ENEREER  L5%NINEREHBEEH M
Ho-mILEE BB RERERBERIIES
BHES% BEERAENKEEM (AL
(2023%F : MAr@AIEM~ (L)) » RZIR
PR BRAD M TH 142023 F MH R B EET
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

Monetary assets and monetary liabilities:

37. &M T A (@
(b) MBEEAREEEERBE (B

(decrease) in
pre-tax profit

g E b (48
) B (&)
BRIE DT (B)
ERBEERG¥ERE:
At 31 December At 31 December
128318 M12831H
2024 2023
HK$'000 F#5;r  HK$'000 FET
Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) in
pre-tax profit

AR MRAT&RF

G &, GRlz

RMB against HK$ ARBERBT 3,226 8,943
CAD against HK$ mnTRAT 2 26
LKR against HK$ ELERET 1,432 3,068
4,660 12,037

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group is mainly exposed to cash flow interest rate risk primarily in relation
to variable-rate bank balances and borrowings. It is the Group’s policy to keep
its bank borrowings at floating rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value
interest rate risk. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of HIBOR or SOFR arising from the Group’s variable-rate
bank borrowings. In view of the frequent changes in market interest rate, the
Group shall monitor the interest rate fluctuation closely and arrange appropriate
financial instruments to minimise the interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to
interest rates for non-derivative instruments (included variable-rate borrowings
only as the directors of the Company consider the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank balances is not significant) at
31 December 2024 and 2023. The analysis is prepared assuming the amount
of liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period was outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 (31 December 2023: 50) basis points increase or
decrease in interest rate is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to
key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

(i) FEEEE

AEENREREN X AR EEZET BIRITE
HREEER AEBENBRIHEFHIRITE
BERFFMNRLUABEAFEENREAR &
EpReRENXREREIEETRAEAERY
BIRTEEELEZEBRTAEXFENERERF
[RARMENKKE BN HHRARES &K
EEERYEENRKE TR ENTR
TRBEF AR -

BRE D

THHHESMIRBIETETR EEEFFE
BE AARBAEERAIEBRTEGRELE S
BEREAER R AEKX) 120245 %2023
F1I2ATHWHMERRETE -BRESWHER
REPAREREENEBHETELAFEEAEE
NEAREENBREMER BEEEEAE
P EB 2 3RFZ A 2 TH 3R AS50(E (2023F128 31
H : 501@) ERpFARE KREEBHFIZESE
SIEEHNTG
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk(continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

For non-derivative bank borrowings, if interest rate had been 50 basis points
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s pre-tax
profit for the year would decrease/increase by HK$244,000 (31 December
2023: decrease/increase by HK$998,000).

As at 31 December 2024, certain borrowings of the Group are linked to
interbank offered rates which may be subject to interest rate benchmark
reform. The Group has closely monitored the market and the output from the
various industry working groups managing the transition to new benchmark
interest rates.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default on their
contractual obligations resulting in financial losses to the Group. As at 31
December 2024 and 2023, the maximum exposure to credit risk by the Group
without taking into account any collateral held or other credit enhancements,
which will cause a financial loss due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts of the recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to manage the credit risk, management of the Group has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. Credit sales of products are only made to customers with good
credit quality and repayment history. In addition, the Group regularly reviews
the recoverable amount of debt on both collective and individual basis to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
In response to the global economic uncertainty, management has also been
performing more frequent reviews of credit limits for customers in regions and
industries that are severely impacted. During the year ended 31 December
2024, a net impairment loss of HK$6,115,000 (31 December 2023: a net
reversal of impairment loss of HK$13,275,000) in respect of the trade and bills
receivables was recognised.

37. M T A (&)

(b) MBEKRERBRKREER (&)
iR ()

(i) FEREE (B
BREDH (@)

FIETTERITEEM S > M= L7 TS50
BEM MABHEMEHHEIFTAE AAEER
HNEEEZREIBRAIE R, 1EI0244,0007 7T
(2023FE12831H : R/ /1%10998,000% 7T) ©
R2024F12H31H  AEEETEEHDER
MERENEZEZIRTREFREH I RE
EEREYEEMBRZTETIENVAEERERE
EHEENEZRR

FEERE

EERRIEAERNSFHEREGHNEMEM
B AL FEE R 2 B b o 7220244 522023
F1I2B31H AEBRABFHREBITEEM
ERMHBANRSEERME CRe REME
BRERSIEMEERAEN ASEER
EMBRRARFEY ORI THEENERS
Ho

AEEGCEERR AEENEEBEZIK—4A
ANEBEETEERB EEBMHREMERE
BF UBEREIEETEWLDEBEB E
MIEEHERRETEAERIEEERREN
HEMNER oI AEBE THIRERKE
Bl B HE i & TE AV BT W [0l U8B » URB R h 8 0
R EIFEE(EL B H#IB R E B Kk - AESH 2 IR
BEAREEY BEEEBNTEHTIREXENM
BRTENERETEMBENEERESE
Bl o RELE2024F12831HIEFER  JLE %=
B 4% e W AR TE HE B8 R (B 18 5 7% 186,115,000
B0 (2023%F12H310 | HEEBLERLIFE
13,275,000 7T) ©



37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the following

categories

Category
bRl

Performing

R

Doubtful

RER

Default

i
i

Write-off

EEEE(RE)ARSE
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FEmE (&)

Description
i pan

For financial assets where there has low risk of default or has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition and that are not credit impaired (refer to
as Stage 1)

BHURBESBNTEIUREERBIREZENMERCEEAENEMEE BA
F—REE)

For financial assets where there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition but that are not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 2)

BYPRBUREERARBEEZENEEEERENERHEE BHE KR

Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that asset have occurred
(refer to as Stage 3)

E-ENZEHTMEENGHARKRESREET N ENEHELR  BRAEE
BT REERE BRE=RE)

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery

BEETNEFSAAREMBRE B AEEERIEIREE R

FEERITEERR

37. &M T A (@
(b) MBEEAREEEERBE (B

SHREZRBIE LU T 48R

Basis for

recognising

ECL

MR THHRE B IERIRIE

12-month ECL

128 R FRHIE ERBIE

Lifetime ECL — not credit
impaired

FRATEREERE—®
EERIE

Lifetime ECL — credit
impaired

FRAAHREEBHE-
EERE

Amount is written-off

WEE R IAE
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets, as well

37. M T A (@)
(b) MBERAREEREREE @)

FEmE (&)

TRREEERRNRFITERTHREERN

as the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating grades: EEEZEURAEREMARNESEERR :
Internal credit  12-month or Gross carrying Net carrying
2024 20245 Notes rating lifetime ECL amount Loss allowance amount
12(B A ERA
izt REEETHR REEEESR MEEE{E BEEE REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$000
FET FET FET
Trade recelvables EERNE 20 (Note) Lifetime ECL - not
credit impaired
(simplified approach) 744,337 (40,191) 704,146
(Mz) ERABHEERE-&
EERE (E1E7E)
Bllls receivables ZRRITE 20 Performing 12-month ECL 97,923 - 97,023
Rif 128 BHEEER
Deposits and other receivables BEREMEWE 21 Performing 12-month ECL 118,104 - 118,104
Rif 128 BHEEER
Restricted bank deposits SIRGIRITER 2 Performing 12-month ECL 1,726 - 1,726
Rif 128 BHEEER
Short-term bank deposits BERITER 28 Performing 12-month ECL 380,973 - 380,973
Rif 128 BHEEER
Bank balances and cash BOEBRRE 28 Performing 12-month ECL 914,502 - 914,502
Rif 128 BHEEER
2,257,565 (40,191) 2,217,374
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

37. &M T A (@
(b) MBEEAREEEERBE (B

Credit risk (continued) EERE (&
Internal credit 12-month or Gross carrying Net carrying
2023 20235 Notes rating lifetime ECL amount  Loss allowance amount
12EANERRA
3 REEETR BREEERE BEREME BEER REFE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
W TE7m TE1
Trade receivables BERIHE 20 (Note) Lifetime EGL - not credit
impaired (simplified
approach) 720,569 (35,139) 685,430
(h58) ERNBREESE-&
BERE B
Bills receivables ERENTE 20 Performing 2-month ECL 122,661 - 122,661
RiF ABABHEESSE
Deposits and other receivables EEREMENRIE 21 Performing 2-month ECL 248,473 - 248,473
RiF ABABHEESSE
Restricted bank deposits SREIRTER 2 Performing 2-month ECL 1,897 - 1,807
RiF ABABHEESSE
Short-term bank deposits BEEOET 23 Performing 2-month ECL 373,870 - 373,870
RiF ABABHEESSE
Bank balances and cash BOEHERS 23 Performing 2-month ECL 1,005,127 - 1,005,127
RiF ABABHEESSE
2,472,597 (35,139) 2,437,458
Note: Vo

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to
measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL on these
items by using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss experience
based on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted as appropriate to reflect current
conditions and estimates of future economic conditions. Accordingly, the credit risk
profile of these assets is presented based on their past due status in terms of the
provision matrix.

As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance based on past default
experience of the debtor, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtor and
the economic environment is not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.

MEEBWREMNS  AEEERRBEBHBTRE
EHBORBLERFRANBHEEBIEtEHIER
HoAERBZRTRARBEREEEXTEBNERE
iR BEEBABTERANBEEEHERE
EETT(EE WP B SR B URMRE AR R
RBER R AL ZFEENEERBHESIR
BREEHEERESBEEINREY]

AR AEENBEEEFRERTERBRIEZR
DENBEERNATHEER RIBE—FEOE
EETRZEFEREEBANBTEQLER  TIRE
BAREAEMER R R EHIRE T URENER
B e
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit
risk and ECLs for trade and bills receivables as at 31 December 2024 and

37. M T A (&)

FEmE (&)

(b) MBEAREEBEREEK (&)

TRIBMERAN ARERH2024F K2023F 12531
A EREERRFIEFEERNEERR A

2023: TEREEEIENER !
Gross carrying
2024 20245 Expected loss rate amount Loss allowance
TEHARSIE EE =R AHEREE ESiEHEE
(%) HK$’000 F#;xr HK$'000 F#7T
Not yet due KR E|ER 1.77% 710,040 12,581
Overdue 1-60 days #HA1-60K 2.08% 79,436 1,653
Overdue 61-365 days #1HA61-365% 43.05% 47,103 20,276
Overdue >365 days HIHAFB4B365K 100.00% 5,681 5,681
842,260 40,191
Gross carrying
2023 20234 Expected loss rate amount Loss allowance
TEHARSIALE X HERRE(E EIEEHE
(%)  HK$000 FET  HK$000 FET
Not yet due R EHA 1.68% 702,326 11,801
Overdue 1-60 days #HHA1-60K 1.93% 94,780 1,828
Overdue 61-365 days #1HB61-365K% 44.88% 44,659 20,045
Overdue >365 days A HA B 3A3656K 100.00% 1,465 1,465
843,230 35,139

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past 5 years.
These rates are adjusted to reflect differences between economic conditions B Z#E o 5%
during the period over which the historical data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected

lives of the receivables.

Ho

& R
Py

B RERDIZBESFEFNERBRERD
LHEEDLREE URRERERESE
HEBBEEER R BRI U R A ERY
FEWRR IR BY TR HA 4 H AR RS

M2 EBENE
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

37. &M T A (@
(b) MBEEAREEEERBE (B

Credit risk (continued) EERE (&
Movements in the loss allowance are as follows: EEEHE 2 EEHNT
2024 2023
HK$'000 F#E7T  HK$'000 FET
At 1 January R1A1H 35,139 52,109
Impairment loss recognised/(reversed) EEEL e NP A EE=ES
on trade and bills receivables, net KR (BE) FE 6,115 (13,275)
Amounts written off as uncollectible (&7~ B] Y [o] T #i #5 B9 & 28 (644) (3,324)
Currency realignment MR EER (419) (371)
At 31 December R12831H 40,191 35,139

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s trade and bills receivables included in the
loss allowance with an aggregate balance of HK$40,191,000 (31 December
2023: HK$35,139,000) was impaired. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

The following changes in the gross carrying amounts of trade and bills
receivables mainly contributed to the increase in the loss allowance:

— increase in lifetime expected credit loss after assessing existing or forecast
change in business, financial or economic conditions which may cause
deterioration in the operating results of the debtors.

Furthermore, the Company only provides financial guarantees to its subsidiaries
after a careful consideration of its subsidiaries’ financial conditions. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large
and unrelated.

1R20245 128318 > st A RE B G LGRS
40,191,000 7T (2023%F12H31H : 35,139,000
B NAREEXRRBREBUGRIBERE &
SR EARZFERT A EARRR

EERERRERERREEZUATEHTE
F P RS IR B A IR NPT 2R

— KA EEREBAZKEERESEZ
EB - WHBAKERRZIRENERES
BIBMERNARESEHE-

SN ZRABERBREBREMBASDNME
R E T A E M B A SR M B R o BLLLm
S AARERRAEAEANEEARKREANR
AR

EERRETERISHNEREREABEEER
o
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

For other non-trade related receivables, the Group has assessed whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The Group
considers that there is no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts
since initial recognition and the Group provided impairment based on 12-month
ECL.

The credit risk on liquid funds of the Group is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by reputable credit-
rating agencies.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which are deposited
with several banks with high credit ratings, the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk with exposure spread over a number of
counterparties.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. Management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures
compliance with the relevant loan covenants.

Other than equity, the Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant
source of liquidity. As at 31 December 2024, the available unutilised banking
facilities of the Group are approximately HK$1,341 million (31 December 2023:
HK$2,316 million).

37. M T A (@)
(b) MBEEBEERERBE (@
1S EE R ()

PEMIFE ZAMEWRIENS 7EH BT
HEERRBPBEBURESERER M+
EERHEPBREIBLR 2FEREZEER
fair mEAEIE N MAEBERE12EREHRE
BEEsHRREREE -

KEENRBHESEERRBEER  RHEFHIH
BEEENEETREBATEREETRIIE
170

BEBERNETEEEFRIBITIABES
ZEERBRERIN AEBTERHNEARER
SERE ARROBNZEHFTS-

REETmEE

REERBESRRE  rEETERRER
EEERARNKTNREREFRREIER
NENAERZEMRRABRERERIN
FE-EEHED ﬁ*?ﬁ?fﬁﬁ% SHYERIE N c T b
R8T EMEL

BRI REMBBRTEEBEATERY
BE AR N2024FE 128310 AEBER O H)
BEXRERRITEELEAA1,341,000,0008 70
(20235128318 : 2,316,000,0003 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for
their non-derivative financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms.
The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
the financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. To
the extent that interest is floating rates, the undiscounted amount is derived

from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

37. M T A (7
(b) MBEMEEBEREE (@)
HBEZ AR ()

TERFVREREEEGRRNAEEBRIFTESR
BEMNGNENIRBER  ZRDREERT
EERERTRNRFBRRBESREERIRRN
RREAERN ZREBANEREEZRER
BN ERAFHFRZIRER KRR
TSR ZARE -

Weighted Carrying
average  Less than Total  amount at
effective 1 month or 3 months undiscounted 31 December

2024 20245 interestrate  ondemand  1-3 months to 1 year 1-2 years 2-5years over5years cash flows 2024
1420245
migFEy  DfER RURREE  12A%1A
BRAE  FEEX  1EMEA SEREIE 1526 2555 BisE  REME  NREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FAET FAET FET FAET FAET FET
Non-derivative financial liabilities JE{T4 £ 506 &
Trade, bills and other payables EE EEREMENRE 519,679 105,103 76,575 - - - 701,357 701,357
Amounts due to non-controling ~ RIEERIREZIE
shareholders 23,040 - - - - - 23,040 23,040
Amount due to an associate T—EHEARRE 6,397 - - - - - 6,397 6,397
Bank borrowings RITEE
- variable rate - %8 6.24 259 492 49,453 - - - 50,204 48,795
549,375 105,595 126,028 - - - 780,998 779,589
The maturity analysis of lease HEaEEEA
liabilties are as below: ARWT .
Lease liabilties RERR 519 4,003 5,285 18,433 18,510 30,648 137,355 214,234 133,872
Total e 553,378 110,880 144,461 18,510 30,648 137,355 995,232 913,461
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

37. ﬁnEIE (/\\E)
(b) MBERAKEEBEREE (@&

Liquidity risk (continued) REEZEMRE (1)

Weighted Carrying
average Less than Total amount at
effective 1 month or 3 months undiscounted 31 December

2023 20235 interestrate ondemand  1-3 months to 1 year 1-2 years 2-5years overbyears  cash flows 2023
120235
mEwy  ORER KBRS 128318
BERZE  gEER  1ZER  EEEIE 1228 2555 BilsF  MEME  NERAEE
% HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FAET FET FET FET
Non-derivative financial liabilities 317 4£ £5i & &
Trade, bils and other payables &% ZEREMEMTE 437,443 195,089 108,185 - - - 735,717 735,717
Amounts due to non-controling R FFRIRREIE
shareholders 37,027 - - - - 37,027 37,027
Amount due to an associate T—EBEAER 5,984 - - - - 5984 5,084
Bank borrowings %E % g
- variable rate - %8 6.06 14,464 30,148 73,469 93,425 - - 211,506 199,657
494,918 225,237 176,654 93,425 - - 990,234 978,285
The maturity analysis of lease AEsEz A
liabiliies are as below: ARUT
Lease liabilities HEER 5.06 3,936 5,121 22,984 24,826 34,273 120,930 212,070 125,473
Total e 498,854 230,358 199,638 118,251 34,273 120,930 1,202,304 1,103,758
The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for non- ¥ EFE > S B RNNIRSHRAEEZ

derivative financial liabilities is subject to change if changes in variable interest
rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

(c) Fair value
Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Financial instruments not measured at fair value include restricted bank
deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and bills receivables, deposits
and other receivables, trade and bills payables, other payables, amounts
due to non-controlling shareholders, amount due to an associate and bank
borrowings.

Due to their short-term nature, the carrying value of restricted bank deposits,
cash and cash equivalents, trade and bills receivables, other receivables,
trade and bills payables, other payables, amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders and amount due to an associate approximates their fair value.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried at cost
or amortised cost are not materially different from their fair values as at 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

F R A5 ﬁ'JJ:?I?EMEZi‘n%EJEZ&%IE
ZERRRBE RPN E °

(c) AFEE
WHURFEEFEZZH TR

WIENATFEBEMAEZERM T EAEZRERIR
TEFRRERFRREER EERRERK
RIE B R B MEWNRIE B ERRRENR
TR~ HAMFE AT RUE ~ RIFER IR R RIR ~ R —fE]
BMEADNMBERBITES-

MR BEAME  ZRREBRITER - RERER
RELEE - EXRBEE WA H MBI
ENEERBBERMRIE S HMENRIE RIF

ERIRERN IEEZ)\ B A B RIEMAREE
BHATEBEES

REBILR AL S HA AT ENESRTENIER
E{E > B £ 120245128331 H &2023F 128
SIHMNAFBEITESEAER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
iR E MBS RRMTEE (R)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31

38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 38.

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Bank borrowings

Amounts due to
non-controlling
shareholders

DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831HILFE

MEREEENERZEHER

Lease liabilities

RIEVERG
RITEE BEBRFRIE HEAaR
(note 30) (note 28a) (note 27)
(H12£30) (Htzt28a) Bi5#27)
HK$'000 FEx  HK$'000 FEx  HK$000 FHET
At 1 January 2023 2202318518 436,248 37,027 143,002
Changes from cash flows: HWEmSEH
New bank borrowings raised MEEZIRITTEE 252,796 - -
Repayment of bank borrowings BBIRTEE (489,962) - -
Interest paid BEAHE (20,034) - -
Repayment of amounts due to non-  {&3E /X JEIERE RS RN IE
controlling shareholders - - -
Repayment of principal portion of the {EEEE&@/E 2 RS ED
lease liabilities - - (26,888)
Repayment of interest portion of the EBEEESEZF S5
lease liabilities - - (7,000)
Total changes from financing cash flow: B & IR & 7 £ S Bh48%E (257,200) - (33,888)
Other changes: H &) .
Interest expenses (note 7) MERX (W1a27) 19,258 - 7,000
Increase in lease liabilities from entering R RIT I HAA EMER 2
into new leases during the year HESEIEM - - 2,742
Effect of modification (CHIPA-%-1 - - 8,228
Currency realignment SN IR E R 1,251 - (1,611)
Total other changes Hih&gh&sst 20,509 - 16,359
At 31 December 2023 H42023512H31H 199,557 37,027 125,473
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38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (continued)

Bank borrowings

Amounts due to
non-controlling
shareholders

38. MEEBEENERZEHER (@

Lease liabilities

RIEPERG
RITEE BE R RIS HEaR
(note 30) (note 28a) (note 27)
(15£30) (Ht5#28a) (Htz#27)
HK$'000 &7  HK$'000 FExr  HK$'000 FET
At 31 December 2023 1£2023F12831H 199,557 37,027 125,473
Changes from cash flows: REnsEs .
New bank borrowings raised MEEZIRTEE 45,639 - -~
Repayment of bank borrowings BERTEE (196,619) - -
Interest paid BEAHE (6,966) - -
Repayment of amounts due to non-  1Ei& /K JE1%R% IG ER FIE
controlling shareholders - (13,987) -
Repayment of principal portion of the EEHEEEZAREIH
lease liabilities - - (27,703)
Repayment of interest portion of the (EEHAE&EZMBIHH
lease liabilities - - (6,135)
Total changes from financing MERSREEBELE
cash flow: (157,946) (13,987) (33,838)
Other changes: HhEs) .
Interest expenses (note 7) MEREZ W5E7) 6,991 - 6,135
Increase in lease liabilities from entering AERNFT U FHHEEMER 2
into new leases during the year HEaEEm - - 7,794
Effect of modification (CEIPa-% - - 31,199
Currency realignment MBI ZRR 193 - (2,891)
Total other changes HtE &5t 7,184 - 42,237
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 48,795 23,040 133,872
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831H L F E

39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

39. B KIE

At 31 December At 31 December

12A31H 7128318
2024 2023
HK$’000 F#E7x  HK$'000 T &1
Capital expenditure contracted for but not HEEBYE -MBRNRERBACESEY
provided in the consolidated financial EBEREEVERERRBIEHEE
statements in respect of acquisition of BEARME
property, plant and equipment 29,538 86,721

40. OPERATING LEASES
As lessor

Gross rental income earned from investment properties of the Group during the
year was approximately HK$12,415,000 (2023: HK$15,076,000). The related
outgoings amounted to HK$1,373,000 (2023: HK$1,374,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with tenants, in
respect of rented premises, for the following future minimum lease receipts.

40. EEHE

EAHAA

REREERN AEERMKREMEFMBEENMA
W ALEELNA12,415,0008 75 (20234 .

15,076,000/ 7T) ° B R H 41,373,000 ¢
(20234F : 1,374,000 7T) ©

REBESHE AEBEBRUEEYEEITN
ARRRBEEWRANT -

At 31 December At 31 December

®12A831H 128318

2024 2023

HK$'000 F#E7xT  HK$'000 FET

Within one year 1FR 10,590 8,209
In the second to fifth year inclusive FBOEEFESEN (BEEEME) 24,125 14,100
Over five years S5FEM E 8,627 9,432
43,342 31,741
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41. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution scheme registered under the
Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and a
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for all the eligible employees
of the Group in Hong Kong. The assets of both schemes are held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the control of trustees. The retirement
benefits cost charged to the profit or loss represents the contributions payable
to the funds by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.

Employees of the Group in other jurisdictions currently participate in state-
sponsored pension scheme or defined contribution schemes operated by
the Government of such jurisdictions. The Group is required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll to the schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the schemes is to make the required
contributions.

During both years, there was no significant forfeited contribution, which arose
upon employees leaving the retirement benefits schemes, available to reduce
the contribution payable in the future years.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions, amounting to HK$63,012,000
(2023: HK$58,151,000) have been charged to profit or loss for the year and
included in employee costs as set out in note 9(c).

42. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES DISCLOSURES
(a) Related party balances

Details of the Group’s outstanding balances with related parties are set out in
the consolidated statement of financial position and in note 28.

(b) Related party transactions

During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions with related

parties:

Related party

41. RIREF| TS
AEBRRBR RN ERPIEMBR L —IEE
BmHETE (RERREED) RIBEREIER
BE T BRAIRII—ERGIME A BT S (8
BESE)) FTRECERNAEREEBES
EMESENEENBINAEREELRE
EANEE - EIREATRAERKRBR BLAT &
ERRBFBMELLRABNEMNEZHR

FEBHEMBEME N ESFIESEZFEM
& BT & BB SR IR @ A 5t B S E R R
Beo-rEEAREEHFMNETADLEHRT
ZESHAERBIEZ AEREZFE
W—EEREAEFH AR

RmEEE  FHEESRHRKEFE MR
BYMH R B K 0 W RRIE I B AR R 40 R R 2R 4
EBIEM R

EREEEAEEANRIERER stEIHR
£ %8 463,012,00078 75 (20234 : 58,151,0007
70) W E st AMIEEIC)FF & > B B R A< o

42. RN R RAE AN LRI E

(a) BAEEATEOREER

7 8 [ SRR M A RO K BB AR BRI
EEFIRR R R 528 o

(b) BBALZSE
REEFERARKATET TS

Name of related party relationship Nature of transaction 2024 2023

RAE AT 2TE BRAE A THIRAR RHmtE HK$'000 F#&x  HK$'000 F&E7T

REMBEKBERAR Associate Sewage expenses 29,021 19,407
BE A E] TEKERIEE

None of the related party transactions disclosed above constituted connected
transaction or continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

EHR R B A TR Z WA ER L HRAIE
AABPRAE 2 FER Z U ERER S ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31

42. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES DISCLOSURES  42.

(continued)

ARG AT ERARMEE (8)

DECEMBER 2024 & £2024F12831HILFE

Rk R EAN TR E (8

(c) Connected party transactions (c) FAEALRS
Name of connected party Nature of transactions 2024 2023
FEALTHE XFHEE HK$’000 F#E7x  HK$'000 FE1
The FM Group (hote i) Sale of fabrics, yarns and similar items 344,672 267,389
FMER (#75ti) EBmL B RELWE
The AH Group (note ii) Sale of fabrics, yarns and similar items 311,088 153,153
AHEE B (H75Ei) EEmE - M REBLUME
Chinatex Group (note i) Purchase of yarns, cotton and other materials 9,523 10,013
for the manufacture of fabric, garments and
cooking oil and foodstuffs
rRAREE R (0 3ii) REEM A ~ tTE R 4 E ARV R A4 piAk
MUEiEHE @
Huafu Group (note iv) Purchase of cotton yarn, cotton blended yarn, - -
top dyed melange yarn and other yarn products
EZEME (fativ) PRI~ 1R B4 A R H A ZE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREEFTT
COFCO Finance (note v) Maximum daily balance of deposits placed by the 155,000 155,000

g (Watv)

Notes:

Group
rERERNRSEBERER

Wiz

(0

The Company and Mr. Feroz Omar (“Mr. Omar”) entered into a renewed FM Master
Sales Agreement (the “2024 FM Master Sales Agreement”) regarding the sales of
fabrics, yarns and similar items by the Group to the FM Group on 16 December
2021. Mr. Omar is a director and substantial shareholder of a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company and hence a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. The FM Group comprises companies which Mr. Omar and his
associates and relatives individually or together exercise or control the exercise of
more than 50% of the voting power at general meetings or control the composition
of a majority of the board of directors. Accordingly, members of the FM Group are
associates of Mr. Omar and hence connected persons of the Company under the
Listing Rules. The transactions contemplated under the 2024 FM Master Sales
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The 2024 FM Master Sales Agreement is for a term commencing from 1 January
2022 to 31 December 2024 (both days inclusive).

AT EAFeroz Omarfc 4 (TOmarfe 4 1) 522021
F12F16A M EBMBEFMER HEMRE - L4
R ABTE B s T IS B EFMABIN & 1758 (120244
FMAZSS &) cOmarde £ AR AT —RIIER
BB AR EERTERE  RIE LHRE)
WRARNBDZEEALT - FMEBRZREATE
JEHOMart E R EBBA T RBB A EZEA
BIMIAR BB A LR B o B M AT B I 4T
FRFEU LR RERIEHZEATNEEY
AKEOHMENAT  HIL FMEBEZRE AT
AZOmarfc E 2 BB AL miRE EHiRE
FMEEAARAT ZEEAL-RELTRAE
14AE ' 2024 FFMBIHEHREBE M RETZX
SIERAAT 2 IFERERS -

2024EEFMAR Y & 17358 ~ EEHEFR20224E1 B 1 HEE
E2024F12831H I (BEEEMRX) °
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42. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES DISCLOSURES

(continued)

(c) Connected party transactions (continued)

Notes: (continued)

U

(continued)

The annual cap amounts for the three financial years ended 31 December 2022,
2023 and 2024 under the 2024 FM Master Sales Agreement are HK$450,000,000,
HK$450,000,000 and HK$450,000,000 respectively as set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 16 December 2021.

The extent of these connected transactions did not exceed the annual cap
of HK$450,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 as set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 16 December 2021.

The Company and Mr. Omar entered into a renewed FM Master Sales Agreement
(the “2027 FM Master Sales Agreement”) regarding the sales of fabrics, yarns
and similar items by the Group to the FM Group on 20 December 2024. The
2027 FM Master Sales Agreement is for a term commencing from 1 January
2025 to 31 December 2027 (both days inclusive). The annual cap amounts for
the three financial years ending 31 December 2025, 2026 and 2027 under the
2027 FM Master Sales Agreement are HK$500,000,000, HK$550,000,000 and
HK$550,000,000 respectively as set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 20 December 2024.

The Company and Mr. Anil Kumar Lalchand Hirdaramani (“‘Mr. Hirdaramani”)
entered into a renewed AH Master Sales Agreement (the “2024 AH Master
Sales Agreement”) regarding the sales of fabrics, yarns and similar items by the
Group to the AH Group on 16 December 2021. Mr. Hirdaramani is a director and
substantial shareholder of a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and
hence a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. The AH Group
comprises companies which Mr. Hirdaramani and his associates and relatives
individually or together exercise or control the exercise of more than 50% of the
voting power at general meetings or control the composition of a majority of the
board of directors. Accordingly, members of the AH Group are associates of Mr.
Hirdaramani and hence connected persons of the Company under the Listing
Rules. The transactions contemplated under the 2024 AH Master Sales Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

The 2024 AH Master Sales Agreement is for a term commencing from 1 January
2022 to 31 December 2024 (both days inclusive).

The annual cap amounts for the three financial years ended 31 December 2022,
2023 and 2024 under the 2024 AH Master Sales Agreement are HK$450,000,000,
HK$450,000,000 and HK$450,000,000 respectively as set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 16 December 2021.

42. AR AEALTHNRE (&)

(c) BEALRS (&)
ez - ()

0

(&

HMMAABBEA2021FE12816BZA S
Fra» 2024 FFMARIE EHZE N B 220245
12AHLE=ZEBMBREENEELRESE Y
Bl 2450,000,0007 7T ~ 450,000,000 7T &
450,000,000 7T ©

ZEMBRZ W EBBART HIR20215F12
B16B 2 ASEMMEE £2024F12831HIEFE
2 FE FFR450,000,00054 7T ©

A B ElOmarst 4 2024412 B 20 B it A £ H
BFMEB L ERE - T4 RELUEE T L4
BEFMARSS E 58 (T 2027 FEFMARSS £ 35)) ©
2027 FEFMAR S & 1758 ~ EEHF 20251 B 1 H B
F2027F12831HIE (BEEEMK) c#HulA
NBHHIA2024F 128208 2 A S Fr#E > 2027
FEFMAE Y & 1752 I B = 20254F ~ 20264F %2027
F12HA3IHIE=ZEVHBREENEE LIRS
2 Bl A500,000,0007 7t ~ 550,000,000 7T Kz
550,000,000 7T

AT EAANIl Kumar Lalchand Hirdaramanidc 4
(THirdaramanifc 4 1) 722021512816 FL A&
EBMHAHEBHERR KA RELUEET
IR B EARMRIE E i (T 2024 FAHAEIH & 17
%) oHirdaramanift £ A4 AT —BIE2EK
BABZESRFTERT RIELHRI KA
KABZBAEALT AHERZ B AT EIER
Hirdaramanifc & R HBME A Tt RBEBIEZE
NEIREAG _EE R ok T F) #4176 R T HI1T
FREHULNRRE AT ZEATNES
FRBORENAE AL AHEBZRER
B] AHirdaramanifc 4 2 Bt A+ tim Bk £
A AHEB AKX AT ZBEEAL - RIELH
FRBE14AE » 2024 FAHMR S E 17518 TR IE
FZRBEREABDZIFERERS -

2024FEAHLESH E 158 2 EEHBFR20224E1 B 1 HE
F2024F 128310 L (BEEEMRX) °

MUNA A B HEAA2021F12816HZ AR
H > 2024 F AHAR I & 173 55 11 B 220224 ~ 2023
FR2024F12A31H L =AM BEENEE £
PR < %8 93 A1) #3450,000,0007 7T ~ 450,000,0007%
78 %450,000,0007 7T ©
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42. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES DISCLOSURES

(continued)

(c) Connected party transactions (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i

(i)

(continued)

The extent of these connected transactions did not exceed the annual cap
of HK$450,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 as set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 16 December 2021.

The Company and Mr. Siddarth Hirdaramani (“Mr. S. Hirdaramani”) entered into a
renewed AH Master Sales Agreement (the “2027 AH Master Sales Agreement”)
regarding the sales of fabrics, yarns and similar items by the Group to the AH
Group on 20 December 2024. Mr. S. Hirdaramani is a director and substantial
shareholder of a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and hence a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. The AH Group
comprises companies which Mr. S. Hirdaramani and his associates and relatives
individually or together exercise or control the exercise of more than 50% of the
voting power at general meetings or control the composition of a majority of the
board of directors. Accordingly, members of the AH Group are associates of Mr.
S. Hirdaramani and hence connected persons of the Company under the Listing
Rules. The transactions contemplated under the 2027 AH Master Sales Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

The 2027 AH Master Sales Agreement is for a term commencing from 1 January
2025 to 31 December 2027 (both days inclusive).

The annual cap amounts for the three financial years ending 31 December 2025,
2026 and 2027 under the 2027 AH Master Sales Agreement are HK$450,000,000,
HK$450,000,000 and HK$450,000,000 respectively as set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 20 December 2024.

The Company and Chinatex Corporation Limited (“Chinatex”) entered into a
renewed Material Purchase Framework Agreement (the “2024 Material Purchase
Framework Agreement”) in relation to the purchase of yarn, cotton, other materials
for the manufacture of fabric, garments, whereas cooking oil and foodstuffs for the
provision of meals to the employees by the Group from the Chinatex Group (i.e.
Chinatex and its subsidiaries) on 16 December 2021. The Company and Chinatex
entered into a supplemental Agreement (the “2024 Material Purchase Framework
Supplemental Agreement”) in relation to the revision of the existing annual cap on
15 May 2023. Chinatex is a controlling shareholder of the Company and hence a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, members
of the Chinatex Group are associates of Chinatex and hence connected persons
of the Company under the Listing Rules. The transactions contemplated under the
2024 Material Purchase Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The 2024 Material Purchase Framework Agreement is for a term commencing from
1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024 (both days inclusive).
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42. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES DISCLOSURES

(continued)

(c) Connected party transactions (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i)

(v)

(continued)

The annual cap amounts for the three financial years ended 31 December 2022,
2023 and 2024 under the 2024 Material Purchase Framework Supplemental
Agreement are HK$63,000,000, HK$363,000,000 and HK$363,000,000
respectively as set out in the announcement of the Company dated 15 May 2023.

The extent of these connected transactions did not exceed the annual cap
of HK$363,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 as set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 15 May 2023.

The Company and Chinatex entered into a renewed Material Purchase Framework
Agreement (the “2027 Material Purchase Framework Agreement”) in relation to the
purchase of the textile raw materials and other materials for the manufacture of
textile products and rental of office space to the Group from the Chinatex Group
(i.e. Chinatex and its subsidiaries) on 20 December 2024. The 2027 Material
Purchase Framework Agreement is for a term commencing from 1 January 2025
to 31 December 2027 (both days inclusive). The annual cap amounts for the
three financial years ending 31 December 2025, 2026 and 2027 under the 2027
Material Purchase Framework Agreement are HK$35,000,000, HK$35,000,000
and HK$35,000,000 respectively as set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 20 December 2024. The annual cap amounts for the 2027 Material Purchase
Framework Agreement only apply to the purchase of textile raw materials and other
materials related to the production of fabrics and garments as set out in the further
announcement of the Company dated 3 January 2025.

The Company and Huafu Holding Co., Ltd. (‘Huafu Holding”) and its subsidiaries
(“Huafu Group”) entered into a purchase framework agreement (the “2025
Purchase Framework Agreement”) on 13 December 2022. Pursuant to the 2025
Purchase Framework Agreement, Huafu Holding agreed to, or procures its
subsidiaries to, supply cotton yarn, cotton blended yarn, top dyed melange yarn
and other yarn products that may be needed for the Group. The cotton yarn,
cotton blended yarn, top dyed melange yarn and other yarn products that may be
needed to be purchased by the Group will be used for the manufacture of textile
products of the Group.

As Hong Kong Tin Shing Trading Limited (“Tin Shing”), a company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability and a wholly owned subsidiary of Huafu Holding,
completed the acquisition of 16.33% of the total number of issued Shares of the
Company on 1 November 2019, Tin Shing has become a substantial Shareholder
and a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Huafu Holding,
as the holding company of Tin Shing, is an associate of Tin Shing and, therefore, is
a connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The transactions contemplated under the 2025 Purchase Framework Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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42. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES DISCLOSURES

(continued)

(c) Connected party transactions (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iv)

(continued)

The 2025 Purchase Framework Agreement is for a term commencing from 1
January 2023 to 31 December 2025 (both days inclusive).

The annual cap amounts for the three financial years ended 31 December 2024
and the financial year ending 31 December 2025 under the 2025 Purchase
Framework Agreement are HK$40,000,000, HK$40,000,000 and HK$40,000,000
respectively as set out in the announcement of the Company dated 13 December
2022.

The extent of these connected transactions did not exceed the annual cap
of HK$40,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 as set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 13 December 2022.

The Company and COFCO Finance Company Limited (“COFCO Finance”) entered
into a finance services agreement (the “Financial Services Agreement”) on 14 July
2022. The Company and COFCO Finance entered into a Supplemental Agreement
(the “Financial Services Supplemental Agreement”) in relation to the revision of
the existing annual cap on 15 May 2023. Pursuant to the Financial Services
Agreement, COFCO Finance agreed to provide deposit services, comprehensive
loan services and other financial services to the Group. As COFCO Finance is
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company’s ultimate parent, COFCO
Corporation, and hence COFCO Finance is a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

The transactions contemplated under the Financial Services Agreement constitute
continuing connected transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The Financial Services Agreement is for a term commencing from 14 July 2022 to
13 July 2025 (both days inclusive).

The maximum daily balance of deposits (including accrued interests) placed by
the Group pursuant to the Financial Services Agreement is RMB155 million or its
equivalent on any day throughout the term of the Financial Services Supplemental
Agreement and the maximum fees payable by the Group for the other financial
services pursuant to the Financial Services Agreement is HK$500,000 or its
equivalent on an annual basis as set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 15 May 2023.

The extent of these connected transactions did not exceed the maximum daily
balance of deposits of RMB155 million or its equivalent on any day throughout the
year ended 31 December 2024 and the maximum services fees payable on annual
basis of HK$500,000 or equivalent as set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 15 May 2023.
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42. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(d) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during
the year was as follows:
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HK$'000 F#&x  HK$000 &

Fees BwE 1,050 1,050
Short-term benefits s HAE A 7,416 7,241
Post-employment benefits BHERET 201 189
Discretionary bonuses MBS - -
8,667 8,480

The remunerations of directors and key management are decided by the
Board and reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

(e) Transactions with other state-owned entities in the PRC

The Group operates in an economic environment currently predominated
by enterprises directly or indirectly owned, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by the PRC government (collectively the “state-owned entities”). The
Company’s directors consider that state-owned entities are independent third
parties so far as the Group’s business transactions with them are concerned.

During the year, the Group had transactions with other state-owned entities
including, but not limited to, the sales of finished goods, purchases of raw
materials/utilities and transactions with state-owned banks.

The sales of finished goods and purchase of raw materials/utilities to
these state-owned entities are individually not significant. In addition, the
Group’s bank balances (including short-term bank deposits and restricted
bank deposits) and bank borrowings of HK$948,583,000 and nil (2023:
HK$837,931,000 and HK$21,284,000) respectively are placed/arranged with
state-owned banks as at 31 December 2024.
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Listing . Listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
since 20 April 1988
Stock Code . 420
Board Lot 2,000 shares
Shares Issued 1,225,026,960
(as at 31 December 2024)

Financial Calendar

Financial year end 31 December 2024

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
ARERE

2024 interim results announced
2024 annual results announced
Register of members closed for

23 August 2024
21 March 2025
3 — 6 June 2025

o © EB1988F4820H L
REBHMEXSZMBRAT
FikEm
BB 1LaR T 420
BEE 2,0000%
BT 1,225,026,960
(B E2024%E12831H)
M#EBE
BB E S 20244 12831H
2024 HAZEA N 2024488 23H
2024 F EEBAE N 2025%3H21H
RDEEELUETE 2025FE6H3HE

determining the right to attend and
vote at Annual General Meeting

Annual General Meeting

Register of members closed for
determining the entitlement to the
proposed final dividend
and special dividend

Distribution of final dividend and special
dividend

2025 interim results to be announced

6 June 2025
17 =19 June 2025

on or about 30 June 2025
Late August 2025

Shareholder Services

For enquiries about share transfer and registration,
change of correspondence address, etc.,
please contact the Company’s share registrar:
Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited
Room 2103B, 21/F.

148 Electric Road, North Point
Hong Kong

Tel: +852 2153 1688

Fax: +852 3020 5058

Investor Relations

Ms. Charmaine CHENG
Company Secretary and
Deputy General Manager
Corporate Governance Department of the Group
Block A, 6/F., Eastern Sea Industrial Building
29-39 Kwai Cheong Road, Kwai Chung
New Territories, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 3478 6267
Email: pr@fshl.com
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